# Emerging remote sensing technologies and population genetic analyses for chimpanzee conservation in Tanzania

Noémie Bonnin

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Liverpool John Moores University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

November 2020



## Contents

Abstract.	Abstract5				
Declarati	Declaration7				
Acknowl	Acknowledgements				
Author c	Author contributions				
List of ab	List of abbreviations and notations1				
Chapter	1: General introduction	.15			
	Significance	.15			
	Chimpanzee conservation in Tanzania	.16			
	Emerging remote sensing technologies for wildlife monitoring	.20			
	Population genetics for wildlife conservation	.23			
	Thesis outline	.25			
Chapter 2	2: Assessment of Chimpanzee Nest Detectability in Drone-Acquired	27			
images		.27			
	Adstract	.28			
		.29			
	2.2. Materials and Methods	.32			
	2.3. Results	.37			
	2.4. Discussion	.42			
	2.5. Conclusions	.48			
	Acknowledgments	.48			
	Supplementary Materials	.50			
Chapter : in Tanzai	3: Modelling landscape connectivity change for chimpanzee conservati nia	on .52			
	Abstract	.53			
	3.1. Introduction	.54			
	3.2. Methods	.56			
	3.3. Results	.62			
	3.4. Discussion	.64			
	Acknowledgments	.71			
	Supplementary Materials	.72			
Chapter -	4: Genetic diversity and population structure of Tanzanian chimpanzee	es .85			
	Abstract	.86			
	1. Introduction	.87			

2. Materials and Methods	89
3. Results	95
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusion	
Acknowledgments	
Supplementary Materials	107
Chapter 5: General conclusion	
Findings overview	114
Conservation implications	116
Research perspectives	118
Glossary	
Reference	126

#### Abstract

Chimpanzees are declining at a rate of up to 6.5% per year in some parts of Africa due to human impacts. Effective conservation relies on accurate and reliable information on population density, distribution and connectivity. Yet, traditional line transect surveys are costly to conduct over large areas and particularly at sufficiently regular intervals to determine trends in abundance. Moreover, they often fail to identify critical areas for animal movement. Given the vast landscape across which chimpanzees are found, we need new methods that are time and cost efficient while providing precise and accurate data across broad spatial scales. This thesis explores the potential of multiple remote sensing technologies along with molecular methods to provide critical information on population distribution, density and connectivity across broad spatial and temporal scales. My research first investigated the potential of drones for chimpanzee population surveys in Tanzania. More specifically, I evaluated drone performance in detecting chimpanzee nests by comparing ground and aerial surveys in the Issa valley, western Tanzania. I found ground and aerial nest numbers to be correlated, with an average of 10% of nests observed from the ground detectable from the air. Although I highlight challenges in using drones for chimpanzee surveys, the study provides guidance for future investigations and emphasises the importance of contrasting background and high-resolution images. Next, using satellite imagery from 1973 and 2018 and a landcover projection for 2027, I model landscape connectivity change for chimpanzees within the Greater Mahale Ecosystem (GME), an area containing nearly all of Tanzanian's chimpanzees. The model reveals a series of corridors allowing chimpanzee movement throughout the ecosystem, as well as a reduction of connectivity over time likely to continue through 2027. By identifying critical areas for chimpanzee movement, the model provides valuable guidance on where to focus conservation efforts. Finally, using two molecular markers (mitochondrial control region sequences and 10 microsatellite loci), I describe population structure and genetic diversity of Tanzania's chimpanzees. My analyses confirm historical gene flow between Gombe National Park (GNP) and the GME but also suggest complete

interruption of chimpanzee movements between the two areas in recent years. Both genetic markers suggest high genetic diversity with no evidence of inbreeding and a greater mitochondrial DNA diversity within GNP. This surprising result might be explained by potential gene flow with extra-park chimpanzees and evidence of Gombe females preference for genetically dissimilar mates. Results of this study resolve previous contrasting findings on connectivity between GNP and the GME and support the establishment of two conservation units. Together, these chapters demonstrate the diversity of non-invasive technologies that can be applied, not only to help chimpanzee conservation, but also any large-bodied species facing accelerated rates of anthropogenic disturbance.

## Declaration

I declare that that no portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning.

#### Acknowledgements

First, I want to thank my supervisors, Serge Wich and Alex Piel, without whom this project would have never been possible. I will be forever grateful for the opportunity you have given me, for your support and guidance but also for your patience and understanding. It has been a long and tumultuous journey, but you have shown endless patience, offering your advice and help at all stages. My warmest thanks also to Fiona Stewart who was an amazing supervisor during my masters project and has offered tremendous support and guidance during the PhD. I am eternally grateful to her and Alex for giving me the extraordinary opportunity to study wild chimpanzees in the little paradise they created in Issa, for providing me a home when I needed it, for welcoming my family in Cambridge and for their kindness and cheerfulness in all circumstances.

The data analysed in this study were collected from surveys across western Tanzania. This work was led by the Greater Mahale Ecosystem Research and Conservation Project (GMERC) and would not have been possible without the permission and support from several organisations. I am grateful to the Tanzanian Wildlife Research Institute (TAWIRI) and the Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH) for permission to carry out scientific research in Tanzania, and to the Kigoma and Mpanda District governments for permission and support to work in their areas. The Arcus Foundation, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service, the Nature Conservancy, Frankfurt Zoological Society, and the Jane Goodall Institute provided substantial financial, logistical, and administrative support.

Numerous people participated over the duration of the surveys. Thank you to Alex, Fiona, Sebastian, Adrienne, Becki, Richard, Matthew, Albert, Alikado, Ally, Amos, Ashadadu, Baraka, Chachuad, Churchwad, Gabriel, James, Jonas, Jumanne, Moses, Patrick, Rama, Seth, Shabani, Shida and Sood. To all of you and anyone I have accidentally omitted, thank you for making this work possible. A special thanks to Mashaka Alimas, Godfrey Stephano, Hussen Juma and Adrienne Chitayat with who I shared 3 months collecting data in the remote and wonderful landscape of western Tanzania. Although walking those transects was physically demanding and our camp facilities were basic, I loved every moment of this magic experience, thanks to you.

The drone work was conducted in the Issa Valley, the GMERC long-term field site. Once again, thank you to all the GMERC team who contributed to this work: Mashaka Alimas, Jonas Bukende, Adrienne Chitayat, Patrick Hassan, Mlela Juma, Shedrack Lucas, Msigwa Rashid, Godfrey Stephano, EdenWondra and Elizabeth Yarwood. I am extremely grateful for their warm welcome, wonderful company and hard work. Thank you for sharing your knowledge, your culture, and your laughs with me.

I am also extremely grateful to Beatrice Hahn for providing all the faecal collection supplies and giving me the opportunity to conduct the DNA extraction, amplification and sequencing in her laboratory at the University of Pennsylvania. Thank you to all the lab members for welcoming me in the department and for the technical support. Jasmin Giles and Alexa N. Avitto for their warm welcome and teaching me all the lab techniques. Fred Bibollet-Ruche for offering his advice, expert knowledge and enjoyable lunch breaks. A huge thanks to Jesse Connell, for his patience solving all my bio-informatic problems. I would never have been able to make it back from the United States without the precious help of George Anthony, Kara Rennert and Erika Carrillo. Thank you from the bottom of my heart for all that you have done for me.

Many other people contributed to this thesis by offering valuable help, advice, and assistance. Thank you to Jeff Kerby who patiently taught me how to fly a drone. Luca Nelli offered precious help on suitability modelling. James Waterman for patiently answering all my questions about linear models. I am also extremely grateful to Richard Brown, Begona Martinez Cruz and Gareth Weedall for their valuable advice on the population genetic analyses.

To all members of room 646 at LJMU, for their company, advice, encouragement, and support. A special thank you to Ineke Knot, Camille Guiliano and Anne-Sophie Crunchant. Thank you for your support, brainstorming sessions, manuscript feedbacks and for being amazing colleagues, friends and housemates. This thesis would probably never have been completed without the help and encouragement of Joe Bellis. Thank you for your suitability modelling assistance, brainstorming sessions, chapter proofreading, for believing in me and for all the happiness you bring into my life.

Finally, I thank my family for all their love and support. My little brother for always standing by my side in the difficult moments, my dad for always providing me with everything I needed, and my mum for always believing in me and giving me the strength to pursue my dreams.

## Author contributions

Chapter 1	
N. Bonnin	Writing - Original Draft, Writing - review & editing
S.A. Wich	Writing - review & editing
A.K. Piel	Writing - review & editing
Chapter 2	
N. Bonnin	Data collection (Drone and ground surveys, September 2016, in the Issa Valley, Western Tanzania), Formal analysis, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - review & editing
A.C. Van Andel	Conceptualisation, Data collection (Drone and ground surveys, May 2015, in the Issa Valley, Western Tanzania), Writing - review & editing
J.T. Kerby	Conceptualisation, Data collection (Drone and ground surveys, May 2015, in the Issa Valley, Western Tanzania), Writing - review & editing
A.K. Piel	Conceptualisation, Data collection (Ground survey, May 2015, in the Issa Valley, Western Tanzania), Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Project administration, Funding acquisition
L. Pintea	Funding acquisition, Writing - review & editing
S.A. Wich	Conceptualisation, Data collection (Drone surveys, May 2015, in the Issa Valley, Western Tanzania), Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition
Chapter 3	
N. Bonnin	Conceptualisation, Data collection (Ground survey, April – June 2017, across the GME), Formal analysis, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - review & editing
F.A. Stewart	Data collection (Ground survey, 2008 - 2014, across the GME), Writing - review & editing, Project administration
S.A. Wich	Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing, Supervision
L. Pintea	Methodology (created the landcovers), Formal analysis,
	Writing - review & editing
S.M. Jantz	Methodology (created the canopy cover layer for 2000), Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing - review & editing
R. Dickson	Methodology (created the deforestation prediction layer), Writing - review & editing
J. Bellis	Methodology (provided habitat suitability modelling R codes), Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing
A. Chitayat	Data collection (Ground survey, 2017 – 2020, across the GME)
R. Ingram	Data collection (Ground survey, June – August 2018, across the GME)
R.J. Moore	Data collection (Ground survey, May – July 2018, across the GME)
A.K. Piel	Data collection (Ground survey, 2008 - 2014, across the GME), Data Curation, Writing - review & editing, Project administration, Funding acquisition

Chapter 4	
N. Bonnin	Conceptualisation, Data collection (Ground survey, April – June 2017, across the GME), Laboratory work (DNA extraction and amplification from GME samples, July – December 2018, in Beatrice Hahn Laboratory at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA), Formal analysis, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - review & editing
A.K. Piel	Data collection (Ground survey, 2008 - 2014, across the GME), Writing - review & editing, Supervision
R.P. Brown	Conceptualisation, Writing - review & editing, Supervision
J. Giles	Laboratory work (DNA extraction and amplification from GNP samples, 2017-2019, in Beatrice Hahn Laboratory at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA)
A.N. Avitto	Laboratory work (DNA extraction and amplification from GNP samples, 2017-2019, in Beatrice Hahn Laboratory at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA)
M. Gundlapally Laboratory work (DNA extraction and amplification from GME samp 2017 – February 2018, in Beatrice Hahn Laboratory at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, USA)	
A.J. Connell	Software (Chiimp software development), Data Curation (organized and integrated all genetic data from GNP samples)
Y. Li	Data curation (organized and integrated all genetic data from GNP samples)
B. Hahn	Resources (provision of laboratory supplies), Project administration (laboratory director)
P.M. Sharp	Writing - review & editing
D.C. Mjungu	Project administrator (Director of Gombe Stream Research Centre, overseed the collection, storage, and shipment of GNP samples)
J. Raphael	Project administrator (ran the Gombe Ecosystem Health Project, overseeing the collection, storage, and shipment of GNP samples)
I. Lipende	Project administrator (ran the Gombe Ecosystem Health Project, overseeing the collection, storage, and shipment of GNP samples)
D. Mwacha	Project administrator (ran the Gombe Ecosystem Health Project overseeing the collection, storage, and shipment of GNP samples)
M.L. Wilson	Project administrator (former Director of Field Research at Gombe), Writing - review & editing
E.V. Lonsdorf	Project administrator (overseed the collection, storage, and shipment of GNP samples)
E.E. Wroblewski	Writing - review & editing
A.E. Pusey	Data curation (organized and integrated all data collected in GNP)
A. Chitayat	Data collection (Ground survey, 2017 – 2020, across the GME)
S.A. Wich	Writing - review & editing, Supervision
F.A. Stewart	Conceptualisation, Data collection (Ground survey, 2008 - 2014, across the GME), Writing - review & editing, Supervision
Chapter 5	

\_

N. Bonnin	Writing - Original Draft, Writing - review & editing
S.A. Wich	Writing - review & editing
A.K. Piel	Writing - review & editing

## List of abbreviations and notations

AGL	Above Ground Level
AMOVA	Analysis of Molecular Variance
APM	ArduPilot Mega
Ar	Allelic Richness
AUC	Area Under the Curve
CARTA	Center for Academic Research and Training in Anthropogeny
COSTECH	Commission for Science and Technology
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
Fst	Fixation index
F'st	Standardized FST
Fis	Inbreeding coefficient
GBM	Generalised Boosted Models
GCP	Ground Control Point
GEDI	Global Ecosystem Dynamics Investigation
GLAD	Global Land Analysis and Discovery
GLM	Generalized Linear Models
GME	Greater Mahale Ecosystem
GMERC	Greater Mahale Ecosyststem Research and Conservation
GNP	Gombe National Park
GPS	Global Positioning System
GSA	Ground Sampling Area
GSD	Ground Sampling Distance
h	Haplotype diversity
He	Expected heterozygosity
Ho	Observed heterozygosity
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium
IUCN	International Union for Conservation of Nature
JGI	Jane Goodall Institute
LD	Linkage disequilibrium
LiDAR	Light Detection and Ranging
LJMU	Liverpool John Moores University
LPDAAC	Land Process Distributed Active Archive Center
MAXENT	Maximum Entropy distribution modeling
MMNP	Mahale Mountains National Park
MODIS	Moderate-Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer
MPD	Mean Pairwise sequence Difference
mtDNA	Mitochondrial DNA

MUE	Masito-Ugalla Ecosystem
Na	Microsatellite number of alleles
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NIR	Near Infra-Red
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
REDD	Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation
RF	Random Forests
RGB	Red, Green, Blue - standard visual spectrum
SD	Standard deviation
SIV	Simian Immunodeficiency Virus
SNP	Single Nucleotide Repeat
SRTM	Shuttle Radar Topographic Mission
SWIR	shortwave infrared
TAWIRI	Tanzanian Wildlife Research Institute
TIR	Thermal Infrared
TSS	True Skill Statistic
UAV	Unmanned Aircraft Vehicles
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
VCF	Vegetation Continuous Fields
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor
π	Nucleotide diversity
φST	FST analogous for molecular sequence data

## Chapter 1: General introduction

#### Significance

Primates are important to tropical biodiversity, providing critical ecosystem functions and services (Estrada et al., 2017; Redmond and Goodall, 2008). As our closest living biological relatives, primates also offer insights into human evolution, biology, and behaviour. However, most primate populations are declining in numbers and ~60% of primate species are now under threat of extinction (Estrada et al., 2017). Habitat loss, degradation and fragmentation are the main causes of their decline along with hunting, anthropogenic diseases and climate change (Wich and Marshall, 2016). Global social and economic systems are changing rapidly, increasing global demand for natural resources. As a result, deforestation is occurring at an unprecedented rate (Hansen et al., 2013). This extensive forest loss represents a major threat to primates, which face subsequent challenges to adapt and respond to novel rates, types and scales of disturbance (Haddad et al., 2015). There is an urgent need to preserve the remaining populations and mediate species loss. To establish where and how many individuals remain and understand the potential *connectivity* between populations is a crucial first step to develop management plans. With this information, conservation planners can establish baseline estimates for prioritizing areas and assess effectiveness of their efforts over time (Nichols and Williams, 2006; Plumptre and Cox, 2006). Traditional ground surveys are a critical initial method to monitor ecosystems, however, they are costly in time and money across large spatial and temporal scales (Plumptre, 2000).

Integrating various emerging and established remote sensing technologies such as satellites and drones greatly increases the spatial and temporal scales over which an ecosystem can be surveyed and threats to be identified and potentially mitigated (Marvin et al., 2016). Besides remote sensing data, molecular tools are another fast-evolving technology able to provide a wide range of information across large spatial and temporal scale (Frankham et al., 2011). The DNA extracted from non-invasive samples (e.g. dung) provides scientists with detailed information about population demography, genetic variability and gene flow, without the need of capturing, disturbing or even seeing the individuals (Goossens and Bruford, 2009).

By integrating multiple remote sensing technologies and population genetic analyses, this thesis not only provides critical information on where to focus conservation effort to protect and preserve a viable large population of chimpanzees, but also demonstrate the potential of integrating technologies and methodologies for biodiversity conservation at broader scale.

#### Chimpanzee conservation in Tanzania

Chimpanzees, our closest living biological relatives, are classified as either Endangered (Nigeria-Cameroon chimpanzees *P. t. ellioti,* central chimpanzees *P. t.* troglodytes, and eastern chimpanzees P. t. schweinfurthii) or Critically Endangered (Western Chimpanzees *P. t. verus*) by the International Union for Conservation of Nature due to their declining populations across Africa (Humle et al., 2016). Tanzania represents the eastern and southern limit of their distribution (Figure 1.1) and hosts two of the longest studies of their behaviour: Gombe National Park (GNP), where Dr. Jane Goodall pioneered research on the species in 1960 (Goodall, 1968) and Mahale Mountains National Park (MMNP), where Dr. Toshisada Nishida established a permanent field station in 1965 (Nishida, 2011). Both study sites led to ground-breaking discoveries on chimpanzee behaviour and influenced the creation of the two national parks protecting wild chimpanzees in Tanzania. However, several surveys have now revealed that most (~75%) of Tanzanian chimpanzees are found outside national parks with the majority (~1 500) inhabiting the Greater Mahale Ecosystem (GME) (Kano et al. 1999; Yoshikawa et al. 2008; Plumptre et al. 2010; Nakamura et al. 2013; Piel and Stewart 2014, Figure 1.1b). This mosaic ecosystem, dominated by miombo-woodland interspersed with riparian forest, offers important diversity of resources for chimpanzees and is one of the driest places where they occur (Moore, 1992). As a result, they exhibit unique patterns not otherwise seen in forest-dwelling populations. For example,

they are found at extremely low density (Kano et al., 1999; Moore and Vigilant, 2014; Piel and Stewart, 2014; Yoshikawa et al., 2008) and have large home ranges (Moore and Vigilant 2014; Piel and Stewart, unpublished data). Given the environmental similarity between this savanna landscape and reconstructions of hominin habitats, western Tanzania offer an insight into human evolution (Moore, 1992). Moreover, a recent study has shown that chimpanzees exhibit greater behavioural diversity in environments with more pronounced seasonality (such as savannah woodland habitats) (Kalan et al., 2020). With chimpanzee behavioural diversity currently threatened by increasing human pressure (Kühl et al., 2019) and the GME falling at the extreme end of the species habitat continuum (van Leeuwen et al., 2020), the importance of protecting GME chimpanzees cannot be overstated.

It is in the context of informing models of human evolution that Kyoto University African Primate Expedition (KUAPE) organised the first chimpanzee survey across Tanzania in 1961. About halfway between Gombe and Mahale, Kabogo station was established in the aim of studying chimpanzees living in an habitat similar to that in which early hominids evolved (Azuma and Toyoshima, 1961). Kabogo station was moved in 1963 to three additional camps (Kasakati, Filabanga and Kasoje), with the latest remaining as MMNP's long-term research site (Nishida, 2011). Kano led the first extensive survey across western Tanzania from 1965 to 1967 and noted the presence of chimpanzees all along the shore of Lake Tanganyika, with the Ugalla river representing the eastern limit and Wansisi mountains the southern limit of their distribution (Kano, 1972, 1971) (Figure 1.1c).





In 1997, more that 25 years after Kano's first survey, another population of chimpanzees was reported further south, in the Lwazi river river basin (Ogawa, 1997). Later suveys confirmed the presence of large chimpanzee populations outside protected areas but also stressed the major human demographic changes and their threat to chimpanzee survival in Tanzania (Massawe 1992; Moyer et al. 2006; Yoshikawa et al. 2008; Ogawa et al. 2013; Piel and Stewart 2014; Piel et al. 2015). A major political event, the Ujamaa village resettlement scheme of the mid 1970s, had a significant impact on forest and woodland cover. This reform program shifted over five million small farmers and hunter-gathers from their scattered homesteads into nucleated settlements and collective farms. Although reducing human population in some remote habitats, population concentration has lead to heavy pressure on surrounding miombo woodland, increasing deforestation and habitat degradation (Massawe, E, 1992; McCall, 1985; Pintea et al., 2011). Tanzania has also received a large number of refugees from neighboring countries. Nearly 1.3 million people from Rwanda, Burundi, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC) sought refuge in western Tanzania between 1993 and 1998 (Whitaker, 2002). It is likely that the establishment of the refugee settlements and sudden increase in human population density has increased the pressure on chimpanzees through poaching (most newcomers not sharing the Tanzanian traditional taboo against eating primates) and increased conversion of land for agriculture (Jambiya et al., 2007; Ogawa et al., 2013, 2006a, 2006b; Whitaker, 1999).

Although historical events have played a role in the decline of Tanzanian chimpanzee populations, suitable habitat continues to decline and still represents the primary threat to the species persistance in the country (Davenport et al., 2010; Moyer et al., 2006; Piel et al., 2015a; Piel and Stewart, 2014; Plumptre et al., 2010). To protect the remaining chimpanzees, the Tanzanian governement, together with conservation organizations, and local stakeholders have developped a national conservation action plan for the species (Lasch et al., 2011; TAWIRI, 2018). The document identifies threats to chimpanzees in the country along with strategies necessary to counter these threats. Human activities such as agriculture, infrastructure and settlement development, logging and charcoal production, livestock keeping and mining, have been recognized as the leading threats to chimpanzees and their habitat. As part of the overall conservation strategy, the plan emphasised the needs of conducting regular and systematic chimpanzee surveys. This baseline information is necessary to implement the additional steps toward conservation progress: development of district land use framework plans, expansion / establishment of protected areas, reduction of human-chimpanzee conflict through and reduction of chimpanzee habitat loss. Given the sheer scale of chimpanzee distribution across western Tanzania (>20,000 km<sup>2</sup>), we need new

methods that are time and cost efficient while providing precise and accurate data across broad spatial scales.

#### Emerging remote sensing technologies for wildlife monitoring

Collecting baseline information on population distribution, abundance and trend is a vital first step for effective conservation. Not only are these data important for identifying priority areas under local threat and developing conservation management strategies (e.g. Nichols and Williams 2006; Plumptre and Cox 2006), but they also enable direct assessment of the effectiveness of conservation measures (e.g. Tranquilli et al. 2012; Akçakaya et al. 2018). There are several established methods for monitoring wild primate populations. Line transect surveys are widely used to estimate population density for a variety of mammal species, including great apes (e.g. Buckland et al., 2001; Piel et al., 2015a; Silveira et al., 2003; Stokes et al., 2010; Wich and Marshall, 2016). In these surveys, animal densities are estimated from counting direct or indirect signs of the animal presence. Given the elusive nature of great apes, scientists have traditionally relied on nests count (e.g. Kouakou et al., 2009; Spehar et al., 2010). To convert nest density to animal density, the nest decay rate and nest production rate are required. However, these factors require extensive studies as they vary considerably in time and space (Spehar et al., 2010) and thus are site-specific. Across large spatial and temporal scales, traditional line transect surveys are costly in time and for these reasons, geographically wide surveys are not repeated frequently (Kühl et al., 2009). Along with ground deployed technology such as passive acoustic monitoring (PAM) and camera trapping (CT) (Crunchant et al., 2020), emerging remote sensing technologies can help increase the spatial and temporal scales over which wildlife populations can be surveyed and monitored, especially when used in combination (Marvin et al., 2016).

#### Manned planes and helicopters

Manned planes and helicopters pioneered wildlife monitoring from *remote sensing platforms*<sup>1</sup> and have been widely used by conservationists to obtain data on animal distribution and density (Wang et al., 2019). For instance, light aircraft have been used to assess the abundance of African wildlife since the mid-1950s (Jachmann, 2002) and five decades of aerial surveys provided important insights into changes in marine megafauna populations on the western pacific ocean (Martin et al., 2016). Helicopters have also been used to estimate orangutan density through aerial nest count (Ancrenaz et al., 2005). Detection of animals (or their signs) is either performed in real time by trained observers (e.g. Stoner et al., 2007) or using on-board cameras to collect aerial imagery (e.g. Descamps et al., 2011). While such surveys can greatly increase the spatial and temporal scales of wildlife surveys, they are expensive to implement and are of high risk for the operators (i.e. crashes) (Sasse, 2003).

#### **Unmanned Aircraft Vehicles (UAV)**

Unmanned Aircraft Vehicles (hereafter referred to as Drones) are rapidly gaining popularity as a powerful tool for wildlife monitoring (Chabot and Bird, 2015). These remotely operated aircrafts with pre-programmed flight capabilities offer the ability to collect rapid high-resolution data across moderate to broad spatial scales. Originally used for military applications, the use of drones has now widely spread across wildlife conservation applications including landcover mapping, anti-poaching efforts and wildlife monitoring (Wich, 2015). Several drone systems are available, and their different designs offer operational advantages. *Fixed-wing drone* models offer relatively long flight endurance (up to 1h30) allowing the coverage of larger areas but are limited by needing landing sites (e.g. large open areas). *Multirotor drones* have shorter flight time capacities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Throughout the thesis, bold italics indicate terms that are described in the Glossary

but can fly at lower altitudes and can be controlled in a more precise manner (Anderson and Gaston, 2013). Because some commercially produced systems remain cost prohibitive for conservationists, Koh and Wich (2012) were one of the firsts to develop a low-cost alternative to commercially available drones. Assembled from off the shelf components, these systems also offer much greater flexibility in terms of the sensors they can carry. Numerous types of sensors are available, and their numbers are expanding rapidly (Toth and Jóźków, 2016). In conservation research, drones are commonly equipped with RGB (Red, Green, Blue) cameras but recently, Multispectral, Hyperspectral, Thermal and Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR) cameras have also been deployed and successfully used to detect animals and map vegetation (Wich and Koh, 2018). A common challenge in drone-based wildlife survey is the amount of data they produce (e.g. thousands of images) and the associated time to analyse them (Chabot and Bird, 2015). With the development of computer vision algorithms, scientists have recently been able to detect animals automatically, saving hours of tedious images examination (e.g. Gonzalez et al., 2016; Seymour et al., 2017).

#### Satellites

Satellite remote sensing platforms offer freely available images across most regions of the planet. Dating back to 1972, when the first non-military satellite program (Lansdat-1) was launched by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), satellites offer the longest continuous global record of the Earth's surface (NASA, 2020). Such data have allowed consistent monitoring of worldwide forests (Hansen et al., 2013) and represent an unprecedented tool for conservation decision support (Rose et al., 2015). Continuously updated variables derived from satellite remote sensing can also be used to refine habitat suitability models for near real-time monitoring (Jantz et al., 2016). More than just monitoring wildlife habitat, satellite imagery can be used to detect animals or their signs. Löffler and Margules (1980) first demonstrated the feasibility of using Landsat-1 data to detect hairy-nosed wombat (*Lasiorhinus latifrons*) colonies. With the improvement of spatial resolution, it is now possible to detect a wide variety of animals ranging from birds (e.g. Fretwell et al., 2012) to mammals (e.g. Yang et al., 2014). However satellite images are hampered by atmospheric interference from clouds (Yang et al., 2014) and very high-resolution images (less than a meter resolution) necessary to detect small species also remain expensive (ranging from US \$14.50-17.50 per km<sup>2</sup> depending on exact bands required (LLC 2020)).

Although any one of these methods has limitations (e.g. limited drone flying time, cloud cover hampering satellite images), together they can work as a powerful ensemble to address key questions for species conservation.

#### Population genetics for wildlife conservation

Besides remote sensing data, molecular information extracted from noninvasive samples (such as dung, hair, urine or extracts from discarded food items) represent another powerful tool to remotely monitor wildlife distribution and abundance, without the need of seeing the animals (Arandjelovic and Vigilant, 2018; Schwartz et al., 2007; Vigilant and Guschanski, 2009). Compared to the methods described above, only genetic markers provide an evolutionary context (Schwartz et al., 2007). The observed genetic signature reported by genetic diversity has enabled researchers to estimate the sizes of ancestral populations and date drastic population decline (e.g Okello et al., 2008). These data help to determine the role that historical events have played and are important for understanding long-term population viability. Indeed, population persistence is highly dependent on genetic mixing from migrating individuals (Young and Clarke, 2000). This not only avoids *inbreeding* and fixation of *deleterious alleles*, but also increases the *adaptive potential* of a population (Crooks and Sanjayan, 2006).

The importance of applying genetic principles for nature conservation was first described by Otto Frankel and Michael Soulé (1981). These authors highlighted the long-term impact of *inbreeding depression* on population persistence (i.e. the reduced reproduction and survival of offspring from related parents) and urged the need to preserve genetic diversity. However, the contribution of genetic factors to species extinction was controversial and was generally considered minor (DeSalle, 2005; DeSalle and Amato, 2004). It was not until more recently that conservation genetics was recognised as an integral part of the field of conservation biology (Frankham et al., 2002). The use of genetic theory and techniques to reduce the risk of extinction in threatened species is now widely applied among conservationists and its applications keep expanding (DeSalle and Amato, 2004).

Advances in molecular marker technologies have played an important role in the development of conservation genetics. The first major advance was in the 1960s with the development of allozyme electrophoresis (i.e. separating proteins in an electrical potential gradient and subsequently visualising them using a locusspecific histochemical stain). As the first method allowing the direct measure of genetic diversity in natural populations, the technique quickly became widespread (e.g. Avise, 1974; Lewontin and Hubby, 1966). However, it required capturing or killing individuals to extract their blood; additionally, proteins evolve relatively slowly, hence were not suitable to study small populations of endangered species (Bertorelle et al., 2009). A latter breakthrough revolutionized population genetics: the PCR, or Polymerase Chain Reaction. With DNA fragments amplified millions of times, only a minute amount of DNA is needed to conduct genetic analyses (Mullis et al., 1986). This technique not only enabled genetic monitoring from noninvasive samples (usually containing low amount of DNA) (Frankham et al., 2004) but also facilitated the development of a wide range of genetic markers (e.g. Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD); Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP); mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA); minisatellite and microsatellite repeats, single nucleotide polymorphic markers (SNP's); see Avise (2012) for an extensive review).

These molecular markers represent a powerful tool to gather precise information for wildlife conservation such as population abundance (e.g. Solberg et al. 2006; Gray et al. 2013; Moore and Vigilant 2014; Arandjelovic and Vigilant 2018), demographic history (e.g. Okello et al. 2008; Pilot et al. 2014; Stoffel et al. 2018), population structure and gene flow (e.g. Wang et al. 2017; McCarthy et al. 2018; Hendricks et al. 2020), detecting hybridization (e.g. Gottelli et al. 1994; Rhymer and Simberloff 1996; Oliveira et al. 2008) and defining management unit (e.g. Moritz 1994; Liu et al. 2007; Hurt et al. 2017).

#### Thesis outline

In this dissertation, I apply two remote sensing technologies (drones and satellite imagery) as well as population genetic analyses to investigate chimpanzee distribution and connectivity across western Tanzania.

My research first investigated the potential of drones for chimpanzee population survey in Tanzania. More specifically, I evaluated the performance of two drone prototypes in detecting chimpanzee nest in the Issa Valley, Western Tanzania. I also assessed the factors influencing nest detectability from drone data (**Chapter 2**).

Next, using satellite imagery, I examined landscape connectivity change for chimpanzees within the GME (Chapter 3). I first developed habitat suitability models to create an index of habitat selection by chimpanzees. The resulting maps were used to model habitat connectivity independently of any a priori habitat patches or populations using circuit theory. To assess connectivity change over time and predict the impact of future forest loss on chimpanzees, I used satellite images from 1973 and a landcover projection for 2027.

In **Chapter 4**, I analysed 234 faecal samples from 16 different sampling locations within the GME along with genotypes from 136 individuals from Gombe National Park to explore chimpanzee population structure and genetic diversity across western Tanzania.

**Chapter 5** synthesises the results of the previous research chapters, discusses the conservation implications of these findings, and highlight future research perspectives. Each research chapter is presented as a manuscript in preparation for submission or already published in peer-reviewed journal.

### Chapter 2:

# Assessment of Chimpanzee Nest Detectability in Drone-Acquired Images

## Noémie Bonnin <sup>1,\*</sup>, Alexander C. Van Andel <sup>2</sup>, Jeffrey T. Kerby <sup>3</sup>, Alex K. Piel <sup>1</sup>, Lilian Pintea <sup>4</sup> and Serge A. Wich <sup>1,5</sup>

- <sup>1.</sup> School of Natural Sciences and Psychology, Liverpool John Moores University, Liverpool L3 3AF, UK; A.K.Piel@ljmu.ac.uk (A.K.P.); <u>S.A.Wich@ljmu.ac.uk</u> (S.A.W.)
- <sup>2</sup> IUCN National Committee of The Netherlands, Amsterdam, 1018 DD, The Netherlands; sander.vanandel@iucn.nl
- <sup>3.</sup> Neukom Institute for Computational Science, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH 03755, USA; jeffrey.t.kerby@dartmouth.edu
- <sup>4.</sup> Conservation Science Department, the Jane Goodall Institute, 1595 Spring Hill Road, Suite 550, Vienna, VA 22182, USA; <u>lpintea@janegoodall.org</u>
- <sup>5.</sup> Institute for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Dynamics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, 1098 XH Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- \* Correspondence: N.Bonnin@2016.ljmu.ac.uk; Tel.: +44-7903-251803

Article reference:

Bonnin N, Van Andel A, Kerby J, et al (2018) Assessment of Chimpanzee Nest Detectability in Drone-Acquired Images. Drones 2:17. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones2020017

This chapter was published in April 2018 and reformatted to fit the thesis requirements.

#### Abstract

As with other species of great apes, chimpanzee numbers have declined over the past decades. Proper conservation of the remaining chimpanzees requires accurate and frequent data on their distribution and density. In Tanzania, 75% of the chimpanzees live at low densities on land outside national parks and little is known about their distribution, density, behavior or ecology. Given the sheer scale of chimpanzee distribution across western Tanzania (>20,000 km<sup>2</sup>), we need new methods that are time and cost efficient while providing precise and accurate data across broad spatial scales. Scientists have recently demonstrated the usefulness of drones for detecting wildlife, including apes. Whilst direct observation of chimpanzees is unlikely given their elusiveness, we investigated the potential of drones to detect chimpanzee nests in the Issa valley, western Tanzania. Between 2015 and 2016, we tested and compared the capabilities of two fixed-wing drones. We surveyed twenty-two plots (50 × 500 m) in gallery forests and miombo woodlands to compare nest observations from the ground with those from the air. We performed mixed-effects logistic regression models to evaluate the impact of image resolution, seasonality, vegetation type, nest height and color on nest detectability. An average of 10% of the nests spotted from the ground were detected from the air. From the factors tested, only image resolution significantly influenced nest detectability in drone-acquired images. We discuss the potential, but also the limitations, of this technology for determining chimpanzee distribution and density and to provide guidance for future investigations on the use of drones for ape population surveys. Combining traditional and novel technological methods of surveying allows more accurate collection of data on animal distribution and habitat connectivity that has important implications for ape conservation in an increasingly anthropogenically-disturbed landscape.

Keywords: UAV; great apes; conservation; survey; Tanzania; image resolution

28

#### 2.1. Introduction

As with other great ape species, chimpanzee numbers have declined over the past decades and the species is currently threatened by extinction (Humle et al., 2016). Several studies have documented the impact of habitat loss (Campbell et al., 2008; Junker et al., 2012; Wich et al., 2014), poaching (Bowen-jones and Pendry, 1999; McLennan et al., 2012; Piel et al., 2015b) and infectious disease (Rudicell et al., 2010; Walsh et al., 2003) on wild populations. In Tanzania, 75% of wild chimpanzees are found within a 20,000 km<sup>2</sup> area of national parks (Kano, 1972; Moore and Vigilant, 2014; Ogawa et al., 2011; Piel and Stewart, 2014; Plumptre et al., 2010; Zamma and Inoue, 2004). Monitoring these chimpanzees is therefore crucial for their conservation in Tanzania. For conservation management, it is important to establish where and how many individuals remain and to understand the potential connectivity between populations. These data represent key information that is used towards creating baseline estimates for assessing the effectiveness of conservation efforts over time (Nichols and Williams, 2006; Plumptre and Cox, 2006).

There are several established methods for studying and monitoring wild animal populations. Line transect surveys are widely used to estimate population density for a variety of mammal species, including great apes (Piel et al., 2015a; Silveira et al., 2003; Stokes et al., 2010; Wich et al., 2016). Data from direct observations of animals or indirect evidence such as dung (Moore and Vigilant, 2014), nests (Kouakou et al., 2009; Spehar et al., 2010) and calls (Kidney et al., 2016) can be converted into density and subsequently population estimates across larger landscapes (Buckland et al., 2001). Indirect evidence is especially important in great ape surveys given the elusive nature of the species and their extensive range and distribution(Kühl et al., 2009).

Traditional land-based transects are time-consuming and expensive, and for these reasons geographically wide surveys are not repeated frequently (Kühl et al., 2009). Aerial surveys with light aircraft can be effective across broad areas for counting large mammals (Jachmann, 2002; Kirkman et al., 2013), but have

limitations. While such surveys may provide an unbiased population size estimate for large mammals found in open areas (e.g., elephants, buffalos, zebras), they are unlikely to provide accurate estimates for smaller species (e.g., black-backed jackal, bushbuck, vervet monkey) (Greene et al., 2017) or those that live in habitats with greater canopy cover. Furthermore, aircraft surveys are logistically difficult to implement due to their very high cost and the risk they pose to operators (i.e., aircraft crashes) (Sasse, 2003). Due to their increasing availability, high resolution satellite images have also been used to detect animals or their signs (Yang et al., 2014). Although promising, this method is also unlikely to provide accurate estimates for small species and is hampered by cost and atmospheric interference from clouds, especially problematic in the tropical regions where great apes are distributed (Hansen et al., 2008). Camera-traps and acoustic sensors are other promising remote technologies that enable broad spatiotemporal and precise information on animals that are elusive and otherwise difficult to study (Blumstein et al., 2011; Rowcliffe and Carbone, 2008). Nevertheless, these methods have high initial costs and still require intensive manual labor for deployment, memory card collection and substantial expertise in subsequent data analyses.

Recently, scientists have started to deploy drones—remotely operated aircraft with autonomous flight capabilities—for wildlife monitoring (Chabot and Bird, 2015; Koh and Wich, 2012a; Wich, 2015). This application allows for rapid and frequent monitoring across moderate to broad spatial extents while providing high-resolution spatial data. Several studies have now reported successful animal detection using drone-derived aerial imagery, ranging from birds (Chabot et al., 2014; Chabot and Bird, 2015) to large terrestrial (Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2014; Vermeulen et al., 2013) and marine (Hodgson et al., 2017, 2013; Koski et al., 2015, 2009) mammals. Recent studies on using drones to detect indirect signs of animals have also reported promising results in detecting orangutan (Wich et al., 2015) as well as chimpanzee (van Andel et al., 2015) nests.

Given the extent of the area in need of monitoring, exploring drone applications for chimpanzee population surveys in Tanzania may reduce cost and time investments. Visibility bias (i.e., failure to detect all animals within a sampled area) is a primary source of error in aerial surveys (Greene et al., 2017; Jachmann, 2002; Pollock and Kendall, 1987). Prior to the widespread deployment of drones for a census, it is important to first evaluate bias in the method (i.e., calculate a correction factor) by comparing the resulting detections with traditional ground survey results. Numerous factors can impact the detectability of a direct or indirect sign of wildlife (Buckland et al., 2001). Thus, it is critical to determine what affects chimpanzee nest detectability in drone-acquired images. In the current study, we assessed several factors known to affect target detectability in aerial images: image resolution (Dulava et al., 2015; Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2014); canopy cover and vegetation type (Greene et al., 2017; Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2014; Patterson et al., 2016; van Andel et al., 2015); and target size and color (Greene et al., 2017; Koski et al., 2009).

In summary, our objectives were to (1) evaluate drone performance for chimpanzee nest surveys by comparing ground and aerial surveys; and (2) assess the factors that influence detectability from drone data. Based on the results of the aforementioned studies, we hypothesized that using a higher resolution camera as well as flying at a lower altitude would increase the nest detection probability. We also expected a higher detection probability during the leaf-off season and in the more open miombo woodland vegetation than the closed riverine forest. Finally, we predicted that nests higher in the canopy and with a color that contrasts with their surroundings will be easier to detect.

#### 2.2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1. Study Site

The study was conducted in May 2015 and September 2016 (beginning and end of dry seasons, respectively) in the Issa Valley, western Tanzania (Figures 2.1 and 2.2). The area is characterized by a landscape mosaic, dominated by miombo woodland (named for the dominant tree genera of *Brachystegia* and *Julbernardia*) interspersed with grasslands, swamps and gallery forest restricted to steep ravines. Open vegetation (e.g., miombo woodland, grassland and swamps) represents more than 90% of the 85 km<sup>2</sup> study area (Piel et al., unpublished data; Figure 2.1). The region is one of the driest, most open and seasonally extreme habitats in which chimpanzees live (Moore, 1992), with annual temperatures ranging from 11 °C to 35 °C and a dry season (<100 mm of rainfall) lasting from May to October.



**Figure 2.1**: Location and map of the Issa Valley showing the distribution of all plots. Vegetation class layer produced by Caspian Johnson (unpublished).



**Figure 2.2:** Partial orthomosaics of the study site representative of the vegetation at the beginning (May 2015) and at the end (September 2016) of the dry season.

#### 2.2.2. Ground Surveys

To collect chimpanzee nest data from the ground for comparison with drone observations, we created 22 plots, each 50x500 m, stratified equally across gallery forest and miombo woodland (Figure 2.2). Within each plot, two experienced observers walked slowly and recorded the GPS location of all observed chimpanzee nests. Only one inspection per plot was performed. During the 2015 survey, data were collected using the open data kit (https://opendatakit.org/) on NEXUS 7 tablets with an average accuracy of 15 m. In 2016, we used the *global navigation satellite system (GNSS)* Mobile Mapper 20 (MM20, http://www.spectraprecision.com), allowing us to collect data with a <1 m accuracy. For each nest, we collected additional data, including nest height from ground (estimated to the nearest meter), vegetation type (open or closed) and the nest color (green or brown).

#### 2.2.3 Aerial Surveys

For the aerial surveys, we used two drone models paired with two different cameras (Figure 2.3).

**Pairing A**: The ConservationDrones.org X5 (Skywalker X5 frame; hobbyking.com [similar to HBS FX61]) equipped with a GPS-enabled Canon S100 camera (resolution: 4000 × 3000 pixels; sensor size: 7.6 × 5.7 mm) operating a Canon Hack Development Kit firmware modification (allowing pictures to be automatically taken every three seconds). **Pairing B**: The more stable HBS Skywalker 100 km Long Range Fix Wings drone (Skywalker 2013 body 1880 mm; hobbyking.com) fitted with a Sony RX100M2 (resolution: 5472 × 3648 pixels; sensor size: 13.2 × 8.8 mm). Both were equipped with an autopilot system based on the 'ArduPilot Mega' (APM), which includes a computer processor, GPS, data logger, pressure and temperature sensor, airspeed sensor, triple-axis gyro, and accelerometer. Cameras were triggered automatically based on a predefined flight plan to produce at least 60% front- and side-overlap among images. Missions were planned using the opensource software APM Mission Planner (http://planner.ardupilot.com/) on a standard Windows-based laptop. Once we completed the missions, we geotagged the images from the Sony camera using the same software. *Geotagging* was not necessary for the Canon images as the camera was GPS-equipped.



**Figure 1.3:** Types of drone/camera pairing deployed: **(a)** Pairing A; **(b)** Pairing B. The drones performed two types of missions: straight line transects and grid missions (Figure 2.4).

**Line transects**: Straight line missions covering the areas within the ground plots at an average altitude of 90 m above ground level (AGL). We investigated aerial images obtained during these missions for the presence of chimpanzee nests.

**Grid missions**: Grid pattern missions flown at an average altitude of 120 m above ground level with extensive overlap (>60%) between flight legs to allow for the creation of *orthomosaics*. We produced orthomosaics using the geotagged images in Pix4D mapper (https://pix4d.com, version 4.0.25). Although *ground*  *control points* (*GCPs*)<sup>2</sup> were set up in each area for both years, the GCPs from 2015 could not be localized in the aerial images. The resulting accuracy of the orthomosaics was that of the Canon S100 camera GPS (average accuracy of 5 m). Improved GCPs were set up in 2016 allowing a *georeferencing* accuracy within a meter. We used the orthomosaics for the subsequent spatial relocation of aerial observations made while interpreting the photos from the nest counting missions.



Figure 2.4 : Types of mission flown: (a) Line transect; (b) Grid mission.

#### 2.2.4. Nest Detection

One observer (NB) examined the 1227 images resulting from the transect missions falling within the plots. Images were imported into the WiMUAS software (Linchant et al., 2015) and investigated for the presence of nests. The aerial observation location was subsequently exported to a georeferenced shapefile. Because the resulting file was accurate to within 50 m, each aerial observation was relocated using the orthomosaics. Due to the 15 m inaccuracy of the 2015 ground data, a buffer of 15 m was created around each nest and if an aerial observation was recorded within this 15 m radius that was considered an aerial nest detection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 2015 GCPs were created from red fabric attached at the top of trees and 2016 GCPs consisted of white vinyl crosses pinned onto the ground.

#### 2.2.5. Analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted in the R studio (version 1.0.136).

#### Performance of the Aerial Detection

We calculated recall and false alarm rates to estimate the performance of nest detection using drone imagery (Macmillan and Creelman, 2005). *Recall rate* is the percentage of successful detection (i.e., the proportion of nests observed from the ground detected during the aerial survey in relation to the total number of nests observed from the ground). The *false alarm rate* is the proportion of false detections (the number of aerial observations not aligning with nests found from the ground by the total number aerial observations). Because the data were not normally distributed, we used non-parametric statistics. A Wilcoxon-signed rank test was applied to compare the number of nests per plot found on the ground and on the aerial drone survey. We further ran a Spearman rank correlation to test for associations between the number of nests per plot across the two survey methods.

#### Factors Influencing Detectability

We used three generalized linear models (GLM) with a binomial error structure and logit-link function to evaluate which factors (drone/camera pairing, season, vegetation type, nest age, nest height and flight altitude above ground level (AGL)) influenced the recall rate and the false alarm rate. The models were fitted using the GLM function from the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2015). We fitted all terms of interest and tested significance via likelihood ratio tests to determine which factors resulted in a significant reduction in explanatory power when removed (Crawley, 2012).

**Factors influencing the recall rate**: For the first model, the recall rate was fitted following the method from Lopez-Bao (López-Bao et al., 2008). The number of nest detection successes vs. number of failures by plot (modelled as 1 = success and 0 = failure) was fitted as the dependent variable. Drone/camera pairing (Pairing A or Pairing B), season (May 2015 or September 2016) and vegetation type
(open or closed) were each fitted as two-level fixed effects. As it was not possible to test the influence of all variables in this model (e.g., nest color and nest height required a perfect individual nest match between the ground and aerial survey), we fitted a second model. This second model included only the data from the 2016 survey, for which aerial observations could be more accurately matched to individual nests found on the ground. We fitted the nest detection event (not detected = 0, detected = 1) as the dependent variable. Vegetation type (open vs. closed) and nest color (green or brown) were each fitted as the two-level fixed effect and flight altitude AGL<sup>3</sup> and nest height were fitted as covariates. We determined flight altitude AGL by subtracting the elevation (extracted from a Shuttle Radar Topographic Mission (SRTM) layer -30 m resolution; http://earthexplorer.usgs.gov) from the flight altitude above mean sea level (extracted from the geotagged images) at each recorded nest location.

**Factors influencing the false alarm rate:** In the last model, the false detection event (true detection = 0, false detection = 1) was fitted as dependent variable. Drone/camera pairing (Pairing A or Pairing B), season (May 2015 or September 2016) and vegetation type (open or closed) were each fitted as two-level fixed effects and flight altitude AGL was fitted as a covariate.

# 2.3. Results

#### 2.3.1. Performance of the Aerial Detection

Considering both survey seasons (May 2015 and September 2016) and the results from both drone/camera pairings (pairing A and pairing B), we documented 667 chimpanzee nests from the ground (Supplementary Figure S2.1) and 112 from aerial observations (Figure 2.5; Supplementary Figure S2.2). Of these aerial observations, 64 fell within the 15 m radius of a nest that had been spotted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because flight altitude would have required to be averaged within survey plots to be used in the first model, we decided to only include it in the second model (with a flight altitude value above each individual nest).

from the ground and were considered to be nests, representing a 9.6% recall rate and 42.8% false alarm rate. Although the image analysis resulted in significantly fewer nest records per plot compared to what the ground teams documented (Wilcoxon- signed rank test: v = 981; p < 0.001; n = 47), the number of nests detected from aerial survey imagery showed a significantly positive correlation with those recorded on the ground per plot (Spearman's  $\varrho = 0.53$ ; p < 0.001, n = 47).



**Figure 2.5:** Examples of images of chimpanzee nests: captured during drone surveys (a,b) and observed from the ground (c,d).

#### 2.3.2. Factors Influencing Detectability

#### Factors Influencing the Recall Rate

Our first model included drone/camera pairing and season and vegetation type. From these variables, only drone/camera pairing significantly influenced the recall rate (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = -10.96$ , p < 0.001), with the highest probability of nest detection with Pairing B (12.81% probability) (Figure 2.6). There was no significant difference in the recall rate between open and closed vegetation types (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = 93.1$ , df = 41, p = 0.747) or between the beginning and end of the dry season (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = 93$ , df = 43, p = 0.551) (Table 2.1).



**Figure 2.6:** Effect of drone/camera pairing on the recall rate. Error bars represent 95% confidence intervals for the predicted probabilities.

**Table 2.1:** Outcomes of GLM to investigate the effect of drone/camera pairing, season and vegetation on the recall rate.

Predictors	LRT		Parameter Estimate			
Treateors	X <sup>2</sup>	p Value	Estimate	Std. E.	z Value	Pr (> z )
(Intercept)			-2.96	0.59	-5.01	$5.66  imes 10^{-7}$
<b>Drone/camera pairing (Pairing A)</b> Pairing B	10.96	0.004 **	1.43	0.57	-2.49	0.013 *
<b>Vegetation (closed)</b> Open	0.89	0.828	0.3	0.84	0.37	0.722
<b>Season (May 2015)</b> Sep-16	0.40	0.818	-0.35	0.78	-0.45	0.651
<b>Drone/camera pairing:</b> <b>Vegetation</b> Pairing A: Open vegetation	0.55	0.457	0.57	0.76	0.74	0.458
<b>Vegetation: Season</b> Open vegetation: September 2016	7.29	0.993	0.01	1	0.01	0.993

The *p* value for each term is based on the chi-squared test (likelihood ratio test (LRT)) for change in the deviance when comparing models with or without that term. Parameter estimates are reported for all terms in the full model. \*=p<0.05; \*\*=p<0.01.

Our second model (for 2016 data only) included flight altitude, nest height and vegetation type. We decided to remove nest color from our second model as of the 337 nests recorded by the ground survey team in 2016, only one was green. The recall rate differed significantly across flight altitude AGL (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = 4.35$ , p < 0.05), with nests more likely to be detected when flying at a lower altitude (19.58% probability) (Figure 2.7). We found a trend towards higher detectability in closed rather than open vegetation (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = 2.79$ , p < 0.1) (Table 2.2). There was no significant difference in nest detection depending on nest height within the tree (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = 0.07$ , p = 0.789).



**Figure 2.7:** Effect of the flight altitude (AGL) on the recall rate. Grey ribbon represents 95% confidence intervals for predicted probabilities

**Table 2.2:** Outcomes of GLM to investigate the effect of altitude, vegetation type and nest height on the recall rate.

Predictors -	1	LRT		Parameter Estimate				
	X <sup>2</sup>	p Value	Estimate	Std. E.	z Value	Pr (> z )		
(Intercept)			-1.53	0.28	-5.45	$4.98  imes 10^{-8}$		
Flight altitude AGL	4.35	0.037 *	-0.47	0.25	-1.90	0.057		
<b>Vegetation (closed)</b> Open	2.79	0.094	-0.68	0.40	-1.70	0.089		
Nest height	0.07	0.789	0.04	0.17	0.27	0.789		

The *p* value for each term is based on the chi-squared test (likelihood ratio test (LRT)) for change in deviance when comparing models with or without that term. Parameter estimates are reported for all terms in the full model. \*=p<0.05.

#### Factors Influencing the False Alarm Rate

For this model, we investigated the influence of drone/camera pairing, season, vegetation type and flight altitude AGL on the false alarm rate. Drone/camera pairing, vegetation type and flight altitude AGL significantly influenced the false alarm rate (Table 3.3). Aerial observations from Pairing A were more likely to be false positives (83% probability). The overall false alarm rate was higher in closed vegetation than in open vegetation but significantly differed between seasons (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = 4.01$ , p < 0.05). Aerial observations made at the beginning of the dry season (May 2015) were more likely to be false positives when recorded in open vegetation (0.94% probability opposed to 0.19% probability for closed

vegetation). The false alarm rate significantly increased at lower altitude (likelihood ratio test:  $X^2 = 9.55$ , p < 0.05) (Figure 2.8).



**Figure 2.8:** Effect of **(a)** drone/camera pairing; **(b)** vegetation type within season for pairing A and **(c)** flight altitude above ground level (AGL) on the false alarm rate for both pairing. Error bars and grey ribbon represent 95% confidence intervals for predicted probabilities.

Due d'ataur	LRT		Parameter Estimate			
Fredictors	X <sup>2</sup>	p Value	Estimate	Std. E.	z Value	Pr (>   z   )
(Intercept)			-3.03	1.19	-2.54	0.011 *
<b>Drone/camera pairing (Pairing A)</b> Pairing B	14.14	$1.17\times10^{-4} ***$	3.69	1.08	3.40	$6.73  imes 10^{-4} ***$
<b>Vegetation (closed)</b> Open	23.23	$1.44 \times 10^{-6}$ ***	5.72	1.99	2.87	0.004 **
<b>Season (May 2015)</b> Sep-16	0.04	0.834	2.86	1.16	2.47	0.013 *
Flight altitude AGL	9.55	0.002 **	2.01	0.90	2.24	0.025 *
<b>Drone/camera pairing: Vegetation</b> Pairing A: Open vegetation	0.05	0.824	-3.72	1.56	-2.38	0.017 *
Season: Vegetation Sept 2016: Open vegetation	4.01	0.045 *	-7.27	1.83	-3.98	$6.83  imes 10^{-5} ***$
<b>Vegetation: Flight altitude AGL</b> Open vegetation: Flight altitude AGL	0.37	0.542	-5.98	1.63	-3.67	$2.40 \times 10^{-4}$ ***

**Table 2.3**. Outcomes of GLM investigating the effect of the drone/camera pairing, season, vegetation type and flight altitude AGL on the false alarm rate.

The *p* value for each term is based on the chi-squared test (likelihood ratio test (LRT)) for change in deviance when comparing models with or without that term. Parameter estimates are reported for all terms in the full model. \*=p<0.05; \*\*=p<0.01; \*\*\*=p<0.001.

#### 2.4. Discussion

We investigated the feasibility of using drones to detect chimpanzee nests in the Issa Valley, western Tanzania, and evaluated the influence of image resolution, seasonality, vegetation type, nest height and color on nest detectability. An average of 10% of the nests observed from the ground were detected from the air, with improved nest detection in imagery with higher spatial resolution. Our overall detection rate was lower than that previously reported for chimpanzee nests in Gabon (39.9%) (van Andel et al., 2015) and orangutan nests in Indonesia (17.4%) (Wich et al., 2015). This discrepancy is likely due to methodological differences and our systematic approach. In their study, van Andel et al. (2015) used two approaches that biased the probability of detection. In the first, they collected nest data first via ground surveys and then used the location of the recorded nests to confirm their presence in drone images. In the second, nests were first detected on drone images and then confirmed on the ground using the location of the aerial observations. These methods effectively demonstrated that it was indeed possible to detect chimpanzee nests from drones, although these specific approaches resulted in an increased probability of detecting a nest in the drone images for the first approach and on the ground for the second approach.

Wich et al. (Wich et al., 2015) used a buffer of 25 m around nests recorded on the ground to select which nest detected from the air would be included in the analyses, comparing the relative density of nests from the aerial and ground-based surveys. The smaller 15 m buffer used in our study could be associated with our smaller detection rate, i.e., we were more conservative regarding what constituted a match. Moreover, aerial nest surveys may be more efficient for orangutan nests as they tend to build nests higher in the tree canopy and visual contrasts of nest materials and canopy color are seemingly more apparent in these habitats (Ancrenaz et al., 2005; van Casteren et al., 2012).

Of the factors hypothesized to influence the probability of chimpanzee nest detection in drone-derived aerial imagery, only image resolution was identified as having a significant influence on the recall rate, with a higher probability of nest detection associated with the higher-resolution camera at a lower flight altitude AGL. This finding is consistent with that of Mulero-Pázmány et al. (2014), who also found that the targets (i.e., rhinoceros, people acting as poachers) were better detected with a lower-flying drone. Our results are also consistent with those of Dulava et al. (2015), who reported a significant negative relation between *ground* sampling distance (GSD) and correct waterbird identification with a minimum of 5 mm GSD. In our study, we favored flight altitude AGL above GSD as a measure of resolution because of identical camera parameters, however, the two are conceptually interchangeable. We obtained the highest probability of nest detection at the lowest possible flight altitude (AGL: 65 m), corresponding to 1.4 cm GSD. Flying at lower altitude would have threatened drone safety. These findings reflect the inherent trade-offs between monitoring at a high spatial resolution (grain) versus across broad spatial extents, such as ground sampling distance (GSD) and ground sampling area (GSA). This highlights the importance of the a priori identification of the minimum GSD required to detect ground targets from the air during the survey design period, particularly if planning for extensive area surveys where the balance between GSD and GSA should be optimized.

Contrary to expectations, we did not find a significant influence of nest height on aerial nest detection. Nests constructed higher in trees are expected to be more visible from the air, however, the visibility also depends on the height of the tree (i.e., a nest at 15 m will be more visible in a tree of 15 m height than in a tree of 20 m). The inclusion of tree height into models will be important in subsequent analyses.

Another surprising result of our study was the lack of influence of canopy cover and vegetation type, with no significant differences between the probability of nest detection in the leaf-off season and the "greener season" as well as between the more open miombo woodland vegetation and the closed, riverine forest. Even more surprising, the probability of nest detection tended to be higher in closed rather than in open vegetation. This finding contradicts numerous other studies that demonstrated a significant improvement of target detection from drone imagery in more open habitats (e.g., (Greene et al., 2017; Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2014; Patterson et al., 2016; Pearse et al., 2008; van Andel et al., 2015)). A possible explanation for this might be the difficulty of detecting brown nests against a similarly colored background, in this case the less continuous and more earthtoned colors of the Miombo woodland and the grassland mosaic. Light body color has been demonstrated to negatively influence animal detection during aerial surveys in a conservation area of northern Tanzania (e.g., dark Ostrich (Struthio camelus) better detected than light Grant's gazelle (Nanger granti)) (Greene et al., 2017). The results from Chabot and Bird (2012) further support the importance of contrast in target detection. In their investigation into the use drones to survey flocks of geese they reported a poor detection of low-contrast Canada Geese (Branta canadensis) but good aerial survey performance for the high-contrast Snow Geese (*Chen caerulescens*) resulting in more efficient aerial count compared to ground count (60% higher). We were unable to test the role of contrast in our study due to an insufficient sample of recent (green) nests.

Findings from the analysis of the factors influencing false alarm rates support this hypothesis. Different vegetation types significantly affected the false alarm rate depending on the season. The false alarm rate was higher in miombo woodland at the beginning of the dry season. The canopy cover in miombo woodland is much higher during this period than at the end of the dry season. At the beginning of the dry season, the miombo woodland reflects a mosaic of green leaves and a brown understory, leading to potential misinterpretation of aerial data. At the end of the dry season, however, reflection is mostly from the brown understory, making nest detection more difficult but more accurate. As only Paring A was flown in both seasons, we acknowledge that technological factors may play a role in these seasonal effects, however we strongly believe future studies will benefit from considering and further exploring the effects of seasonal canopy differences on nest detection.

The limitations on the use of drones to survey chimpanzees are threefold. Firstly, only a small proportion of chimpanzee nests are detectable from the air. Most chimpanzee nests are built in the middle of the tree crown (Stewart, 2011) making them undetectable from above the tree canopy (van Andel et al., 2015). Chimpanzees also exhibit ground night nesting (Hicks, 2010), which would also be difficult to detect from aerial surveys. Secondly, the high proportion of false alarm rate highlighted in this study is problematic. The false alarm rate is an important parameter that must be taken into consideration when assessing new wildlife survey methods, as it may lead to an overestimation of the population density (Greene et al., 2017). However, the false alarm rate has not been described in previous studies investigating the use of drones to detect great ape nests. In this study, we reported a 42.8% false alarm rate. These aerial observations, for which the location did not align with any of the nests spotted from the ground, can be explained in two ways: (1) These could be nests visible from the air, but not the ground, as would be the case of nests high in the canopy that might be obscured from ground teams by the mid-canopy. Van Schaik et al. (2005) noted that nests can go undetected during ground surveys, resulting in an underestimation of ape densities; (2) alternatively, false positives could represent dead leaves or canopy gaps revealing the brown understory that was mistaken for nests. This uncertainty represents an important problem in the deployment of drones to assess chimpanzee presence/density, especially in a new area where little information is

available. We argue here that whilst aerial imagery offers an improvement in spatial coverage and data collection time and frequency, this approach still requires complementary validation from ground surveys. Finally, the time associated with analyzing thousands of images to identify nests represents an additional key limitation to using drones in this context.

The limitations we discussed above are significant but not prohibitive, and the findings from our study provide guidance for future investigation on the use of drones for ape population surveys. Firstly, it is important to generate high spatial resolution images and lower GSD, providing greater details and significantly increasing the probability of nest detection. For our survey, we decided to use fixed-wing drone models allowing longer flights that can cover larger areas. Because of the mountainous terrain, flying at lower altitude was not possible. Most chimpanzees do not live across mountainous terrain, therefore this problem would not affect large parts of their range. Multirotor drones have smaller flight time capacities but can fly at lower altitudes (Duffy and Anderson, 2016). This technology is improving rapidly (e.g., drone design optimization allowing longer flight time (Du et al., 2016; Magnussen et al., 2014)), which could make multirotors a viable option in the future. Meanwhile, camera resolution is improving, which will allow future studies to obtain higher resolution images from fixed wing surveys. Reliable detection also requires a high contrast background. During both our survey seasons, the brown understory made nest identification difficult. We therefore recommend conducting future surveys during seasons with green vegetation on the ground to contrast otherwise brown nests. We acknowledge that this context might reduce the probability of detecting fresh green nests, however, given their low abundance, their non-detectability is less likely to impact chimpanzee density estimations. Multispectral sensors may help address this problem. Widely used for landcover classification and vegetation monitoring (Arnold et al., 2013; Berni et al., 2009; De Biasio et al., 2010; Gini et al., 2014; Sugiura et al., 2005; Woll et al., 2011) this technology uses green, red, red-edge and near infrared wavebands to capture detail not available to standard RGB cameras. Green vegetation materials are characterized by high reflectance in the near infra-

red (NIR) domain (outside of the spectral range of human vision); a multispectral camera can provide useful contrast to discriminate between live and dead vegetation. Furthermore, it would be interesting to assess the potential of oblique aerial images. This perspective may offer better glimpses through foliage and more intuitively interpretable representations of the targets. Another step would be to assess the potential of 3D mapping of the canopy surface for nest detection. 3D models can now be created using point clouds from drone imagery (Greenwood, 2015) providing better perspectives for visual interpretation of the data. Another complementary approach would be to use light detection and ranging (LiDAR) technology. Recently developed at sizes suitable for drone payloads (Wallace et al., 2012), this remote sensing technique offers new insights beyond simple top of canopy structure that may help nest detectability algorithms. For example, these technologies could be used to better establish the habitat characteristics of trees holding nests. These data could be used in computer vision algorithms (Abd-Elrahman et al., 2005; Gonzalez et al., 2016; Hodgson et al., 2018; Selby et al., 2011) to refine automatic nest detection, possibly reducing the false alarm rate. A recent study on using a drone to detect eagle nests reported 75% nest detection using a semi-automated method (Andrew and Shephard, 2017). Similar to the difficulties encountered with chimpanzee nest detection, eagle nests are found in highly heterogeneous environments with many features that resemble nests, at small scale (~1–2 m), and with variable nest size, shape and context. This result is promising for broader nest detection applications, including those of great apes.

Given the shy and elusive nature of great apes, direct surveys are rarely feasible. Researchers thus must rely on indirect signs to estimate population density. However, to convert nest counts into ape density, the nest decay rate and nest production rate are required. These factors are highly dependent on ape species and environmental characteristics, and therefore require extensive study (Kühl et al., 2009). Recent studies have now shown the potential of thermal cameras mounted on drones for animal detection (Gonzalez et al., 2016; Gooday et al., 2018; Mulero-Pázmány et al., 2014). However, this approach would require

47

extensive spatial coverage and further research is required to assess whether apes could be detected using a thermal camera mounted on a drone.

# 2.5. Conclusions

The design and execution of great ape surveys are crucial to allocating conservation efforts to where they are most needed, but face many logistical challenges, particularly when they must be implemented across broad areas. Drone surveys could be a revolutionary method, allowing rapid and frequent monitoring in remote and poorly-understood areas, with data accessible immediately and containing a rich variety of information about habitat and other conservation revelation conditions. The limitations we discussed above are meaningful but not prohibitive, and the rapid pace of technological improvement suggests many promising solutions in a near future. Assessing the potential of drones to detect chimpanzee nests has major implications, not only for chimpanzee monitoring across Tanzania, but also for all great apes monitoring. This technology could be applied to survey extensive areas filling problematic gaps in our current understanding of ape distribution and abundance (Hicks et al., 2014), providing key information for conservationists.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the Tanzanian Wildlife Research Institute (TAWIRI) and Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH) for permission to carry out research in Tanzania. This work was supported by Tuungane/The Nature Conservancy, the Jane Goodall Institute (JGI) with additional support through the USAID and NASA's Ecological Forecasting for Conservation and Natural Resource Management program and National Geographic. Special thanks to DigitalGlobe and Esri for inkind contribution and support with satellite imagery and GIS software. We are also extremely grateful to Mashaka Alimas, Jonas Bukende, Adrienne Chitayat, Patrick Hassan, Mlela Juma, Shedrack Lucas, Msigwa Rashid, Godfrey Stephano, Eden Wondra and Elizabeth Yarwood for field assistance. We thank Keeyen Pang from Hornbillsurveys for building the drones and his support. Many thanks to James Waterman for his statistical advice. Finally, thank you to Anne-Sophie Crunchant, Camille Guiliano and Ineke Knot for their valuable feedback on the manuscript.

# **Supplementary Materials**



Figure S2.1: Locations of nests observed from the ground



**Figure S2.2:** Aerial observations (true positives and false positives) recorded from drone surveys.

# Chapter 3:

# Modelling landscape connectivity change for chimpanzee conservation in Tanzania

Noémie Bonnin<sup>1,\*</sup>, Fiona A. Stewart<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Serge A. Wich<sup>1,4</sup>, Lilian Pintea<sup>5</sup>, Samuel M. Jantz<sup>6</sup>, Rebecca Dickson<sup>7,8</sup>, Joe Bellis<sup>1</sup>, Adrienne Chitayat<sup>2,4</sup>, Rebecca Ingram<sup>2</sup>, Richard J. Moore<sup>2</sup>, Alex K. Piel<sup>2,3</sup>

- <sup>1.</sup> School of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Liverpool John Moores University, UK
- <sup>2.</sup> Greater Mahale Ecosystem Research and Conservation Project, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
- <sup>3.</sup> Department of Anthropology, University College London, UK
- <sup>4.</sup> Institute of Biodiversity and Ecological Dynamics, University of Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- <sup>5.</sup> Conservation Science Department, the Jane Goodall Institute, Vienna, VA 22182, USA
- <sup>6</sup> Department of Geographical Sciences, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA
- <sup>7.</sup> TerraCarbon, Illinois, USA
- <sup>8.</sup> Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

# Article reference:

Bonnin N, Stewart FA, Wich SA, et al (2020) Modelling landscape connectivity change for chimpanzee conservation in Tanzania. Biol Conserv 252:. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108816

This chapter was published in October 2020 and reformatted to fit the thesis requirements.

# Abstract

Chimpanzees, like all great ape species, have experienced a dramatic decline in global numbers during the past decades. The degradation, fragmentation and loss of suitable habitat impede chimpanzee movements, reducing the potential for dispersal and thus population viability. In Tanzania, 90% of the 2 000-3 000 remaining chimpanzees are found within the Greater Mahale Ecosystem (GME), the majority of which live at low densities outside of national park boundaries. Recent genetic analyses have identified potential boundaries between the northern and southern populations of the GME. Using landscape connectivity modelling, we aimed to clarify population connectivity across this vast ecosystem (>20 000 km<sup>2</sup>) and assess change over time. We developed habitat suitability models to create an index of habitat selection by chimpanzees and mapped connectivity using circuit theory. Our results suggest that, in recent history (1973), the entire ecosystem was linked by a series of corridors showing a high likelihood of chimpanzee movement. Our analysis also reveals a reduction of connectivity by 2017 impacting the two corridors linking the northern and southern GME. When projected to 2027, areas contributing to connectivity are predicted to continue to decline, threatening all available corridors between the northern and southern GME. By modelling connectivity across time, we were able to identify key areas to focus conservation efforts to maintain population viability within the largest chimpanzee population in Tanzania.

**Keywords:** Landscape connectivity; Primate conservation; Great Apes; Circuit theory; Habitat suitability

#### 3.1. Introduction

Deforestation is occurring at an unprecedented rate (Hansen et al., 2013). This extensive forest loss represents a major threat to wildlife, which face subsequent challenges to adapt and respond to novel rates, types and scales of disturbance (Haddad et al., 2015). Fifteen percent of the world's terrestrial surfaces are now under some form of protection (IUCN and UNEP-WCMC, 2018). However, the establishment of isolated reserves will not alone suffice for the conservation of biodiversity. Effective conservation must consider *connectivity* between these areas (Rudnick et al., 2012). Landscape connectivity is defined as the extent to which a landscape facilitates or impedes the movements of organisms (Taylor et al., 1993). If dispersal routes are blocked or degraded, genetic exchange between remaining populations will be reduced or lost, increasing the level of *inbreeding* and *genetic drift* in small populations (Young and Clarke, 2000). Such effects eventually compromise *adaptive potential* and reduce *fitness*, accelerating extinction of small populations (e.g. Gilpin and Soulé, 1986). Maintaining connectivity confers ecosystems with greater resilience to disturbance and ultimately facilitates species persistence (Crooks and Sanjayan, 2006).

Landscape connectivity models can help highlight important areas on which to focus conservation efforts. These models use estimates of landscape *resistance* (the degree to which landscape features impede animal movement) to predict the likelihood of connectivity between habitat patches (Taylor et al., 2006). Several studies have now shown the potential of landscape connectivity modelling to identify priority areas and support conservation planning of a wide range of species, from herptiles (e.g. Mui et al., 2017) and birds (e.g. Rayfield et al., 2016), to small (e.g. Fabrizio et al., 2019) and large mammals (e.g. Roever et al., 2013), including great ape species (Freeman et al., 2019; Vanthomme et al., 2019).

As with all the other species of great apes, chimpanzees are classified either as Endangered (Nigeria-Cameroon chimpanzees *P. t. ellioti*, central chimpanzees *P. t. troglodytes*, and eastern chimpanzees *P. t. schweinfurthii*) or Critically Endangered (Western Chimpanzees *P. t. verus*) by the International Union for Conservation of

Nature (www.iucnredlist.org). Tanzania represents the eastern and southern limit of chimpanzee distribution and hosts two of the longest studies of their behaviour (Gombe National Park: Pusey et al., 2007; and Mahale Mountains National Park: Nakamura et al., 2015; Figure 3.1). However, several surveys have now revealed that 75% of Tanzanian chimpanzees live outside of these two National Parks, with the majority (~1 500) inhabiting the Greater Mahale Ecosystem (GME) (Kano et al., 1999; Nakamura et al., 2013; Piel and Stewart, 2014; Plumptre et al., 2010; Yoshikawa et al., 2008). This mosaic ecosystem dominated by miombo-woodland (i.e. deciduous trees and shrubs with grass understory and discontinuous canopy) interspersed with riparian forest offers an important diversity of resources for chimpanzees but is under several pressures. Habitat loss through settlement expansion and conversion to agriculture represents the primary threat to chimpanzees within the ecosystem, followed by annual burning, logging, and poaching (Moyer et al., 2006; Piel and Stewart, 2014). Monitoring the impact of habitat loss on remaining chimpanzee populations is logistically challenging given that chimpanzees in this area are found at extremely low densities (Piel et al., 2015a). Remote sensing technologies can help to overcome these challenges by providing precise and accurate data across broad spatial and temporal scales (Marvin et al., 2016).

The GME has previously been regarded as one ecosystem that supports one continuous chimpanzee population (Inoue et al., 2011), however, other studies have highlighted potential barriers which may limit chimpanzee movement between northern and southern populations (Bonnin et al., 2015; Moyer et al., 2006; Piel et al., 2013; Rudicell et al., 2011). Given the long generation time of chimpanzees, the genetic consequences of recent habitat destruction have the potential to manifest decades into the future and have long-lasting effects on the genetic diversity of the remaining populations (Landguth et al., 2010).

In this study, we aimed to clarify chimpanzee habitat connectivity by developing a landscape connectivity map that is independent of any a priori habitat patches or populations. By using remote sensing data from 1973 and a land-cover projection for 2027, we also evaluated the impact of forest loss on habitat connectivity. We hypothesised the GME to be connected by multiple areas of high connectivity values in 1973. We also expected a reduction in connectivity associated with forest loss, now isolating the northern and southern populations. Identified areas of high likelihood of chimpanzee movement can be used by conservationists to support detailed conservation planning needs of local human communities and chimpanzees.

# 3.2. Methods

#### 3.2.1. Study area

The GME is a  $\approx$  18 000 km2 region in western Tanzania, bordered to the north by the Malagarasi river, to the south by Katavi National Park, to the east by the Ugalla river and to the west by Lake Tanganyika (Figure 3.1). The area is dominated by miombo-woodland (*Brachystegia* spp. and *Julbernardia* spp., Fabaceae) with small patches of riparian forest, swamp, bamboo and grassland. The topography consists of broad valleys separated by steep mountains and flat plateaus ranging from 900 to 2 500 m above sea level. The GME represents the southern and eastern extreme of chimpanzee distribution and is one of the driest habitats in which they are found (Moore, 1992). The area includes the Mahale Mountains National Park (MMNP), which protects a high level of biodiversity, although it has been estimated that 75% of the chimpanzee population lives outside of MMNP (Moyer et al., 2006). To account for potential chimpanzee movement along the edges of the GME, we drew a 20km buffer around the GME

# boundary.



Figure 3.1: Location and map of the GME

# 3.2.2. Environmental variables

We selected five biophysical variables to integrate into our species distribution model: Vegetation type, proportion of riparian forest, distance from riparian forest, elevation and distance from steep slopes.

We created our vegetation layers based on a previously developed canopy cover product for the year 2000 (Appendix S3.1). We defined riparian forest as areas with tree canopy cover > 70% and miombo-woodland as vegetation types with tree canopy cover between 30% and 70%. To create a land-cover map for 2019, we used the global forest change product from GLAD (Global Land Analysis & Discovery) between 2000 to 2019 and reclassified deforested pixels to non-forest from our 2000 landcover product. In order to map historical vegetation type, we

acquired a 60-meter resolution Landsat Multispectral Scanner (MSS) scene for August 17, 1973 downloaded from http://earthexplorer.usgs.gov. We georeferenced the image to the 2000 canopy cover layer using ArcGIS Desktop (Esri). Both 2000 and 2019 vegetation layers were resampled from 30-meter to 60meter resolution to match 1973 coarser spatial resolution and support comparison between 1973, 2000 and 2019 vegetation types. To further improve comparison between the datasets, 2000 forest and woodland areas were masked out from the 1973 image, assuming that if areas were forested in 2000 they were also forested in 1973. We confirmed that 2000 forest areas were still forests in 1973 by visually inspecting the 1973 Landsat image. The remaining 1973 image was classified in riparian forest, miombo-woodland and other non-forest/non-woodland classes using unsupervised Iso Cluster algorithm in ArcGIS Desktop. To validate our 1973 vegetation layer, we used "Create Accuracy Assessment Points" function in ArcGIS Desktop and generated 100 randomly distributed points within each class using the Equalized Stratified Random sampling strategy (see Appendix S3.1 for more details).

The resulting land-cover map comprised three types representing nonforest, miombo-woodland and riparian forest, the latter two being the main chimpanzee habitats in the GME. Distance from riparian forest was calculated such that each grid value reflected the linear distance from riparian forest (riparian forest pixels getting a zero value). We used these landscape features because chimpanzees are highly dependent upon trees, many of which host important food sources (Nishida et al., 1983; Piel et al., 2017) and for their role as shelter e.g. nesting sites (Stewart et al., 2011). We extracted elevation and distance from steep slopes (> 20 degrees) from a Shuttle Radar Topographic Mission (SRTM) layer (30 m resolution; http://earthexplorer.usgs.gov) (Pintea & Plumptre 2006; Jantz et al. 2016). We included topographic measures because altitude has an influence on chimpanzee distribution (Fitzgerald et al., 2018; Plumptre et al., 2010). Elevation may act as a proxy for suitable climatic conditions, affecting nesting site preference and food resource distribution (Jantz et al., 2016). Moreover, in western Tanzania, studies have shown that nesting sites are associated with steep slopes (Hernandez-Aguilar, 2009; Pintea and Plumptre, 2006; Stewart, 2011). We fitted all four variables at 60 m resolution and accounted for chimpanzee responses to vegetation type at a larger scale by creating a new layer reflecting the proportion of riparian forest within a 30.8 km<sup>2</sup> neighbourhood, using focal statistics in ArcGIS Desktop. We used 30.8 km<sup>2</sup>, as this represents the average home range size based on three habituated chimpanzee communities in the GME (55km<sup>2</sup> at Issa, Piel and Stewart, unpublished data; 27.4 km<sup>2</sup> for M-group (MMNP), Nakamura et al., 2015 and 10km<sup>2</sup> for K-group (MMNP), Nishida, 2011). We did not include settlements or roads as a predictor variable because of the difficulty of accessing reliable data for 1973. We checked for collinearity by estimating the variance inflation factor (VIF; values>3 considered highly correlated predictors (Zuur et al., 2010)). We did not find multicollinearity among our five predictor variables (VIF <1.3) and thus used all predictors for further analyses.

#### 3.2.3.Land-cover change projections

For future time periods, we used a model of predicted deforestation by 2027 developed for the Ntakata REDD project (Shoch et al., 2019) which used Multi-Layer Perceptron neural network to predict the likelihood of deforestation based on historical deforestation occurring between 2007 and 2019. Predicted deforestation was used to create land-cover map representing 2027 by reclassifying forest pixels mapped in 2019 to non-forest in 2027 where deforestation was projected.

#### 3.2.4. Habitat suitability modelling

We decided to base our *resistance values* on a habitat suitability model, which is a preferred alternative to expert opinion when empirical data on animal movement or genetic distance are insufficient or not available (Beier et al., 2008; Stevenson-Holt et al., 2014). To build our model, we used evidence of chimpanzee presence from surveys led by Greater Mahale Ecosystem Research and Conservation (GMERC) between 2008 and 2020. By a combination of transects and

reconnaissance walks we have documented over 11 947 observations of chimpanzee presence (direct observations, vocalizations, feces, feeding remains, nests, prints, and tools). For our analysis, we removed vocalizations as chimpanzee calls can be heard up to 3km (Piel, 2014) and our modelling resolution is 60 m. In order to reduce spatial bias caused by unequal sampling effort, we followed Kramer-Schadt et al.'s (2013) recommendations and used spatial filtering and balancing of occurrence data, to reduce spatial autocorrelation. For spatial filtering, we used Spatial Rarefy Tool in the SDM ToolBox v2.2 under ArcGIS 10.7 (Brown, 2014) to allow only one record per 60 x 60m. We chose this value to allow sampling bias reduction and to keep a high spatial resolution on how landscape features impact chimpanzee distribution. After spatial filtering, records were still heavily biased towards the Issa valley, the GMERC long-term field site (Piel et al., 2015b). We thus further reduced the number of records in Issa by randomly selecting 90 records to produce a sample with the same density as the average density of the total covered area (Kramer-Schadt et al., 2013). This resulted in N=2 554 occurrence points used to train the final model (Appendix S3.2, Figure S3.2.1).

We used an ensemble of species distribution model algorithms because this approach reduces the uncertainty associated with relying on a single method when projecting to a different time period (Araújo and New, 2007; Buisson et al., 2010). We applied three algorithms that have been shown to perform well when modelling species distributions: Random Forests (RF), Generalised Boosted Models (GBM) and MAXENT (Elith and Graham, 2009; Elith et al., 2006). We used the default settings in the biomod2 package (Version 3.3-7) ] in the open-source software R (v. 3.6.1; http://www.R-project.org/ ) for each algorithm (Thuiller et al., 2016)

We sampled 10 000 pseudo-absence records at random from the background extent, excluding cells with previously removed true-presence points due to spatial filtering and balancing of occurrences. We randomly divided the original dataset, using 70% to construct the models and 30% to validate their accuracy. We replicated five runs to obtain a robust estimate and tested accuracy using the Area Under the Curve (AUC). Only models with AUC values equal to or greater than 0.9 were included in our final ensemble, with the contribution of each model proportional to its goodness-of-fit statistics. The True Skill Statistic (TSS) was also calculated for our final ensemble as an additional measure of accuracy (Allouche et al., 2006).

We derived resistance values using a negative exponential function of the suitability model output (Keeley et al., 2017, 2016; Mateo-Sánchez et al., 2015; Trainor et al., 2013).

$$r = 100^{1-SDM}$$

where r is the resistance value of a given cell and SDM is the suitability value associated to the cell. This transformation takes into consideration that during long-distance movements animals might be able to move through areas that would be classified as moderately suitable in the home range.

#### 3.2.5. Circuit-based connectivity modelling

We developed landscape connectivity maps using electricity *circuit theory* implemented through Circuitscape 4.0.5 (Mcrae et al., 2008) using the pairwise mode which considers conductance across all pairs of nodes in the study area. We decided to focus on circuit theory rather than other commonly used modelling approaches (e.g. *least-cost path analysis*) because of its success to quantify animal movement and gene flow (Dickson et al., 2018) and because of its ability to create a quantitative proxy of probabilities of connectivity across an entire surface without the need to define focal patches. We followed the method of Koen et al., (2014) to develop landscape connectivity maps that were independent of a priori source or destination locations by randomly placing regularly distanced nodes around a 40 km buffer perimeter (20% of the max length of the GME). To identify the optimum number of nodes required to generate an unbiased landscape-scale *permeability map*, we created 10 current density maps using 10–100 nodes at intervals of 10. We selected 10 000 cells randomly in each current density map and used Pearson correlation to compare estimates extracted from each current density map (i.e. 10

to 90 nodes) with estimates from the full current density map (developed using 100 nodes). We considered that our modelling was sufficient when the curve comparing correlation coefficients to the number of node pairs reached an asymptote.

To help delineate the area of highest likelihood of chimpanzee movement, we selected all pixels with the highest current density quartile (Vanthomme et al., 2019), which for the purposes of this study, we term "current flow corridors". To test the sensitivity of the identified corridors to the choice of our quartile threshold, we also used geometrical interval classification and selected all pixels in the upper class (Ersoy et al., 2019) (resulting maps are presented in supplementary material).

#### 3.3. Results

The fit of the final chimpanzee habitat suitability model was 0.817 for TSS and 0.971 for AUC, thus indicating a high level of predictive power. Predictive accuracy of individual models ranged from 0.744 (+/-0.010) to 0.776 (+/-0.009) for TSS and from 0.937 (+/-0.004) to 0.950 (+/-0.003) for AUC, depending on the algorithm. On average, RF models performed best compared to GBM and MAXENT models (Table. S2.1). The contribution of each variable to the model was as follows: distance from steep slope (46.4%), distance from riparian forest (31.6%), proportion of riparian forest (11.2%), elevation (6.1%) and vegetation type (4.7%). The response curves produced by the model indicate that the relative probability of chimpanzee occurrence decreases with distance from steep slopes as well as with distance form riparian forest whereas it increases with proportion of riparian forest and 1000 and 1850 m. Further, probability of presence was highest in riparian forest and lowest in non-forested areas; miombo-woodland showed intermediate probabilities (Appendix S3.2, Figure S3.2.2).

Thirty node pairs were sufficient to generate unbiased connectivity maps (Appendix S3.2, Figure S3.2.3). The current density map derived from Circuitscape

reflects relative probability of movement, with areas of high current density representing higher probability of movement. The GME appears to have been connected by several current flow corridors facilitating chimpanzee movement in 1973 (Figure 3.2; Appendix S2, Figure S3.2.4).



**Figure 3.2:** Habitat connectivity maps derived from Circuitscape for 1973 a) Current density map, b) current flow corridors

Although the pattern of landscape connectivity remained broadly similar over time (Appendix S3.2, Figue S3.2.5), a reduction in current density is observed for 1 966.7 km<sup>2</sup> between 1973 and 2019. This reduction is impacting both current flow corridors linking the northern and southern GME (Figure 3.3a). When projecting to 2027, we predict 2 152.3 km<sup>2</sup> further decline, severely impacting the western current flow corridor linking the northern and southern GME and affecting a large area in the south-east of the GME (Figure 3.3b). Increase in current flow is also observed for both time periods corresponding to displacement of probability of movement.





Landscape connectivity is of central importance to maintain population viability, especially in increasingly anthropogenically disturbed landscapes. We used circuit theory to assess chimpanzee habitat connectivity within the GME, an area containing nearly the entire free-ranging population of Tanzania's chimpanzees (Plumptre et al., 2010). Our results suggest that the ecosystem was linked by a series of corridors showing a relatively high probability of chimpanzee movement in 1973. This result is consistent with previous population genetic analyses suggesting recent gene flow throughout the GME (Inoue et al., 2011). Our analysis also reveals a reduction of connectivity impacting the two current flow corridors linking the northern and southern GME. Mishamo, a refugee settlement established in 1981 to host 35 000 Burundian refugees was hypothesised to separate the ecosystem or at least hinder chimpanzee movement between the northern and the southern population of the GME (Moyer et al., 2006; Piel and Stewart, 2015; Rudicell et al., 2011). However, our 1973 model shows that the

central part of the ecosystem was already unsuitable for chimpanzees prior to the establishment of this settlement (Appendix S3.2, Figure S3.2.6). This result is supported by Kano's (1971) early work on chimpanzee distribution in Tanzania, when he reported no chimpanzees in the Lugufu basin (location of Mishamo establishment) following his extensive 1965-1967 surveys. The Lugufu Basin/Mishamo region is mainly flat and was dominated by Miombo-woodland and grassland (Bomans et al., 1981), whereas surveys indicate that chimpanzees select hilly areas with riparian forests (Hernandez-Aguilar, 2006; Kano, 1972; Moyer et al., 2006; Ogawa et al., 2013; Piel and Stewart, 2014, this study). While the Mishamo refugee settlement expansion occurred outside of chimpanzee habitat, the impact of increased human population density cannot be overlooked. It is likely that the establishment of the refugee settlement and the arrival of tens of thousands of people to the region has increased pressure on forests through consumption of firewood, charcoal production, conversion of land for agriculture and poaching (Jambiya et al., 2007; Ogawa et al., 2013, 2006a, 2006b; Whitaker, 1999).

A survey led 40 years after Kano's first expedition reported a reduction in chimpanzee density in each revisited area within the GME, but no extinction of local populations (Yoshikawa et al., 2008). Following surveys from Piel et al. (2015a) reported similar pattern and found an overall decline in mean chimpanzee nest density between 2007 and 2014 in the northern GME (previously identified as the Masito-Ugalla Ecosystem, MUE) and an association between habitat loss and a decline in chimpanzee density. Our analysis of Landsat images reveals a total forest (i.e. riparian forest and miombo-woodland) decline of 1 677 km<sup>2</sup> between 1973 and 2017 (Figure 3.4). Surprisingly, vegetation type contributed relatively little to our model (4.7%) and deforestation of miombo-woodland did not have a large impact on our landscape connectivity change. Instead, destruction of entire blocks of riparian forests were responsible for the observed reduction of connectivity between 1973 and 2017 and have disproportionately affected current flow corridors. Although travelling through more open miombo-woodland

65

without nearby riparian forests may represent a higher risk of predation, miombowoodland could still have been used by chimpanzees to a certain extent to reach sparsely distributed resources. The significant deforestation of miombo-woodland in the centre of the GME and settling of thousands of humans in the area is now likely to prevent any chimpanzee movements. This is particularly alarming given that the Shoch et al. (2019) model predicts another 2 426 km<sup>2</sup> of forest to be lost by 2027, threatening a large area in the south-east of the GME (Figure 3.3b; Figure 3.4). The consequences of habitat loss in this area will have a devastating impact on chimpanzees, not only reducing suitable habitat, but also an area of high movement probability. This area falls within the Ntakata REDD project boundaries, a project initiated in May 2017 with the goals of engaging and supporting local communities in the protection of their village land forest reserves (Shoch et al., 2019). By providing support for community patrols and monitoring by village game scouts, we are hopeful that this approach results in increased conservation of this large, critical area for chimpanzees.



#### Figure 3.4: Vegetation change from 1973 to 2027

Along with forest loss, the Mpanda-Uvinza road may have potentially played a role in the current density reduction within the eastern corridor. Splitting the ecosystem, the road crosses the only migration route available for movement

of individuals from eastern MUE to the south (Figure 3.5 Box b). Even though chimpanzees have been reported crossing and even using roads (Cibot et al., 2015; Hockings et al., 2006), roads can impede animal movement through mortality during crossing (McLennan and Asiimwe, 2016). Probably impacting chimpanzees more than the road itself, the associated deforestation enabled by easier access to forest resources is affecting habitat at a larger scale (Laurance et al., 2009; Palminteri et al., 2019; this study). Although this road was already established in 1973 (Kano, 1971), increases in traffic and other associated anthropogenic pressures may have negatively impacted animal movement. Chimpanzee presence has been reported on both sides of the road in the north of the ecosystem (Piel and Stewart, 2014), however, chimpanzee movement across the road still needs to be confirmed. Investigations into what extent this road and its associated land use change limit chimpanzee movement and thus gene flow will have important implications for conservation, especially because the (currently, dirt) road is now in the process of being paved (NB pers. obs). The Ilagala-Mahale road running to the west of the ecosystem may also have deleterious impacts on chimpanzee habitat and movement. Its construction in 2006 was correlated with a dramatic increase in forest loss and construction plans foresee an extension of the road to the south of MMNP (Palminteri et al., 2019). Our model highlights critical areas for chimpanzees and could be used for the development of detailed land use planning along the road. By establishing new village forest reserves and wildlife crossing structures across developing roads in these critical areas for chimpanzee movements we could help maintain movement and balance needs of local communities and chimpanzees (Gloyne and Clevenger, 2001; Lasch et al., 2011; Plumptre et al., 2010; TAWIRI, 2018).



**Figure 3.5:** Priority areas to maintain connectivity for chimpanzee conservation within the GME. Background represents current density change between 1973 and 2027 within current flow corridors delineated for 1973. Box a. western corridor running through the Lugufu river; Box b. eastern corridor crossing Uvinza-Mpanda road; Box c. corridor allowing movement in/out MMNP

Large rivers may also act as barriers to animal movement (e.g. Eriksson et al. 2004). The GME is bordered by a large river, the Malagarasi, to the north, and segmented by the Lugufu river running through the north west of the ecosystem (Figure 3.5 Box a). Inoue et al. (2011) proposed the Malagarasi river to be a major biogeographical boundary preventing chimpanzee movement into the GME from the north, however circumstantial evidence suggests that chimpanzees can move across the 100m wide river using natural, shallow fords, which together with further genetic evidence, suggests that the river does not form a complete barrier to gene flow (Piel et al., 2013). The Lugufu river is only 15 m wide (at its widest), and so may similarly allow some movement across it, especially in the dry season; however, more investigation is needed. Given the extreme seasonality of the ecosystem, with a six months dry season (<100 mm of rainfall/month), temporal

variation of connectivity also remains to be examined. Variation of river flow and depth could result in temporal barriers to chimpanzee movement (Eriksson et al., 2004), but also affect the availability of water resources from smaller streams. Other resources such as plants also show important seasonal variation and are known to influence chimpanzee ranging patterns (Doran, 1997; Hasegawa, 1990; Wrangham, 1977). Adding phenological data (e.g. resource availability) to our model would allow a better understanding of chimpanzee movement within this extremely seasonal ecosystem.

Here we chose to derive resistance values from habitat suitability modelling, which is recommended over expert opinions although often underperforms compared to direct movement data or genetic methods when sufficient genetic data are available (Beier et al., 2008; Stevenson-Holt et al., 2014). Less biased and more data-driven than expert opinions, habitat suitability modelling allows the creation of a more precise **resistance surface** at a fine-scale. However, our occurrence data are skewed towards sleeping sites, with nest locations comprising 81% of our presence points. This may explain the major contribution of steep slopes to our model as chimpanzee nests are often associated with steep slopes within the ecosystem (Hernandez-Aguilar, 2009; Stewart, 2011), whereas feeding and travel behaviour is likely not. Similarly, the importance of distance from riparian forest may represent sleeping site preferences although chimpanzees use miombo-woodland extensively for feeding and travelling (Hernandez-Aguilar, 2009; Nishida, 1989). Further work integrating genetic data (e.g. landscape genetic analysis) will help us better understand how landscape features impact chimpanzee movement across the GME.

Our models have confirmed historical connectivity throughout the GME and have highlighted priority areas for chimpanzee conservation in Tanzania. First, our results revealed potential corridors linking the northern and southern population of the GME (Figure 3.5 Box a. and b). Additional ground surveys and genetic analysis could confirm whether chimpanzee movement is possible along this potential corridor and if there is genetic exchange. Our model also identified corridors to the north-east of MMNP (Figure 3.5 Box c). Previous surveys have confirmed chimpanzee presence in this area in 2011-2012 (Piel and Stewart, 2014). However, as for the eastern and western corridors linking the northern and southern population of the GME, increasing anthropogenic pressure and associated deforestation is threatening this corridor. We recommend focusing conservation efforts on maintaining riparian forest, which is not only necessary for chimpanzee survival, but also essential for the provision of natural resources on which local human livelihoods depend. Our model supports evidence of large areas within the GME that are suitable for chimpanzee habitat and movement. Preference of GME chimpanzees for steep terrain may have allowed their continued persistence, as such areas are difficult for humans to access and are less favourable for conversion to other land-uses (Heinicke et al., 2019; Kinnaird et al., 2003). By maintaining and possibly enhancing connectivity identified in this study and giving priority to those areas currently under threat, we are optimistic that Tanzania can continue to host a large viable population of chimpanzees.

# Acknowledgments

We thank the Tanzanian Wildlife Research Institute (TAWIRI) and Commission for Science and Technology (COSTECH) for permission to carry out research in Tanzania and village and District governments for their facilitation to conduct this work. We are also extremely grateful to GMERC field assistants in Tanzania. The UCSD/Salk Center for Academic Research and Training in Anthropogeny (CARTA) for long-term support of GMERC. We also thank L. Nelli for helpful discussions on suitability modelling and Nathaniel Robinson for his help on landcover classification. The Arcus Foundation, The Nature Conservancy, Frankfurt Zoological Society, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) and the Jane Goodall Institute were all instrumental in supporting, facilitating, and funding this work.

# **Supplementary Materials**

### Appendix S3.1

#### Generation of the 2000 continuous tree cover dataset

In this section we detail how we created and evaluated our tree cover product. We used a similar methodology compared to Sexton et al. (2013) but with key differences in the reflectance data and modelling algorithm. Instead of using Landsat reflectance data directly our approach uses a set annual multi-temporal metrics and in place of piece-wise linear regression, we use gradient boosted regression trees as implemented in the XGBoost software (Chen and Guestrin, 2016). We evaluated our product using a hold-out sample from our dataset and independent reference data gathered from the Global Ecosystem Dynamics Investigation (GEDI) LiDAR sensor attached to the International Space Station.

#### Training Data

Tree cover training data were derived from the MODerate-resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) Vegetation Continuous Fields (VCF) Tree Cover dataset (MOD44B), currently in Version 6, which has a spatial resolution of 250 meters and is produced on an annual basis from 2000 to 2019 (Dimiceli et al., 2015). MODIS VCF data have been used for several studies such as quantifying forest loss in and around tropical protected areas (Defries et al., 2005), climate modelling (Lawrence and Chase, 2007), quantifying global gross forest cover loss (Hansen et al., 2010) and mapping carbon emissions from tropical deforestation (Harris et al., 2012). We acquired MODIS VCF data for the period 2000-2019 for the study area from the NASA Land Processes Distributed Active Archive Center (LPDAAC) using the Application for Extracting and Exploring Analysis Ready Samples (AppEEARS Team, 2020).

#### Multi-temporal Landsat Metrics

We used Landsat Analysis Ready Data produced by the Global Land Analysis and Discovery team at the University of Maryland (GLAD ARD) to create a set of annual metrics for the study area from 2000 to 2019. The GLAD
ARD are 16-day composites of tiled Landsat (TM, ETM+ and OLI sensors) normalized surface reflectance from 1997 to the present updated annually, and designed for landcover monitoring at global to local scales (Potapov et al., 2020). In addition to a layer describing per pixel quality, each 1° by 1° tile contains normalized surface reflectance for the blue, green, red, near-infrared (NIR), shortwave infrared band 1 (SWIR1), shortwave infrared band 2 (SWIR2) and surface brightness temperature (LST). For a number of reasons, such as uneven cloud cover and differing acquisition strategies among the constellation of Landsat satellites, it is infeasible to use the 16-day composites directly. The metrics approach increases spatial and temporal consistency by building an annual timeseries of the highest quality observations, and subsequently computing a set of metrics that represent salient phenological features across a landscape. We generated a set of 354 annual phenological metrics from the GLAD ARD tiles as detailed in Potapov et al. 2020 and displayed in figure S3.1.1. The tiled Landsat data and software to create the annual phenological metrics are freely available and can be downloaded at https://glad.umd.edu/ard/home. We supplemented our dataset with elevation data from Shuttle Radar Topography Mission (SRTM) (http://srtm.csi.cgiar.org/).

#### Spectral data and indices

#### Spectral Bands

Blue
Green
Red
NIR
SWIR1
SWIR2
Derived Indices
(NIR-Red)/(NIR+Red) [RN]
(NIR-SWIR1)/(NIR+SWIR1) [NS1]

(Blue-Green)/(Blue+Green) [BG] (Blue-Red)/(Blue+Red) [BR] (Blue-NIR)/(Blue+NIR) [BN] (Green-Red)/(Green+Red)[GR] (Green-NIR)/(Green+NIR) [GN]

(SWIR1-SWIR2)/(SWIR1+SWIR2) [SWSW]

Spectral variability index [SVVI]

Minimum [min]	
Maximum [max]	
Second lowest value [smin]	
Second highest value [smax]	
Median [median]	
Average between smin and Q2 [avsm	nin50]
Average between Q2 and smax [av50	[] Dsmax
Average between min and Q1 [avmir	ו25]
Average between Q3 and max [av75	max]
Average between Q1 and Q3 [av257!	5]
Average of all values [avminmax]	
Average of all values except min and avsminsmax1	max [

Statistics

Ranking of 16-day observation time-series by the value of the corresponding variable



**Figure S3.1.1:** Adapted from figure 10 in Potapov et al. 2020. Phenological metrics with names in brackets.

The first set of metrics represents statistics calculated from 16-day observation time-series ranked by the spectral reflectance or index value. The ranking is performed independently for each spectral band or index. The second set of metrics represents statistics calculated from 16-day observation time-series ranked by the value of a corresponding variable (NDVI, SVVI, and brightness temperature). Q1, Q2, and Q3 represent the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd quartiles, respectively.

#### Reference Data

We obtained independent reference data from Global Ecosystem Dynamics Investigation (GEDI) Lidar attached to the International Space Station (ISS). GEDI is a full waveform Lidar specifically designed for measuring vegetation canopy structure and data from this mission is being used to create a suite of vegetation and aboveground biomass products (Dubayah et al., 2020). The footprint-level (25 meter diameter) vegetation canopy height and cover metrics for the first 9 months of GEDI observations (April - December 2019) have been processed and are publicly available. We retrieved Level 2B canopy structure metrics, including percent canopy cover, from the NASA Land Process Distributed Active Archive Center (LPDAAC).

# Methods

For each year in the 2000 to 2019 period, we aggregated and co-located all metrics to match the 250 meter resolution MODIS VCF product and extracted all 250 meter pixels over land. Samples from all years were pooled together to create a single dataset. We then randomly divided the data into three subsets for training, early stopping and evaluation. We used the XGBoost software to model MODIS VCF percent tree cover as a function of the multi-temporal metrics as well as elevation, slope and aspect derived from the SRTM data. For model evaluation, we computed the root mean square error (*RMSE*), mean absolute error (MAE), mean bias error (*MBE*), and Pearson's correlation coefficient (*Q*) (Willmott, 1982) using GEDI percent canopy cover as a reference.

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (tc_i - r_i)^2}{n}}$$
$$MAE = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} |tc_i - r_i|}{n}$$
$$MBE = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (tc_i - r_i)}{n}$$
$$\rho = \frac{cov(tc, r)}{\sigma_{tc} * \sigma_r}$$

where *i* = pixel index

tc<sub>i</sub> = modelled percent tree cover
r<sub>i</sub> = reference percent canopy cover from GEDI Lidar
n = sample size
cov = covariance function

# $\sigma$ = standard deviation

# Results

Qualitatively, our product better captures tree cover in the region compared with the widely used Hansen et al. (2013) global product (Figure S3.1.2). For example, the global product over predicts tree cover over sloped terrain.



**Figure S3.1.2:** A zoomed region of the study area showing high resolution Google Earth imagery (a), our percent tree cover product (b), and percent tree cover from Hansen et al. (2013).

We were able model the MODIS VCF data well with *RMSE* of 5.61%, *MAE* of 4.23%, no bias error and Q of 0.88 on the hold-out sample. Our modelled tree cover and MODIS VCF tree cover are tightly distributed along the one-to-one line (Figure S3.1.3).



**Figure S3.1.3:** 2 dimensional density plot with Landsat predicted tree cover on the x-axis and MODIS VCF tree cover on the y-axis. The one-to-one line is shown in white.

Our product better matched the Lidar derived canopy cover compared to the MODIS VCF with smaller error and higher correlation (Table S3.1.1).

**Table S3.1.1:** Error metrics for tree cover predicted from Landsat data as well as the MODIS VCF product. Reference data are canopy cover as measured from the GEDI Lidar sensor.

RMSE (%)	MAE (%)	MBE (%)	ρ
13.3	10.3	-1	0.6
15.4	11.9	-2.2	0.4
	<u>RMSE (%)</u> 13.3 15.4	RMSE (%)         MAE (%)           13.3         10.3           15.4         11.9	RMSE (%)         MAE (%)         MBE (%)           13.3         10.3         -1           15.4         11.9         -2.2

Both our product and the MODIS VCF tended to over predict low canopy cover values and under predict high canopy cover values (Figure S3.1.4). The MODIS VCF product is known to saturate at approximately 85% canopy cover (Hansen et al., 2002; Sexton et al., 2013) and this artifact is present in our product as well. Neither product predicts tree cover above 85% and the non-linear trend is evident in our product (Figure S3.1.4b).



**Figure S3.1.4:** 2 dimensional density plots with canopy cover from GEDI Lidar on the x axes, percent tree cover from Landsat on the y-axis (a), and MODIS VCF tree cover on the y-axis (b). The one-to-one lines are shown in white.

# Classification and evaluation of the 1973 image

# Classification

The bare lands from 2000 image were masked from 1973 image and the resulting masked 1973 images was than classified using unsupervised Iso Cluster algorithm in ArcGIS Desktop, using 20 number of classes with minimum class size of 20 ad sampling interval of 10. This produced a raster with 17 classes that was than reclassified in forest and non-forest classes.

# Evaluation

To validate 1973 vegetation we used "Create Accuracy Assessment Points" function in ArcGIS Desktop and generated 100 randomly distributed points within each class: Other, Woodland, Forest using Equalized Stratified Random sampling strategy.

We generated a distance layer from tree cover loss points from Hansen 2000-2019 and removed any points that were less than two pixels (120 meters) from deforestation pixels to focus on areas least impacted by people because our high resolution satellite imagery were acquired within 2010 to 2019 time interval. Total left points for ground-truthing were Other=77, Woodland=76 and Forest=80. The total overall Kappa accuracy was 0.83. The User Accuracy for the Forest was 0.95 and for Woodland was 0.91.

We used human interpretation of high-resolution satellite imagery to ground-truth the points by overlaying in ArcGIS Desktop using Maxar/DigitalGlobe ImmageConnect extension random points with Maxar 50 cm to 1-meter multitemporal satellite imagery collected between 2010-2019 along with Esri Imagery basemaps and Landsat MSS scene from 1973



Figure S3.2.1: Locations of the occurrence points used in the final habitat suitability model

**Table S3.2.1**: Predictive accuracy and standard deviation (SD) of the 5 replicates for the 3 algorithms.

	Individual runs			Ensemble		
	TSS	SD	AUC	SD	TSS	AUC
RF	0.776	0.009	0.950	0.003	0.914	0.991
GBM	0.762	0.010	0.945	0.003	0.777	0.949
MAXENT	0.744	0.010	0.937	0.004	0.758	0.943



**Figure S3.2.2:** Response curves derived by the ensemble prediction. The plots show the mean response (dark line and dark points) and the standard deviation (error bars and grey ribbon) of the 5 replicates of the 3 algorithms. The curves display how the predicted probability of presence vary in function of each environmental variable. These response curves do not account for interactions between variables.



**Figure S3.2.3:** Pearson correlation coefficients of extracted values (n = 100 000) from a full permeability map developed using 100 random nodes compared to extracted values from permeability maps developed using fewer random nodes (i.e. 10–100).



Figure S3.2.4: Current flow corridors for 1973 derived from upper geometrical interval



**Figure S3.2.5:** Current density map for 1973, 2017 and 2027 within the GME and a 20km buffer



**Figure S3.2.6:** Area of Mishamo refugee settlement establishment overlaid with chimpanzee habitat suitability for 1973 within the GME and a 20km buffer

# Chapter 4:

# Genetic diversity and population structure of Tanzanian chimpanzees

Noémie Bonnin<sup>1</sup>, Alex K. Piel<sup>2</sup>, Richard P. Brown<sup>1</sup>, Jasmin Giles<sup>3</sup>, Alexa N. Avitto<sup>3</sup>, Madhurima Gundlapally<sup>3</sup>, Andrew J. Connell<sup>3</sup>; Yingying Li<sup>3</sup>, Beatrice Hahn<sup>3</sup>, Paul M. Sharp<sup>4,5</sup>, Deus C. Mjungu<sup>6</sup>, Jane Raphael<sup>7</sup>, Iddi Lipende<sup>8</sup>, Dismas Mwacha<sup>6</sup>, Michael L. Wilson<sup>9,10,11</sup>, Elizabeth V. Lonsdorf<sup>12</sup>, Emily E. Wroblewski<sup>13</sup>, Anne E. Pusey<sup>14</sup>, Adrienne Chitayat<sup>15</sup>, Serge A. Wich<sup>1,15</sup>, Fiona A. Stewart<sup>1,2</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> School of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Liverpool John Moores University, UK
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Anthropology, University College London, London, UK
- <sup>3</sup> Departments of Medicine and Microbiology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, United States of America
- <sup>4</sup> Institute of Evolutionary Biology, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh EH9 3FL, United Kingdom
- <sup>5</sup> Centre for Immunity, Infection and Evolution, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh EH9 3FL, United Kingdom
- <sup>6</sup> Gombe Stream Research Centre, The Jane Goodall Institute–Tanzania, P.O. Box 1182, Kigoma, Tanzania
- 7 Gombe National Park, Kigoma, Tanzania
- <sup>8</sup> Tanzania Wildlife Research Institute (TAWIRI), Arusha, Tanzania
- <sup>9</sup> Department of Anthropology, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN 55455, USA
- <sup>10</sup> Department of Ecology, Evolution, and Behavior, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN 55108, USA
- <sup>11</sup> Institute on the Environment, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN 55108, USA
- <sup>10</sup> Biological Foundations of Behavior Program, Franklin and Marshall College, Lancaster, PA, USA
- <sup>11</sup> Department of Structural Biology, Stanford University School of Medicine, Stanford, CA, USA
- <sup>12</sup> Department of Psychology, Franklin and Marshall College, Lancaster, PA 17604, USA
- <sup>13</sup> Department of Anthropology, Washington University in St. Louis, USA
- <sup>14</sup> Department of Evolutionary Anthropology, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA
- <sup>15</sup> Institute of Biodiversity and Ecological Dynamics, University of Amsterdam, The Netherlands

This chapter is in preparation to be submitted to Conservation genetics

# Abstract

Rapid habitat loss across chimpanzees' range threatens their viability and can result in small, isolated populations likely to suffer from inbreeding. Tanzania is home to two of the longest studies of chimpanzees, both in national parks and in their 6<sup>th</sup> and 7<sup>th</sup> decade. Most Tanzanian chimpanzees, however, live outside of national parks. Initial studies on gene flow and genetic diversity of Tanzanian chimpanzees have provided contrasting findings regarding population connectivity. Here we use both mitochondrial control region sequences and genotypes from 10 microsatellite loci to describe population structure and genetic diversity of chimpanzees across Tanzania. Although mitochondrial sequence analysis supports historical gene flow across their distribution, nuclear loci revealed two distinct genetic clusters corresponding to Gombe National Park (GNP) and the Greater Mahale Ecosystem (GME). The absence of admixed individuals suggests complete interruption of gene flow between the two ecosystems in recent years. However, a high level of gene flow appeared to be maintained within each ecosystem with no clear structure identified by Bayesian cluster analyses. Despite increasing anthropogenic pressures, Tanzanian chimpanzees have maintained high genetic diversity with no evidence of inbreeding at any sites and a greater mitochondrial DNA diversity within GNP. Restoring or strengthening connectivity between GNP and northern populations (i.e. Burundi) and maintaining connectivity within the GME through the protection of key areas for chimpanzee movements would help to safeguard genetic diversity and is of high significance for the species long term survival.

**Keywords:** Conservation genetics, great apes, gene flow, gene diversity, microsatellites, mitochondrial DNA

# 1. Introduction

Species are disappearing at an unprecedented rate with destruction of natural habitats and hunting representing the primary drivers (Lewis and Maslin, 2015; Pimm et al., 2014). The creation of protected areas is essential to reducing extinctions but by itself will not secure the conservation of biodiversity. A critical aspect of biodiversity conservation requires identifying, maintaining, and possibly enhancing connectivity between protected habitat patches (Rudnick et al., 2012). Genetic exchanges are vital to population persistence, not only preventing the deleterious effects of inbreeding and genetic drift (Frankham, 2015, 2005), but also providing opportunities to mitigate the negative impacts of new climatic and environmental pressures (Bijlsma and Loeschcke, 2005; Jump et al., 2009). Hence, quantifying genetic diversity and assessing of the amount of gene flow among populations represent key information for conservation planning (Frankham et al., 2011).

Chimpanzees are part of the ~30 000 species facing extinction (IUCN, 2020). Habitat loss (e.g. Junker et al., 2012; Kühl et al., 2017), poaching (e.g. McLennan et al., 2012; Strindberg et al., 2018) and infectious disease (Keele et al., 2009; Walsh et al., 2003) have all been documented to threaten chimpanzees' long-term survival. Tanzania is home to ~2 700 chimpanzees (Moyer et al., 2006), most of which are found at low density and outside of national parks (Piel and Stewart, 2014). Forest conversion to agricultural land, unsustainable timber extraction, and human settlement expansion are threatening the future of Tanzania's chimpanzees (Lasch et al., 2011; TAWIRI, 2018). Historically, two national parks were created to protect part of their distribution: Gombe National Park (GNP) was established in 1968 and now protects ~100 chimpanzees (Foerster et al. 2016, this study), while Mahale Mountains National Park (MMNP), which was created in 1985, is home to ~235 chimpanzees (Chitayat et al., 2021). The latter is part of the Greater Mahale Ecosystem (GME), an area of 18 000 km<sup>2</sup> estimated to host ~90% of Tanzania's chimpanzee population (Kano et al., 1999; Nakamura et al., 2013; Piel and Stewart, 2014; Plumptre et al., 2010; Yoshikawa et al., 2008). This mosaic ecosystem is mostly comprised of miombo woodland interspersed with riverine forest and is one of the driest places where chimpanzees occur (Moore, 1992). Across the GME, chimpanzees live at extremely low densities (range: 0.01 - 1.5) and have correspondingly large home ranges (Kano, 1972; Moore and Vigilant, 2014; Ogawa et al., 2007). These extraordinary patterns are logistically challenging to those trying to monitor the free-ranging populations of Tanzania's chimpanzees. To help protect the remaining chimpanzees, it is crucial to understand how genetic diversity is spatially distributed and maintain connectivity between populations.

Initial studies on gene flow and genetic diversity of Tanzanian chimpanzees have provided contrasting findings regarding connectivity between populations. Analysis of mitochondrial sequences of 138 fecal samples collected across western Tanzania revealed no shared haplotypes between GNP and other areas, although haplotypes were shared between GME chimpanzees and individuals from Lwazi, the southern part of their distribution, located 200 km further south (Inoue et al., 2011). Inoue et al. (2011) concluded that the Malagarasi River, a pre-rift time tributary of the Congo river (Kullander and Roberts, 2011) running between the GME and GNP (Figure 4.1), represented a barrier to chimpanzee movement, limiting gene flow. They also reported a low genetic differentiation index across the GME, suggesting the ecosystem was a single population and proposed historical chimpanzee dispersal from the southern population (i.e. Lwazi). However, later analyses revealed mitochondrial DNA haplotypes are shared between chimpanzees in GNP and the GME (Piel et al. 2013). Piel et al. (2013) also reported circumstantial evidence that chimpanzees cross the Malagarasi river using natural, shallow fords. Chimpanzees in GNP and northern GME are also infected with closely related strains of simian immunodeficiency virus (SIVcpz) (Rudicell et al., 2011), which suggests that the river does not form a complete barrier to chimpanzee movement. Further analysis found no SIVcpz positive

infections in over 400 samples collected across the southern GME, which suggest potential barriers within the GME (Piel et al. 2013). Whether a large refugee settlement – Mishamo - established in the 1980s in the middle of the ecosystem hinders chimpanzee gene flow across the GME is unknown (Moyer et al., 2006; Rudicell et al., 2011). The Lugufu river, which runs through the middle of the ecosystem, may also limit chimpanzee movement between the northern and southern GME populations (Piel and Stewart, 2014). Given the increasing pressure on chimpanzee habitat from settlement expansion and conversion to agriculture (Moyer et al., 2006; Piel and Stewart, 2014), clarifying connectivity and maintaining genetic diversity is vital to the species' long term survival.

In this study, we aimed to clarify the population genetic structure and examined the genetic diversity of chimpanzees across Tanzania by using both mitochondrial control region sequences and genotypes from 10 microsatellite loci. Specifically, our objectives were to: (1) detect historical or current connectivity between GNP and the GME: from previous studies, we hypothesized that historical gene flow occurred between the two ecosystems but that the two populations are now genetically isolated from one another, (2) investigate potential genetic structure within the GME: here we predict some structuring within GME due to potential barriers to movement and (3) assess genetic diversity within those ecosystems, i.e., is there any evidence of inbreeding that could impact on the long-term viability of this population?

# 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Samples

We analysed 234 faecal samples from 16 different sampling locations within the GME (Figure 4.1). We collected fresh samples opportunistically on transects and reconnaissance walks during a series of surveys led by the Greater Mahale Ecosystem Research and Conservation Project (GMERC) from 2011 to 2019. For each sample, approximately 15g of chimpanzee feces was collected into a tube containing 15-20ml of RNAlater (Ambion) and frozen on site at approximately -20°C from the day of collection. We mailed samples monthly to the Hahn laboratory at the Department of Microbiology, University of Pennsylvania, USA, where they were then stored at -80°C until analysis.

We also included genotypes from 135 individuals from GNP. Samples collected from 2002 were genotyped for previous analyses (Barbian et al., 2018; Keele et al., 2009) and updated with samples collected up to 2019. For the purposes of this study, the three GNP chimpanzee communities (i.e. Mitumba, Kasekela and Kalande) were used as representative "sample sites"; GNP and GME are hereafter referred to as ecosystems.



**Figure 4.1:** Distribution and location of faecal samples. Ind.: corresponding number of individual chimpanzees used for analyses

#### 2.2. Molecular techniques

#### 2.2.1. DNA extraction

We extracted faecal DNA using the QIAamp Stool DNA Mini kit (Qiagen, Valencia) as described in Keele et al. (2006). Briefly, 1.5 ml of fecal RNAlater mixture was resuspended in stool lysis buffer, clarified by centrifugation, reacted with an InhibitEx tablet (Qiagen, Valencia, CA), treated with proteinase K, and passed through a DNA binding column. Bound DNA was finally eluted in 200 µl elution buffer.

#### 2.2.2. mtDNA sequencing

We amplified a 498bp fragment of the mitochondrial hypervariable D-loop control region 1 (HV1) by Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) using the primers L15997 (5'-CACCATTAGCACCCAAAGCT-3') and H16498 (5'-CCTGAAGT AGGAACCAGATG-3'). PCR conditions were the same as for mtDNA amplification (Morin et al., 1994) except that an annealing temperature of 55°C was used and 55 amplification cycles were performed. We assembled and aligned the resulting sequences with Mega 7.0.26 (Kumar et al., 2016), along with georeferenced sequences from previous studies (Keele et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2008; Rudicell et al., 2011).

# 2.2.3. Microsatellite genotyping

We amplified 10 polymorphic autosomal microsatellite loci (Table S4.1) following the MiSeq-based approach developed by Barbian et al. (2018). Loci were amplified in one-step multiplex reaction using cycling conditions described in Barbian et al. (2018). For each sample, three replicate PCR reactions were combined in equal volume and diluted in nuclease-free sterile water (1:10) prior to MiSeq sequencing. Details about sequencing and data analysis pipeline using CHIIMP can be found in Barbian et al. (2018). Homozygous alleles were confirmed by sequencing at least two independent PCR amplicons. All samples with less than 8 loci confirmed were excluded from further analyses. In contrast with previously established methods, this approach can detect alleles of similar size that differ in their sequence. To be able to differentiate each allele and to fit the required integer input format of most population genetic software, we used sequential index numbers as identifiers. We chose microsatellites as opposed to single nucleotide repeats (SNPs) for our study because data were already available for GNP. Furthermore, microsatellites have been shown to perform comparably to SNPs in estimates of population genetic structure (Lemopoulos et al., 2019).

#### 2.3. Dataset preparation

Given non-invasive sampling of unhabituated chimpanzees across the GME, some individuals may have been sampled more than once. We conducted an identity analysis in Cervus 3.0.7 (Kalinowski et al., 2007) to distinguish individuals. Genotypes that mismatched at one or two loci were re-examined for possible genotyping errors or *allelic dropout*. We calculated the probability of identity pID and pIDsib (Waits et al., 2001) for each putative match in Cervus and used it to ensure that our loci could reliably discriminate individuals (e.g. pID < 0.0001) before merging the data into consensus genotypes. From the 234 samples collected across the GME, we identified 156 individuals.

The presence of related individuals can increase the signal of genetic differentiation. We thus calculated pairwise estimates of relatedness for all individuals (GNP and GME) using Coancestry 1.0.1.9 (Wang, 2011). We used 1000 bootstrap permutations to estimate relatedness at 95% confidence intervals. We excluded 62 individuals (61 from GNP and 1 from the GME) with a relatedness index above 0.75 (Mitchell et al., 2015) based on the triadic likelihood estimator (Wang, 2007). We used data for the remaining 229 unrelated individuals for subsequent analyses on population genetic structure and kept all individuals (291) for genetic diversity analyses.

We tested for the presence of possible *null alleles*, large *allelic dropout* or scoring error due to *stuttering* using the program Micro-checker 2.2.3 (Van Oosterhout et al., 2004). None of the loci showed evidence of genotyping error across GNP and the GME. We also tested for *linkage disequilibrium* (LD) and deviation from *Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium* (HWE) between all pairs of loci in Genepop 4.7.5 (Rousset, 2008). We observed no deviation from HWE and no evidence of LD after *sequential Bonferroni correction* when GNP and the GME were analysed separately. We therefore included all loci for further analyses.

# 2.4. Population genetic analysis

#### 2.3.1. Mitochondrial control region

We constructed a Median-joining haplotype network (Bandelt et al., 1999) using PopART 1.7 (Leigh and Bryant, 2015). We estimated measures of molecular diversity (*haplotype diversity* (h), *mean pairwise sequence difference* (MPD) and *nucleotide diversity* ( $\pi$ )) using ARLEQUIN 3.5.2.2 (Excoffier and Lischer, 2010).

We also performed analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) (Excoffier et al., 1992) in ARLEQUIN to estimate the variance between and within GNP and GME samples, with individuals grouped by sample site within these two areas. The obtained degree of genetic differentiation for haplotypic data ( $\varphi$ -statistics, analogous to Wright's *F-statistics* (Wright, 1943)) is calculated using information on the allelic content of haplotypes, as well as their frequencies (Excoffier et al., 1992). We subsequently investigated population structure using BAPS 6.0 (Cheng et al., 2013; Corander et al., 2003). We performed genetic mixture analyses with an upper bound of K = 19 and without prior information on geographic location. Results from mixture clustering were used to determine the optimal number of clusters, which were used to perform an admixture analysis.

#### 2.3.2. Microsatellites

We computed general statistics of microsatellite diversity for each sample site and among GNP and the GME. Microsatellite number of alleles (Na), *rarefied allelic richness* (Ar), *expected and observed heterozygosity* (H<sub>e</sub> and H<sub>o</sub>, respectively) and *inbreeding coefficients* (F<sub>1</sub>s) were obtained using the R package diveRsity 1.9.90 (Keenan et al., 2013).

We next examined hierarchical partitioning of genetic variation within and between populations and between ecosystems using analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) as implemented in the software ARLEQUIN (Excoffier and Lischer 2010). Estimates of pairwise Fst values were obtained using diveRsity 1.9.90 with significance of deviations from zero assessed using 1 000 bootstrap steps to generate 95% confidence intervals (Keenan et al., 2013). As recommended (Meirmans and Hedrick, 2011), we also calculated **standardized Fst (F'st)** as it is most suited for microsatellite loci due to their high polymorphism. Mantel tests were performed in GenAlex (Peakall and Smouse, 2012) to examine correlation between genotypic and geographic (Euclidean) distances.

To detect population structure, we ran admixture models in STRUCTURE v2.3.4 (Pritchard et al., 2000) without a priori assignment of samples to populations. Because STRUCTURE tends to underestimate the number of contributing populations when using unbalanced sample sizes, we used Wang (2017) recommendations and set the population-specific ancestry prior, decreased the initial  $\alpha$  to 1/K and used the uncorrelated allele frequency model. We conducted 10 independent runs for each assumed number of clusters (K) from 1 to 19 (e.g. number of sample sites). We used a burn-in of 10,000 and 100,000 Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) iterations. The independent runs of each cluster were merged and visualized using the R package Pophelper 2.3 (Francis, 2017). Optimal K values were determined in Pophelper using the log probability of the data [ln Pr (X|K)] (Pritchard et al., 2000) and the ad hoc statistic  $\Delta$ K based on the rate of

change in the log probability (Evanno et al., 2005). To investigate substructure, main clusters were subsequently analysed using the same method. As all individuals were available for GNP communities, Wang (2017) recommendations were not applied for cluster only comprising GNP. We also performed a principal component analysis (PCA) using the R package Adegenet 2.1.1. (Jombart, 2008) to visualize the genetic variability across Tanzania and within both ecosystems.

# 3. Results

#### 3.1. Mitochondrial control region

We identified 20 different mtDNA HV1 haplotypes with 38 variable sites from 293 individuals sampled across GNP and the GME (two samples failed to amplify). Of these, four haplotypes were shared between the GME and GNP, nine were specific to GNP and seven were specific to the GME.

Although the majority of haplotypes (16 out of 20) were specific to either GNP or the GME, no geographical partitioning appeared in the Median-joining haplotype network with GNP and the GME clustering together either by haplotype sharing or sequence similarity (Figure 4.2). A small number of mutational steps (1-4) were observed between each haplotype except for UG59 which diverged by 7 mutations (Figure 4.2). We observed two predominant haplotypes (GM7 and MH32) shared by two third of the individuals sampled within GME while a balanced distribution was found within GNP (Figure 4.2; Table S4.2).



**Figure 4.2:** Median-joining haplotype network of chimpanzee mitochondrial HV1 sequences. Haplotypes colours represent the geographic repartition. Hash marks on the haplotype edges indicate individual mutational steps.

Haplotype diversity was significantly higher in GNP than in the GME (P<sub>H</sub> <0.01, two-tailed Mann-Whitney U test). There was no significant difference between GNP and the GME for Nucleotide diversity (P<sub>SD</sub> = 0.261, two-tailed Mann-Whitney U test) and Mean pairwise difference (P<sub>MPD</sub> = 0.211, two-tailed Mann-Whitney U test). Among all sample sites, haplotype diversity was highest in Kalande (H = 0.985), whilst nucleotide diversity was highest in Kalobwe (SD = 0.019). Issa-BManga had the lowest haplotype and nucleotide diversity (H = 0.200, SD = 0.001) (Table S4.3).

Results from the AMOVA revealed that most of the mtDNA genetic variation (76.12%) was found within sample sites (Table S4.4). Genetic variation

between GNP and the GME accounted for 16.19% of the total variation. The remaining 7.69% was found among sample sites within ecosystems (i.e. GNP and GME). The fixation index between ecosystems was low ( $\varphi_{CT} = 0.162$ ) but significantly different from zero (p<0.0001). The global  $\varphi_{ST}$  value for the 19 sample sites across Tanzania was 0.239 and was significantly different from zero (p<0.0001).

A similar pattern was observed within GNP and the GME with most of the variation detected within sample sites (Table S4.4). No mtDNA structuring was detected within GNP ( $\varphi_{ST} = 0.000$ ; p-value = 0. 0.459), whereas significant structuring was found between sample sites within the GME ( $\varphi_{ST} = 0.137$ ; p-value = <0.0001). Only 1.36% of the genetic variance was attributed to differences between the north and south of the GME and the fixation index did not significantly differ from zero ( $\varphi_{CT} = 0.014$ ; p-value = 0.2268).

Mixture analyses using BAPS indicated that the data were optimally described by K = 10 clusters (highest Log likelihood -901.5562). Although some clusters were mainly found in GNP or in the GME, clusters did not sort by geographic location (Figure 4.3). This absence of a clear geographical pattern also held true when K=2 clusters was used (in accordance with the two main areas) (Figure 4.3).



**Figure 4.3**: Results of individual clustering analyses for mitochondrial data using BAPS for both K=2 and K=10 analyses. Vertical bars represent individuals with different colours corresponding to different inferred cluster. Mit: Mitumba; Kase: Kasekela; Kala: Kalande; Mas: Masito; ; Mlo: Mlofwesi; Her: Herembe; IssB : Issa-Bmanga; Muf: Mufumbasi; ; Iss: Issa; Kaj: Kajeje; Nta: Ntakata;

Kak: Kakungu; ; Mab: Mabungo; Kalo: Kalobwe; Bug: Bugwe; Mah: MMNP; Buj: Bujombe; Kash: Kashagulu; Wan: Wansisi

#### 3.1. Microsatellites

Overall genetic diversity estimates did not differ significantly between GNP and the GME ( $P_{Na} = 0.835$ ,  $P_{Ar}=0.943$ ,  $P_{Ho} = 1.000$ ,  $P_{He} = 0.933$ , 2-sample t-test). We observed no evidence of inbreeding at any sites (as indicated by the lower 95% confidence interval of F<sub>15</sub> never above 0) (Table S4.5).

Most of the variation in microsatellite allele frequencies was found within sample sites, both across GNP and the GME and within each ecosystem (Table S4.6). Allele frequency variation between GNP and the GME accounted for 9.04% of the total variation. Only 0.80% of the total variation found within the GME was attributed to north-south separation of the ecosystem. Fixation indices were significant for all partitions.

Indices of genetic differentiation between sample sites ranged from 0 to 0.180 for F<sub>ST</sub> and from 0 to 0.620 for F'<sub>ST</sub> (Figure S4.1). The lower 95% confidence interval indicated significant population differentiation between GNP communities and all GME samples sites for both F<sub>ST</sub> and F'<sub>ST</sub>. GNP communities were all significantly different from one another based on the latter index, although Mitumba and Kalande did not show significant differentiation for F<sub>ST</sub>. Within the GME, 43 and 54 out of 120 sample site comparisons showed significant differentiation for F<sub>ST</sub> and F'<sub>ST</sub>, respectively (Figure S4.1).

We found a pattern of isolation by distance (IBD) across all sample sites with significant correlation between  $F_{ST}$  and geographic distances (Mantel test: R = 0.626, P <0.001). However, this pattern was not detected within GNP (Mantel test: R = 0.039, P = 0.560) or within the GME (Mantel test, R = 0.141, P = 0.150) (Figure S4.2). The STRUCTURE analysis that specified K=2 correctly assigned individuals to either GNP or GME clusters with high probability (mean estimate membership coefficient q= 0.99) (Figure 4.4). The highest proportion of admixture was 29% for one individual sampled in Wansisi. The PCA corroborated STRUCTURE results and clearly separated GNP and the GME along the first axis. The first component explained 6.3% of the total variation while the second axis represented 2.4% of the variation.

We repeated STRUCTURE analyses within each cluster and found no clear evidence of substructure (Figure S4.3). Within GNP, K = 3 was favoured by Evanno's method but the highest Log likelihood was found for K = 1. Nonetheless, neither STRUCTURE nor the PCA revealed any clear structuring (Figure S4.3 - GNP). In the GME, both Evanno's method and the Log likelihood favoured K = 2 but no clear geographic pattern emerged from either STRUCTURE or PCA analyses (Figure S4.3 – GME).



**Figure 4.4:** Results of individual clustering analyses. **(a)** Plot of mean L(K) and  $\Delta$ K over 10 runs for each K value. **(b)** Bar plot created from STRUCTURE runs at K=2. Each vertical bar represents an individual with colours indicating the proportion of each individual assigned to each inferred cluster. **(c)** PCA plot of the 10 microsatellite loci for the entire dataset. Eigenvalues corresponding to the represented components are filled in black. Points represent genotypes; Populations are labelled inside their 95% inertia ellipses

# 4. Discussion

Despite extensive research into two focal communities – GNP and MMNP – we know relatively little about the conservation status of most of Tanzania's chimpanzees. Here, we built on previous genetic studies to investigate the potential connectivity and genetic diversity of Tanzanian chimpanzees. By incorporating new non-invasive samples across a large spatial scale and analysing two molecular markers, we were able to resolve previous contrasting findings. We confirmed historical chimpanzee movement across GNP and the GME, which today represent two populations completely isolated from one another. We found no clear geographic pattern of genetic differentiation within the GME, suggesting a high level of gene flow throughout the ecosystem. Finally, we found no evidence of inbreeding at any sites and a greater mtDNA genetic diversity within GNP compared with the GME.

#### Connectivity between GNP and the GME

No clear geographic pattern emerged from mtDNA haplotypes while clear clusters corresponding to GNP and the GME were revealed using microsatellite genotypes. This contrasting pattern could be explained by the different modes of inheritance and mutation rates of our genetic markers. In chimpanzees, as with most animals, mtDNA is inherited maternally, meaning that it is passed down from mothers to their offspring, while microsatellite genotypes are inherited from both parents. With female chimpanzees typically dispersing from their natal community and male typically being philopatric (e.g. Boesch and Boesch-Achermann, 2000; Michio Nakamura et al., 2015), we expect mtDNA to spread over longer distances and to see a greater genetic structure in microsatellite genotypes. Microsatellite markers also have higher evolutionary rates and are more likely to reveal contemporary genetic patterns while mtDNA are useful to reveal recent historical events (Frankham et al., 2004). The lack of geographic structuring in mtDNA haplotypes was therefore expected within GNP and supports the hypothesis of historical gene flow between GNP and the GME. Microsatellite distinct clusters, on the other hand, indicate a recent interruption of gene flow. The small amount of mtDNA haplotype-sharing between GNP and the GME could be explained by incomplete **lineage sorting**.

Evidence of widespread historic gene flow among eastern chimpanzee populations is well established with shared mtDNA haplotypes across the entire range of the subspecies (Goldberg and Ruvolo, 1997a; Morin et al., 1994). Our pattern of genetic variation across Tanzania is similar to the one reported across the eastern chimpanzee range (Goldberg and Ruvolo, 1997b) with most of the variation found within sample sites. However, our measure of genetic

differentiation (global  $\varphi_{ST}$  value of 0.239) is twice as high as the one reported (0.129) by Goldberg and Ruvolo (1997b), which is rather surprising given the smaller scale of our analysis. Greater genetic differentiation observed in our study could be the result of a reduction in gene flow due to increasing anthropogenic pressure on chimpanzee habitats in the 20 years since Goldberg and Ruvolo's (1997b) study. Nonetheless, given that GNP was the southern sample locality in Goldberg and Ruvolo's (1997b) study, genetic differentiation reported here between the GME and GNP could be greater than genetic differentiation between GNP and more northern populations despite being separated by longer geographic distances. Supporting this hypothesis, a more recent study comparing nine wild chimpanzee populations found higher  $\varphi_{ST}$  between GNP and M-group (from MMNP) than between GNP and three communities sampled in Uganda (Langergraber et al., 2011). Such differentiation could be due to the matrix of human settlements separating GNP and the GME (Pintea, 2007) and long standing geographic barriers (e.g. rivers) reducing the amount of gene flow between the two habitats.

The GNP and GME are indeed separated by more than 50km of flat terrain with sparse gallery forest and a relatively dense human population. Given that chimpanzees in Tanzania are known to select hilly areas with riparian forests (Hernandez-Aguilar, 2006; Kano, 1972; Moyer et al., 2006; Ogawa et al., 2013; Piel and Stewart, 2014), these unsuitable chimpanzee habitats could limit chimpanzee movement. In addition, the Malagarasi river separates GNP and the GME. Circumstantial evidence suggests that chimpanzees can move across the river using a natural, shallow ford (Piel et al., 2013) and there is evidence of historical gene flow across Tanzania (Piel et al., 2013; this study). However, the 100m wide river surely limits gene flow and could be responsible for the higher genetic distance observed between GNP and other Tanzanian populations then GNP and northern populations (i.e. Ugandan sites). Further investigation that includes all eastern chimpanzee haplotypes would allow us to better understand the genetic position of GNP and GME chimpanzees within the species' range.

#### Genetic structure within the GME

Previous studies proposed that the GME comprised one panmictic population (Inoue et al., 2011; Yoshikawa et al., 2008). However, other studies have highlighted potential barriers limiting chimpanzee movement between northern and southern populations in the GME (Moyer et al., 2006; Piel et al., 2013; Rudicell et al., 2011). Our AMOVA analysis revealed significant differentiation within the GME, however a division north-south of the ecosystem explained less than 2% of the total mtDNA variation and less than 1% of the microsatellite variation (Table S4.4 and S4.6). Pairwise Fst values also indicated significant differentiation between one third of all sample sites, although this should be interpreted with caution given the large sampling error when estimated from small sample sizes (Puechmaille, 2016). A large refugee settlement established in the 80s located in the middle of the GME was hypothesized to separate the ecosystem or at least hinder chimpanzee movement (Moyer et al., 2006; Rudicell et al., 2011). Although the genetic consequences of this relatively recent event are unlikely to be already visible (50 years representing ~2 chimpanzee generations), unsuitable chimpanzee habitats in the area prior to the establishment of this settlement could have hindered chimpanzee movement north-south of the ecosystem (Bonnin et al., 2020). Habitat connectivity modelling revealed narrow corridors allowing gene flow throughout the ecosystem (Bonnin et al., 2020). This could explain the absence of both genetic structuring and genetic isolation by distance within the GME. It is possible that different landscape features have shaped the genetic structure of GME chimpanzees. Future landscape genetic analyses will help to better understand how landscape features are impacting chimpanzee movement. Across the GME, chimpanzees live at extremely low densities and have large home ranges (Moore and Vigilant 2014; Piel and Stewart,

unpublished data). These extraordinary patterns may also result in a shift in social structure and consequently, affect population genetic structure. Further analyses using sex-specific markers or conducting separated analyses for each sex would help us to examine the role of sex-specific dispersal patterns.

### Genetic diversity

Our data provide no evidence of inbreeding at any sites and even suggest a greater mtDNA genetic diversity within GNP than across the GME. This is surprising given that GNP is much smaller than the GME and is thought to be isolated from other nearby populations (Pintea et al., 2011; Pusey et al., 2007). Morin et al. (1994) reported surprisingly high within-community mtDNA genetic diversity and attributed it to females mediating gene flow. Inoue et al. (2011) also found greater genetic diversity in GNP than in five other sampled Tanzanian habitats. Evidence of Gombe females' preference for genetically dissimilar mates might have played a role in avoiding inbreeding and optimizing genetic diversity (Walker et al., 2016). It is also possible that GNP chimpanzees are not completely isolated and exchange genes with northern populations. With GNP chimpanzees sharing mtDNA haplotypes reported up to Uganda (Goldberg and Ruvolo, 1997a; Inoue et al., 2011; Morin et al., 1994). GNP may still be part of a large population including Burundi, Rwanda, Uganda and DRC. Females periodically arrive in GNP from unknown origin (Walker et al., 2016). Although the park is primarily surrounded by anthropogenic landscapes, chimpanzees have been reported crossing highly fragmented landscapes in other parts of their range (McCarthy et al., 2015). On the other hand, the unusual geographic location of GME chimpanzees - which marks the southeastern limit of Pan distribution may also be responsible for the lower mtDNA diversity observed (Lester et al. in press). With Lake Tanganyika separating them from western populations and the Malagarasi river and unsuitable habitats limiting gene flow from the north, new alleles coming from neighbouring populations are less likely to reach the GME

104

chimpanzees. It is also possible that due to the opportunistic nature of sampling within the GME, some genetic variability was missed. Contrary to GNP, for which we had access to genotype data for nearly all individuals, we estimate that we sampled less than 10% of chimpanzees present in the GME. Larger sampling would confirm the pattern observed. Combining our data with published haplotypes reported by Inoue and colleagues (2011) would have increased our sample size and would have allowed the inclusion of Lwazi, the southern part of chimpanzee distribution in Tanzania. However, Inoue and colleague's sequences were 167bp shorter and missing mutation sites revealed in our haplotypes, thus, we decided not to include them in our analysis.

# 5. Conclusion

Our results provide additional evidence for historical gene flow between GNP and the GME, which now represent two distinct genetic clusters completely isolated from one another. The current population structure supports the designation of GNP and GME as two managements units, in that they represent the logical unit for population monitoring and demographic study (Moritz, 1994). In addition to a complete loss of gene flow between the two areas, chimpanzees in the GME seems to be adapted to a very different type of habitat, ranging across larger home ranges in a more open and dry landscape. However, the evidence of historical gene flow through mtDNA haplotype sharing suggests that habitat restoration could allow the two populations to exchange migrants again.

Despite loss of connectivity between the two ecosystems and increasing anthropogenic pressure on chimpanzee habitat (Piel et al., 2015a; Piel and Stewart, 2014; TAWIRI, 2018; Yoshikawa et al., 2008), we found high levels of gene flow and genetic diversity within both the GNP and the GME. Given the long generation time of chimpanzees, the genetic consequences of recent landscape changes may not be detectable yet. If the GNP is also isolated from populations to the north, the population of ~100 chimpanzees remains vulnerable to inbreeding depression. Restoring or strengthening connectivity between GNP and northern populations could help to safeguard their genetic diversity and long-term viability. With the GME hosting over 90% of Tanzania's chimpanzee population, protecting remaining suitable habitats and maintaining connectivity across this vast ecosystem is of key importance to maintain a large viable population of chimpanzee. By focusing conservation effort on key corridors highlighted by habitat connectivity models (Bonnin et al., in press), we can best maintain gene flow and balance needs of communities and chimpanzees.

# Acknowledgments

We are grateful to TAWIRI, COSTECH, and the Uvinza, Mpanda and Kigoma Districts for permission to conduct research in western Tanzania. The Nature Conservancy, Frankfurt Zoological Society, and the Jane Goodall Institute provided substantial financial, logistical, and administrative support. We are also extremely grateful to JGI and GMERC field assistants in Tanzania. The UCSD/Salk Center for Academic Research and Training in Anthropogeny (CARTA) for long-term support of GMERC. Many thanks to Dr Begoña Martínez-Cruz and Adeline Morez for helpful discussions on population genetic analyses.

# **Supplementary Materials**



**Figure S4.1:** Genetic differentiation index between sample sites. a)  $F_{ST}$  (Weir & Cockerham, 1984) b) F' <sub>ST</sub> (Hedrick, 2005). Italic and bold indicate significant population differentiation (lower 95% confidence interval > 0)



Figure S4.2: Isolation by distance analysis.

Genetic distances plotted against geographic distance for the full dataset and within each ecosystem. Each point represents pairwise comparison between sample. The trend line indicates the least-squares regression estimate. Mantel test results for correlation between genetic and geographic distance are displayed at the bottom of each plot
GNP

GME



**Figure S4.3:** Results of individual clustering analyses for GNP and the GME. **(a)** Plot of mean L(K) and ΔK over 10 runs for each K value. **(b)** Bar plot created from structure. Each vertical bar represents an individual with colours indicating the proportion of each individual assigned to each of the inferred cluster. **(c)** PCA plot of the 10 microsatellite loci for the entire dataset. Eigenvalues corresponding to the represented components are filled in black. Points represent genotypes; breeds are labelled inside their 95% inertia ellipses. Mit: Mitumba; Kase: Kasekela; Kala: Kalande; Bug: Bugwe; Iss: Issa; IssB : Issa-Bmanga; Kaj: Kajeje; Mas: Masito; Mlo: Mlofwesi; Muf: Mufumbasi; Buj: Bujombe; Her: Herembe; Kak: Kakungu; Kalo: Kalobwe; Kash: Kashagulu; Mab: Mabungo; Mah: MMNP; Nta: Ntakata; Wan: Wansisi

2

3

Table S4.1: STR loci used for MiSeq genotyping

Locus	Code	Forward primer sequence <sup>a</sup>	Reverse primer sequence <sup>a</sup>	Size range (bp) <sup>b</sup>
D18S536	А	5'-ATTATCACTGGTGTTAGTCCTCTG-3'	5'-CACAGTTGTGTGAGCCAGTC-3'	131-179
D4S243	В	5'-TCAGTCTCTCTTTCTCCTTGCA-3'	5'-TAGGAGCCTGTGGTCCTGTT-3'	194-235
D10S676	С	5'-GAGAACAGACCCCCAAATCT-3'	5'-ATTTCAGTTTTACTATGTGCATGC-3'	155-200
D9S922	D	5'-TCAGAGGACCACTGCCTAAG-3'	5'-CTGATGGGATTTGTGCCTAT-3'	263-307
D2S1326	1	5'-AGACAGTCAAGAATAACTGCCC-3'	5'-CTGTGGCTCAAAAGCTGAAT-3'	232-270
D5s1457	FP1	5'-TAGGTTCTGGGCATGTCTGT-3'	5'-TGCTTGGCACACTTCAGG-3'	91-147
D1s550	FP2	5'-CCTGTTGCCACCTACAAAAG-3'	5'-TAAGTTAGTTCAAATTCATCAGTGC-3'	136-180
D4s2408	FP3	5'-AATAAACTTCAACTTCAATTCATCC-3'	5'-AGGTAAAGGCTCTTCTTGGC-3'	274-298
D11s2002	FP4	5'-CATGGCCCTTCTTTCATAG-3'	5'-AGTGTGAGCCACCACCAGC-3'	136-160
D17S974	NMS5	5'-AGACCCTGTCTCAGATAGATGG-3'	5'-TAAAATAGAAAGTGCCCCTCC-3'	188-216

<sup>a</sup>STR loci were amplified as previously described (Keele *et al.* 2009b; Rudicell *et al.* 2010), except for the addition of MiSeq adapters at the 5' end of both forward (5'-TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAG-3)' and reverse (5'-GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAG-3') primers.

<sup>b</sup>All selected loci fell within the size range of the sequencing chemistry (Illumina v2 chemistry, 500 cycle kit) and were thus sequenced without fragmentation using only the forward reads (<400 bp).

	Nucleotides positions of variables sites			<u> </u>		<u> </u>				Sam	ple s	sites									
Haplotype	<b>56</b> 94 94 144 144 189 189 189 189 188 285 292 292 292 293 294 295 293 294 295 295 295 295 295 296 296 296 296 296 296 296 296 296 296	Arie	tendo.	and the	Me.	AR.	logo x	Mar 800	les all		Her.	Viet .	A A A	Mer Su	40000 A	broule brough	And .	Britis	ter de	W Sult	Pors,
GM1	TAACCCCTATCACCCCATCCGATAATCTCTTCCCACGC	7	14																		21
GM2	T	4	4	3																	11
GM3	T C C T	1	5	4																	10
GM4	. G		4	1																	5
GM5			11																		11
GM6	. A C. G. CG. CA C C	7	13					1													21
GM7			4		2	4		3	3	1	3	7		12	4	5	3	2	3	5	61
GM8		3	2	1																	6
GM9	C A. T. TC	1	2	1									3								7
GM10		4	1	3	1	1			2	3		1					1				17
GM11	T T A C C C	3	13	3																	19
GM12	C	4	7																		11
GM13	T	1	2	3																	6
GME1	. G C T T T A. T C T C T C. C											1	1		1						3
GME8	. A T. C C C G. C AC. CC. C											1									1
GME11	C G T. T. T T. TT											1									1
UG59 <sup>a</sup>	T. G. TA TC								6	1	2			1	4	2	2		1		19
UG135 <sup>a</sup>	G C. A T. C. T C GG CC CA. G.								1			1									2
MH32 <sup>a</sup>	A CGC TA T AA TC				7	1	9	3		7	3	3	1	4		2		1	2	5	48
MH37 <sup>a</sup>							1		1			3	1		2		2		3		13
Total		35	82	19	10	6	10	7	13	12	8	18	6	17	11	9	8	3	9	10	293*

Table S4.2: Nucleotide sequence differences and geographic distribution of Tanzanian' chimpanzees mtDNA control region haplotypes

In red, haplotypes found in GNP; in bleu, haplotypes found in the GME; in black, haplotypes found both in GNP and the GME.

<sup>a</sup> Haplotype already documented in GenBank

\* Two samples failed to amplify

	Table S4.3: (	Genetic variability	v of mtDNA	observed ir	the GNP	and the (	GME and	across
sample	sites							

	Ν	Нр	Н	SD	MPD
GNP	136	13	0.906 +/- 0.008	0.016 +/- 0.008	8.158 +/- 3.808
Mitumba	35	10	0.889 +/- 0.024	0.017 +/- 0.009	8.232 +/- 3.909
Kasekela	82	13	0.893 +/- 0.013	0.016 +/- 0.008	8.114 +/- 3.804
Kalande	19	8	0.895 +/- 0.035	0.015 +/- 0.008	7.649 +/- 3.732
GME	157*	11	0.754 +/- 0.021	0.015 +/- 0.008	7.137 +/- 3.365
Masito	10	3	0.511 +/- 0.164	0.009 +/- 0.005	4.267 +/- 2.309
Mlofwesi	6	3	0.600 +/- 0.215	0.013 +/- 0.008	6.133 +/- 3.399
Issa-BManga	10	2	0.200 +/- 0.154	0.001 +/- 0.001	0.400 +/- 0.403
Mufumbasi	7	3	0.714 +/- 0.127	0.014 +/- 0.008	6.571 +/- 3.535
Issa	13	5	0.756 +/- 0.097	0.018 +/- 0.010	8.795 +/- 4.340
Kajeje	12	4	0.636 +/- 0.128	0.010 +/- 0.006	4.833 +/- 2.537
Herembe	8	3	0.750 +/- 0.097	0.017 +/- 0.010	8.357 +/- 4.333
Ntakata	18	8	0.824 +/- 0.072	0.014 +/- 0.008	6.732 +/- 3.329
Kakungu	6	4	0.800 +/- 0.172	0.010 +/- 0.007	4.800 +/- 2.728
Mabungo	17	3	0.471 +/- 0.118	0.010 +/- 0.006	5.000 +/- 2.557
Kalobwe	11	4	0.764 +/- 0.083	0.019 +/- 0.011	9.055 +/- 4.518
Bugwe	9	3	0.667 +/- 0.132	0.016 +/- 0.009	7.611 +/- 3.922
MMNP	8	4	0.821 +/- 0.101	0.018 +/- 0.011	8.857 +/- 4.574
Bujombe	3	2	0.667 +/- 0.314	0.014 +/- 0.011	6.667 +/ -4.328
Kashagulu	9	4	0.806 +/- 0.089	0.015 +/- 0.009	7.111 +/- 3.685
Wansisi	10	2	0.556 +/- 0.075	0.012 +/- 0.007	5.556 +/- 2.916

Sample size (N), number of haplotypes (Hp), haplotype (gene) diversity (H), nucleotide diversity (SD) and mean pairwise difference (MPD) \* Two samples failed to amplify

Table S4.4: Hierarchical	analyses	of molecular	variation	(AMOVA)	) for mtDNA	HVRI
	2			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

	Variance	Percentage	Fixation	n value		
Partition	components	of variation	Indices	p-value		
Among ecosystems (φCT)	0.762	16.45	0.164	< 0.01		
Among sample sites within ecosystems ( $\varphi$ SC)	0.305	6.58	0.079	< 0.0001		
Within sample sites ( $\varphi$ ST)	3.565	76.97	0.230	< 0.0001		
	Within GNP					
Among sample sites	0.042	1.03				
Within sample sites ( $\varphi$ ST)	4.045	98.97	0.010	0.151		
		Within C	GME			
Among regions <sup>b</sup> ( $\varphi$ CT)	0.049	1.36	0.014	0.2268		
Among sample sites within regions <sup>b</sup> ( $\phi$ SC)	0.448	12.36	0.125	< 0.0001		
Within sample sites ( $\varphi$ ST)	3.125	86.28	0.137	< 0.0001		
<sup>a</sup> Ecosystems referring to GNP and GME						

<sup>b</sup> Regions defined as north and south of the GME

-	N	Na	Ar	Ho	He	FIS (II III)
	10(	1 <b>\a</b>	0.000	0.000	0.500	
GNP	136	9.6	9.320	0.800	0.780	-0.034 (-0.060,-0.007)
Mitumba	35	7.7	3.520	0.790	0.770	-0.020 (-0.064,0.022)
Kasekela	82	8.7	3.490	0.810	0.750	-0.088 (-0.122,-0.054)
Kalande	19	7.4	3.650	0.780	0.780	-0.002 (-0.103,0.097)
GME	159	9.9	9.23	0.81	0.78	-0.039 (-0.064,-0.013)
Masito	10	6.1	3.59	0.900	0.750	-0.193 (-0.309,-0.107)
Mlofwesi	6	3.6	2.72	0.800	0.650	-0.221 (-0.486,-0.036)
Issa-BManga	11	5.5	3.29	0.790	0.740	-0.067 (-0.201,0.064)
Mufumbasi	7	4.4	3.01	0.810	0.670	-0.207 (-0.391,-0.051)
Issa	13	5.6	3.3	0.790	0.730	-0.077 (-0.179,-0.005)
Kajeje	12	5.2	3.04	0.770	0.720	-0.071 (-0.198,0.041)
Herembe	9	5.9	3.33	0.820	0.720	-0.143 (-0.259,-0.069)
Ntakata	18	6.8	3.57	0.880	0.770	-0.143 (-0.210,-0.081)
Kakungu	6	4.4	2.91	0.740	0.590	-0.256 (-0.467,-0.140)
Mabungo	17	6.6	3.31	0.800	0.730	-0.096 (-0.174,-0.026)
Kalobwe	11	5.7	3.38	0.840	0.740	-0.138 (-0.228,-0.078)
Bugwe	9	5.4	3.31	0.790	0.710	-0.110 (-0.249,-0.020)
Bujombe	3	2.7	2.28	0.750	0.530	-0.421 (-0.939,-0.050)
MMNP	8	4.7	3.04	0.800	0.660	-0.216 (-0.399,-0.085)
Kashagulu	9	5.2	3.01	0.680	0.700	0.017 (-0.192,0.230)
Wansisi	10	5.1	3.19	0.840	0.710	-0.171 (-0.2740.087)

Table S4.5: Summary statistics of genetic diversity averaged across 10 microsatellite loci across GNP and the GME

Sample size (N), Mean number of alleles per locus (Na), rarefied allelic richness (Ar), observed and expected heterozygosity (Ho and He, respectively), inbreeding coefficient (FIS) and 95% confidence intervals lower (LL) and upper (UL) limits.

Table S4.6: Hierarchical	analyses of molecular	variation (AMOVA)	for 10 microsatellite loci
--------------------------	-----------------------	-------------------	----------------------------

Partition	Variance components	Percentage of variation	Fixation Indices	p-value
	Across GNP and GME			
Among ecosystems <sup>a</sup> (F <sub>CT</sub> )	0.264	9.04	0.09	< 0.0001
Among sample sites within $ecosystems^{a}$ (F <sub>SC</sub> )	0.07	2.39	0.026	< 0.0001
Within sample sites (F <sub>ST</sub> )	2.588	88.56	0.114	< 0.0001
		Within GNP		
Among sample sites	0.07	2.21		
Within sample sites (F <sub>ST</sub> )	3.087	97.79	0.022	< 0.001
		Within GME		
Among regions <sup>b</sup> ( $F_{CT}$ )	0.02	0.8	0.008	< 0.05
Among sample sites within regions $^{\rm b}$ (F <sub>SC</sub> )	0.06	2.11	0.021	< 0.0001
Within sample sites (F <sub>ST</sub> )	2.86	97.1	0.029	< 0.0001

<sup>a</sup> Ecosystems referring to GNP and GME

<sup>b</sup> Regions defined as north and south of the GME

# Chapter 5: General conclusion

In this dissertation, I have demonstrated the potential of combining remote sensing and genetic approaches to monitor chimpanzees and their habitat across large spatial and temporal scales. This dissertation has highlighted some of the opportunities in using emerging remote sensing technologies for chimpanzee monitoring and has provided detailed information on where to focus conservation efforts to protect and preserve a large, viable population of chimpanzee.

## **Findings overview**

#### Drones for chimpanzee monitoring

The results from chapter 2 demonstrate the feasibility of using drones to detect chimpanzee nests in the mosaic landscape of western Tanzania. This study adds to a growing body of literature on the potential of drone technology for wildlife monitoring (Wich and Koh, 2018). Although the technology has been used across a wide range of taxa, only few studies have investigated the potential of drones for primate monitoring (3 out of 68 studies reported in Which and Koh 2018). Nearly a decade ago, Koh and Wich (2012) first demonstrated the feasibility of using a drone to detect Sumatran orangutans (Pongo abelii). Their low-cost prototype drone fitted with a standard camera was able to capture a wild Sumatran orangutan on top of a palm tree. Three years later, chimpanzee (Pan *troglodytes*) nests were counted from drone-acquired images in Gabon (van Andel et al., 2015), followed by a similar study on orangutan nests in Indonesia (Wich et al., 2015). Both studies reported successful detection of great ape nests and highlighted the potential of drones for great ape surveys, especially in open habitat, where nest detection was higher. The study presented in chapter 2 follows-up on these findings. With most (~75%) Tanzanian chimpanzees found outside national parks in an area characterised as one of the most open habitats in which chimpanzee inhabit (Moore, 1992), drones appeared as a promising tool for

chimpanzee surveys in the country. A significant correlation was observed between the number of nests detected from the air and those recorded on the ground but only a small proportion (9.6%) of the nests spotted from the ground were detected from the air. Surprisingly, detection tended to be lower in open vegetation than in closed forest. The discontinuous miombo-woodland colours composed by green leaves and visible brown understory had created a difficult background from which to accurately identify brown nests. Although the chapter highlighted potential challenges in using drones for chimpanzee surveys, the study provided guidance for future investigations and highlighted the importance of contrasting background and high resolution images.

# Satellite imagery and molecular markers to assess chimpanzee connectivity and viability

In chapters 3 and 4, I used satellite imagery and molecular markers to investigate chimpanzee connectivity across western Tanzania. By using remote sensing data from 1973 and a land-cover projection for 2027, I was able to map historical habitat connectivity for chimpanzees and predict the impact of future forest loss. The results suggest historical connectivity throughout the Greater Mahale Ecosystem (GME), the ecosystem containing nearly the entire free-ranging population of Tanzania's chimpanzees (Plumptre et al., 2010). The analysis also revealed a reduction of connectivity since 1973, which is likely to continue through 2027 and beyond if no effective conservation actions are enacted. In fact, 2 426 km<sup>2</sup> of forest are predicted to be lost by 2027 (Shoch et al., 2019), adding to the 1 677 km<sup>2</sup> already lost since 1973 (as revealed by the Landsat analyses from chapter 2). The reduction of forest, especially the destruction of entire blocks of riparian forests, and arrival of thousands of humans in the ecosystem has had a significant impact on chimpanzee habitat and movement corridors.

In chapter 4, I investigated the potential consequences of such disruptions on the genetic diversity and population structure of Tanzanian chimpanzees. I analysed 234 faecal samples collected across the GME along with genotypes from 136 individuals from Gombe National Park (GNP) and found no evidence of inbreeding and a greater genetic diversity within GNP compared with the GME. This result was rather surprising given that GNP is significantly smaller than the GME and was thought to be isolated from any other chimpanzee populations for decades (Pintea et al., 2011; Pusey et al., 2007). Behavioural adaptations to avoid inbreeding such as selecting mates genetically distant (Walker et al., 2016) and possible connectivity between GNP chimpanzees and northern populations (e.g. Burundi) may explain this unexpected result. Using both mitochondrial control region sequences and genotypes from 10 microsatellite markers, I was also able to resolve previous contrasting findings on connectivity between GNP and the GME (Inoue et al., 2011; Piel et al., 2013). Mitochondrial DNA analyses confirmed historical chimpanzee movement across GNP and the GME while microsatellite markers revealed a complete interruption of gene flow in recent years. No clear geographic pattern emerged within the GME for both markers from Bayesian cluster analyses. However, AMOVA analysis and Pairwise Fst values indicated significant differentiation between sample sites which could not be explained by a division North-South of the ecosystem, nor via isolation by distance. The narrow corridors connecting the ecosystem revealed in chapter 3 could be responsible for the observed genetic pattern.

### **Conservation implications**

Fifteen years ago, Tanzania was estimated to be home to ~2 700 chimpanzees (Moyer et al., 2006), scattered across ~20 000 km<sup>2</sup> (Humle et al., 2016). With less than 10% of their range protected by national parks, the majority of Tanzanian chimpanzees are facing increasing pressure from habitat loss, degradation and fragmentation (Davenport et al., 2010; Moyer et al., 2006; Piel et al., 2015a; Piel and Stewart, 2014; Plumptre et al., 2010). Improving connectivity and enhancing

protection of chimpanzees outside of national parks was identified as essential by the most recent national conservation action plan for the species (TAWIRI, 2018). The results from chapters 3 and 4 compiled key information to support decisionmaking and guide management of the remaining chimpanzees. Chapter 3 has highlighted areas on where to focus conservation efforts (Figure 3.5), not only to protect current chimpanzee habitat, but also critical corridors for connectivity that might be classified as only moderately suitable chimpanzee habitat. Our model output represents a useful base on which to build detailed land-use planning, benefiting the long-term chimpanzee conservation and the local community (e.g. Zeller et al. 2013). By identifying critical areas for chimpanzee movement, our output map could help to better allocate land for biodiversity conservation but also for food production and economic development. Our connectivity map can also provide guidance on mitigation projects such as providing the most suitable location for wildlife crossing structures over roads (e.g. tunnels, bridges, speed bumps, informative signs). Finally, by providing fine scale measure of habitat importance for chimpanzees, landscape connectivity models along with species distance models can be used to quantify biodiversity co-benefit of climate mitigation projects such as REDD+ projects (Dickson et al., in press).

Results from chapter 4 also provide guidance for effective conservation. Our genetic data provide evidence of complete interruption of gene flow between GNP and the GME supporting the establishment of two conservation units (e.g. isolated populations identified within species that are used to help guide management and conservation efforts (Fraser and Bernatchez, 2001)). In addition to being adapted to very different types of habitat (GNP chimpanzees live in forest while most GME individuals range across a more open and dry landscape), the two ecosystems now represent distinct genetic clusters completely isolated from one another. Our findings suggested a high level of gene flow and genetic diversity maintained within both GNP and the GME. The GNP population of ~100 chimpanzees distributed across 35km<sup>2</sup> remains vulnerable to inbreeding – especially because genetic consequences of recent landscape changes have the potential to

117

manifest decades into the future (Landguth et al., 2010) - however, our results suggest possible connectivity with northern chimpanzee populations which could act as a genetic rescue. We have shared our results with GNP researchers and conservationists and are hopeful that GNP can continue hosting a viable population of chimpanzees by restoring or strengthening connectivity with northern populations. With the GME hosting over 90% of Tanzania's chimpanzee population, we propose protecting the remaining suitable habitat and maintaining connectivity by focusing conservation effort on the key corridors highlighted in chapter 3 as key strategies to maintain a large viable population of chimpanzees.

## **Research perspectives**

#### The future of drones for primate monitoring

Since our results from chapter 2 were published, several other studies have been released describing similarly encouraging results for drones to become a valuable tool for primate monitoring. Contrary to earlier studies, which used standard visual spectrum (RGB) cameras, several of the recent studies used drones fitted with Thermal Infrared (TIR) cameras. Using infrared radiation, these cameras detect the body heat emitted from animals. This drone/ TIR camera pairing has now demonstrated successful detection for seven species of primate across Asia and South America : Howler monkey (Alouatta palliata), Black-handed spider monkeys (*Ateles geoffroyi*) (Kays et al., 2018), Geoffroy's spider monkeys (A. geoffroyi) (Spaan et al., 2019), Bornean orangutans (Pongo pygmaeus), proboscis monkeys (Nasalis larvatus) (Burke et al., 2019), Sichuan snub-nosed monkey (*Rhinopithecus roxellana*) (Gang et al., 2020) and Hainan gibbon (*Nomascus hainanus*) (Zhang et al., 2020). These studies all indicate that a TIR camera fitted to a drone offers an exciting new tool to monitor primate populations. However, false positives (e.g. incorrect detection) and species identification remain a challenge. When the canopy structure is composed of numerous emergent trees, drone altitude is limited, necessarily higher than the tallest trees. As a consequence, pixel resolution is generally insufficient to detect clear shapes and identify animals at

the species level (Kays et al., 2018; Spaan et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2020). Several solutions to address the challenges have been proposed. Kays et al. (2018) suggested that future work should combine thermal imagery with infrared spotlights or colour flash so that additional bands in the electromagnetic spectrum could be used to facilitate species identification. Burke et al. (2019) suggested developing an autonomous on-board system halting the drone and reducing its flight altitude above automatically detected animals, allowing sufficient resolution to identify the species.

With detection mainly influenced by image resolution (Bonnin et al., 2018), the rapid pace at which drone and sensor technologies are improving along with the developments in the field of Computer Science, in particular machine learning (Lamba et al., 2019), suggests many promising opportunities in the near-future for monitoring distribution and potentially density of chimpanzees and other great apes.

#### Connectivity model improvement and genetic data integration

Modelling connectivity for wildlife conservation is a growing field with a wide range of methods now available to measure and map landscape resistance to movements (Bocedi et al., 2014; Correa Ayram et al., 2016). In chapter 3, I chose to derive resistance values using circuit theory (Mcrae et al., 2008), allowing me to develop a landscape-scale permeability map that was independent of an priori source or destination locations. Contrary to least-cost path, the other popular modelling approach for identifying and quantifying landscape connectivity, circuit theory considers all possible routes and does not assume that individuals have perfect knowledge of the landscape (McClure et al., 2016). Not only is this approach more likely to accurately represent chimpanzee long distance movement, but it can also be performed by randomly placing regularly distanced nodes around a buffer perimeter, removing the challenge of defining focal nodes within the study areas (Koen et al., 2014). With the majority of Tanzanian chimpanzees found outside national park boundaries and an unknown number of

populations, this approach has reduced the bias associated with choosing random nodes within the GME. However, a recent study using both modelling approaches to identify corridors between two Gabonese national parks found that least-cost path performed better than circuit theory in predicting corridors for western lowland gorillas (Gorilla gorilla gorilla) and central chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes *troglodytes*) (Vanthomme et al., 2019). Further work testing the sensitivity of using least-cost path analyses on the landscape connectivity output will help us to better understand how chimpanzees move across the landscape. Large continuous suitable habitat patches could be used to define nodes within the study area (D'Elia et al., 2019; Maiorano et al., 2019). By projecting our model to 1973 and 2027, we were able to assess connectivity change for chimpanzees across a large temporal scale, however, the approach restricted the number of predictor variables we could include in our model (e.g. difficulty of accessing reliable settlement and road data for 1973). Future investigations focusing on current predictions would benefit from including additional variables such as roads, rivers, settlements, and vegetation indices.

To fully exploit the potential of our connectivity model to informing sustainable management decisions, validating our model would be a crucial step forward. One way to achieve this would be to collect independent field data (Crooks and Sanjayan, 2006). Chimpanzee data collected through additional line transect surveys, camera traps, or passive acoustic monitoring could be used to evaluate the model by assessing the correlation between connectivity values and chimpanzee density (Laliberté and St-Laurent, 2020). Another approach would be to integrate genetic data to parameterise resistance surface. Landscape genetic methods assess multiple alternative resistance models to determine the optimal resistance values that best describe pairwise genetic differentiation (e.g. Fst). This approach thoroughly investigates the relationship between landscape features and gene flow, allowing a detailed understanding of how landscape features affect animal movements (Balkenhol et al., 2016). Applied with our data, this method would help us to better understand the impact of roads, rivers and land-cover change for chimpanzee movement within Tanzania. Additionally, by extending our analysis to the entire Tanzanian chimpanzee range and including samples across the Tanzania - Burundi border, we could investigate chimpanzee movement at the trans-national scale. Not only would these additional data inform protection of the entire Tanzanian chimpanzee population, but also make a difference at the eastern chimpanzee subspecies level.

# Glossary

Adaptive potential: Potential to adapt to environmental change.

**Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP):** A dominant molecular marker that genotypes individuals at multiple loci. Amplified DNA is digested with restriction enzymes,

adapters are attached to the ends of amplified fragments, and a subset of fragments is then

re-amplified to generate a multi-band pattern

**Allelic dropout**: Failure of a microsatellite allele to amplify in some PCR reactions, especially when low-quality DNA is the template.

**Allelic Richness (Ar):** Allelic diversity (average number of allele per locus) standardized to a particular sample size

**Circuit theory:** Principles applied to electric circuits in which electric current flow from one node (connection point) to another through resistors (electrical components that conduct current). Applied to movement ecology, circuit theory treats the landscape as if it were a large electrical surface with low resistance values assigned to landscape features facilitating movement, and high resistances assigned to movement barriers. Current flow can then be calculated between pairs of nodes (representing habitat patches or populations) and can be related to the probability of animal movement across the landscape. In contrast with Least-cost path analysis, the other popular connectivity modelling approach, circuit theory simultaneously considers all possible pathways and does not assume that the animals have perfect knowledge of the landscape.

**Connectivity**: The degree of movement of organisms or processes. The more movement, the more connectivity, and conversely, the less movement, the less connectivity.

**Deleterious alleles**: Alleles reducing the viability and fitness (see **fitness**) of individuals when homozygous.

**False alarm rate**: Proportion of false detections. Calculated as the ratio between the number of false detections (in this thesis, aerial observations not aligning with nests found from the ground) to the total number of detections (here aerial observations).

**Fitness:** The relative ability of an individual to survive and reproduce compared with other.

**Fixation index (F-statistics)**: Provides an estimate of the genetic differentiation between subpopulations. Fst ranges from 0 (no differentiation between subpopulation) to 1 (fixation of different alleles in subpopulation).

**Fixed-wing drone:** Drone with a rigid structure which generates lift under the wing due to forward airspeed.

**Genetic drift**: Changes in the genetic composition of a population due to random sampling in finite populations

**Georeferencing**: The inclusion of geographic coordinates in a digital map or aerial photo of an area. A georeferenced digital map or image has been tied to a known Earth coordinate system, so users can determine where every point on the map or aerial photo is located on the Earth's surface.

Geotagging: process of adding a geographical location to a media.

**Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS):** Constellation of satellites providing signals from space that transmit positioning and timing data to GNSS receivers.

**Ground Control Points (GCP):** Ground control points are large marked targets on the ground, spaced strategically throughout the area of interest, with known spatial coordinates. These points are used to accurately georeferenced and calibrate images.

Ground Sampling Area (GSA): The area on the ground covered by one aerial image.

**Ground Sampling Distance (GSD):** The length on the ground corresponding to the side of one pixel in an aerial image.

**Haplotype diversity (h):** A measure of genetic diversity, represents the probability that two randomly sampled alleles are different

**Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE):** The equilibrium genotype frequencies achieved in a random mating population with no perturbating forces from mutation, migration, selection or chance.

**Inbreeding coefficient (F**<sub>IS</sub>): Measures the degree of inbreeding within individuals relative to the rest of their subpopulation. Positive Fis values indicate that individuals in a population are more related than you would expect under a model of random mating.

**Inbreeding depression**: A reduction in the fitness of offspring that result from matings between close relatives.

Inbreeding: Mating between closely related individuals

**least-cost path analysis:** Identify the path with the least accumulated resistance between two locations across a resistance surface (see **resistance surface**). In contrast with circuit theory which take into consideration all possible routes, least-cost path analysis assume that individuals have perfect knowledge of the landscape and select a single optimal route which is only one cell wide. Least-cost models can therefore better identify long-distance movement which are passed down through generation.

**Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR):** Active remote sensing system that uses light in the form of a pulsed laser to measure ranges (variable distances) to the Earth. These light pulses—combined with other data recorded by the airborne system — generate precise, three-dimensional information about the shape of the Earth and its surface characteristics.

**Lineage sorting**: Fixation of different alleles (or haplotypes) in different lineages (populations or species reproductively isolated from one another).

**Linkage disequilibrium (LD):** Non-random association of alleles at two or more loci. These alleles tend to be inherited together significantly more than expected by random mating.

**Mean pairwise sequence difference (MPD):** The mean number of loci for which two haplotypes are different.

**Microsatellite:** A stretch of DNA that consists of a short tandem sequence of up to five base pairs that is repeated multiple times (typically showing variable number of repeats).

**Minisatellite**: Repetitive DNA sequences that are each 10-100 bases long and are dispersed throughout the genome.

**Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA):** The circular DNA molecule of the mitochondrion. Haploid (contains only one set of chromosomes) and generally passed on only from mother to offspring.

**Multirotor drones:** Drones with rotary wings or rotor blades, which generate lift by rotating around a vertical mast.

**Nucleotide diversity** ( $\pi$ ): A measure of genetic diversity at the nucleotide level. Quantifies the mean sequence divergence among several haplotypes by factoring in both the frequencies and the pairwise divergences of different sequences.

**Null alleles**: Alleles that fail to amplify during a PCR reaction. Microsatellite null alleles can lead to the erroneous identification of homozygotes.

**Orthomosaics**: A mosaic of orthorectified images. Orthorectifying imagery is the process of aligning the images that have been captured usually using photogrammetry techniques and processing them so that the geometric angles are aligned correctly creating a geometrically correct map with a uniform scale.

**Permeability:** The degree to which a landscape feature or a habitat location facilitate animal movement (inverse of **resistance**).

**Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD)**: Dominant molecular marker that generates multiple DNA fragments through the random PCR amplification of multiple regions of the genome using single arbitrary primers.

**Recall rate**: Proportion of successful detections. Calculated as the ratio between the number of true detections (in this thesis, nests observed from the ground detected during the aerial survey) to the total number of detectable events (nests observed by the ground survey).

Remote sensing platforms: Technologies acquiring information from a distance.

**Resistance surface**: A representation of the landscape in which each location is assigned a resistance value which affect movement through the landscape.

**Resistance:** The degree to which a landscape feature or a habitat location impede animal movement (inverse of **permeability**).

**Sequential Bonferroni correction:** Procedure whereby the significance level of a statistical test is adjusted in order to protect against Type I errors (also called false positives) when multiple comparisons are being made. Bonferroni correction consists in multiplying the significance level by the total number of tests performed. For the sequential version, considered more powerful, the statistical tests are first performed to obtain their "p-values." The tests are then ordered from the one with the smallest p-value to the one with the largest p-value. The test with the lowest probability is tested first with a Bonferroni correction involving all tests. The second test is tested with a Bonferroni correction involving one less test and so on for the remaining tests.

**Single Nucleotide Repeat (SNP):** A variation between two sequences of DNA that is caused by a single nucleotide substitution

Standardized Fst (F'st): Corrected so that it scales 0–1 (Fst divided by Fst max)

**Stuttering**: Artefact seen when amplifying short tandem repeats and typically occurs at one repeat unit shorter in length than the parent allele caused by slippage of the DNA polymerase during DNA synthesis.

**Unmanned Aircraft Vehicles (UAV) or drones:** an aircraft that does not have a human pilot on board but is controlled by someone on the ground.

 $\varphi_{\text{ST}}$ : F<sub>ST</sub> analogous for molecular sequence data - Use information on the allelic content of their haplotypes as well as their frequency.

## Reference

- Abd-Elrahman, A., Pearlstine, L., Percival, F., 2005. Development of Pattern Recognition Algorithm for Automatic Bird Detection from Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Imagery. Surv. L. Inf. Sci. 65, 37–45.
- Akçakaya, H.R., Bennett, E.L., Brooks, T.M., Grace, M.K., Heath, A., Hedges, S., Hilton-Taylor, C., Hoffmann, M., Keith, D.A., Long, B., Mallon, D.P., Meijaard, E., Milner-Gulland, E.J., Rodrigues, A.S.L., Rodriguez, J.P., Stephenson, P.J., Stuart, S.N., Young, R.P., 2018. Quantifying species recovery and conservation success to develop an IUCN Green List of Species. Conserv. Biol. 32, 1128–1138. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13112
- Allouche, O., Tsoar, A., Kadmon, R., 2006. Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: Prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 1223– 1232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01214.x
- Ancrenaz, M., Gimenez, O., Ambu, L., Ancrenaz, K., Andau, P., Goossens, B., Payne, J., Sawang, A., Tuuga, A., Lackman-Ancrenaz, I., 2005. Aerial surveys give new estimates for orangutans in Sabah, Malaysia. PLoS Biol. 3. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0030003
- Anderson, K., Gaston, K.J., 2013. Lightweight unmanned aerial vehicles will revolutionize spatial ecology. Front. Ecol. Environ. 11, 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1890/120150
- Andrew, M.E., Shephard, J.M., 2017. Semi-automated detection of eagle nests: an application of very high-resolution image data and advanced image analyses to wildlife surveys. Remote Sens. Ecol. Conserv. 3, 66–80. https://doi.org/10.1002/rse2.38
- Arandjelovic, M., Vigilant, L., 2018. Non-invasive genetic censusing and monitoring of primate populations. Am. J. Primatol. 80, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22743
- Araújo, M.B., New, M., 2007. Ensemble forecasting of species distributions. Trends Ecol. Evol. 22, 42–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.09.010
- Arnold, T., De Biasio, M., Fritz, A., Leitner, R., 2013. UAV-based measurement of vegetation indices for environmental monitoring, in: Proceedings of the International Conference on Sensing Technology, ICST. pp. 704–707. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICSensT.2013.6727744
- Avise, J.C., 2012. *Molecular markers, natural history and evolution*. Springer Science & Business Media. https://doi.org/10.2307/5656
- Avise, J.C., 1974. Systematic value of electrophoretic data. Syst. Biol. 23, 465–481. https://doi.org/10.1093/sysbio/23.4.465
- Azuma, S., Toyoshima, A., 1961. Progress report of the survey of chimpanzees in their natural habitat, Kabogo Point area, Tanganyika. Primates 3, 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01795096
- Balkenhol, N., Cushman, S., Storfer, A., Waits, L., 2016. *Landscape genetics: concepts, methods, applications.*

- Bandelt, H.-J., Forster, P., Röhl, A., 1999. Median-joining networks for inferring intraspecific phylogenies. Mol. Biol. Evol. 16, 37--48. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a026036
- Barbian, H.J., Connell, A.J., Avitto, A.N., Russell, R.M., Smith, A.G., Gundlapally, M.S., Shazad, A.L., Li, Y., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Wroblewski, E.E., Mjungu, D., Lonsdorf, E. V., Stewart, F.A., Piel, A.K., Pusey, A.E., Sharp, P.M., Hahn, B.H., 2018. CHIIMP: An automated high-throughput microsatellite genotyping platform reveals greater allelic diversity in wild chimpanzees. Ecol. Evol. 8, 7946–7963. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4302
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beier, P., Majka, D.R., Spencer, W.D., 2008. Forks in the road: Choices in procedures for designing wildland linkages. Conserv. Biol. 22, 836–851. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00942.x
- Berni, J.A.J., Zarco-Tejada, P.J., Suárez, L., Fereres, E., 2009. Thermal and narrowband multispectral remote sensing for vegetation monitoring from an unmanned aerial vehicle. Ieee Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. 47, 722–738.
- Bertorelle, G., Bruford, M.W., Hauffe, H.C., Rizzoli, A., Vernesi, C., 2009. Population Genetics for Animal Conservation, Cambridge university press. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.21457
- Bijlsma, R., Loeschcke, V., 2005. Environmental stress, adaptation and evolution: An overview. J. Evol. Biol. 18, 744–749. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2005.00962.x
- Blumstein, D.T., Mennill, D.J., Clemins, P., Girod, L., Yao, K., Patricelli, G., Deppe, J.L., Krakauer, A.H., Clark, C., Cortopassi, K.A., Hanser, S.F., Mccowan, B., Ali, A.M., Kirschel, A.N.G., 2011. Acoustic monitoring in terrestrial environments using microphone arrays: Applications, technological considerations and prospectus. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 758–767. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.01993.x
- Bocedi, G., Palmer, S.C.F., Pe'er, G., Heikkinen, R.K., Matsinos, Y.G., Watts, K., Travis, J.M.J., 2014. RangeShifter: A platform for modelling spatial eco-evolutionary dynamics and species' responses to environmental changes. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 388–396. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12162
- Boesch, C., Boesch-Achermann, H., 2000. *The chimpanzees of the Taï Forest: Behavioural ecology and evolution*. Oxford University Press, USA.
- Bomans, E., Pauw, E. De, Espinosa, E.J., 1981. Soil survey report of mishamo refugee settlement. Report prepared for the Government of the United Republic of Tanzania by The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Bonnin, N., Piel, A.K., Ramirez, M., Li, Y., Loy, D.E., Crystal, P., Hahn, B., Knapp, L.A., Stewart, F.A., 2015. Gene flow and genetic diversity of Tanzania's Greater Mahale Ecosystem chimpanzees. Eur. Fed. Primatol. Rome.
- Bonnin, N., Stewart, F.A., Wich, S.A., Pintea, L., Jantz, S.M., Dickson, R., Bellis, J., Chitayat, A., Ingram, R., Moore, R.J., Piel, A.K., 2020. Modelling landscape

connectivity change for chimpanzee conservation in Tanzania. Biol. Conserv. 252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108816

- Bonnin, N., Van Andel, A., Kerby, J., Piel, A., Pintea, L., Wich, S., 2018. Assessment of Chimpanzee Nest Detectability in Drone-Acquired Images. Drones 2, 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones2020017
- Bowen-jones, E., Pendry, S., 1999. The threat to primates and other mammals from the bushmeat trade in Africa, and how this threat could be diminished. Oryx 33, 233–246.
- Brown, J.L., 2014. SDMtoolbox: A python-based GIS toolkit for landscape genetic, biogeographic and species distribution model analyses. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 694– 700. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12200
- Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., Laake, J.L., Borchers, D.L., Thomas, L., 2001. *Introduction to distance sampling: Estimating abundance of biological populations*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Buisson, L., Thuiller, W., Casajus, N., Lek, S., Grenouillet, G., 2010. Uncertainty in ensemble forecasting of species distribution. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 1145–1157. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02000.x
- Burke, C., Rashman, M.F., Longmore, S.N., McAree, O., Glover-Kapfer, P., Ancrenaz, M., Wich, S.A., 2019. Successful observation of orangutans in the wild with thermalequipped drones. J. Unmanned Veh. Syst. 7, 235–257. https://doi.org/10.1139/juvs-2018-0035
- Campbell, G., Kuehl, H., N'Goran Kouamé, P., Boesch, C., 2008. Alarming decline of West African chimpanzees in Côte d'Ivoire. Curr. Biol. 18, 903–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.08.015
- Chabot, D., Bird, D.M., 2015. Wildlife research and management methods in the 21st century: Where do unmanned aircraft fit in? J. Unmanned Veh. Syst. 3, 137–155. https://doi.org/10.1139/juvs-2015-0021
- Chabot, D., Bird, D.M., 2012. Evaluation of an off-the-shelf Unmanned Aircraft System for Surveying Flocks of Geese. Waterbirds 35, 170–174. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.035.0119
- Chabot, D., Carignan, V., Bird, D.M., 2014. Measuring habitat quality for least bitterns in a created wetland with use of a small unmanned aircraft. Wetlands 34, 527–533. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13157-014-0518-1
- Chen, T., Guestrin, C., 2016. XGBoost: A scalable tree boosting system. Proc. ACM SIGKDD Int. Conf. Knowl. Discov. Data Min. 13-17-Augu, 785–794. https://doi.org/10.1145/2939672.2939785
- Cheng, L., Connor, T.R., Sirén, J., Aanensen, D.M., Corander, J., 2013. Hierarchical and spatially explicit clustering of DNA sequences with BAPS software. Mol. Biol. Evol. 30, 1224–1228. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/mst028
- Chitayat, A.B., Wich, S.A., Lewis, M., Stewart, F.A., Piel, A.K., 2021. Ecological correlates of chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) density in Mahale Mountains

National Park, Tanzania. PLoS One 16, e0246628.

- Cibot, M., Bortolamiol, S., Seguya, A., Krief, S., 2015. Chimpanzees facing a dangerous situation: A high-traffic asphalted road in the Sebitoli area of Kibale National Park, Uganda. Am. J. Primatol. 77, 890–900. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22417
- Corander, J., Waldmann, P., Sillanpää, M.J., 2003. Bayesian analysis of genetic differentiation between populations. Genetics 163, 367–374. https://doi.org/10.5735/086.046.0103
- Correa Ayram, C.A., Mendoza, M.E., Etter, A., Salicrup, D.R.P., 2016. Habitat connectivity in biodiversity conservation: A review of recent studies and applications. Prog. Phys. Geogr. 40, 7–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309133315598713
- Crawley, M.J., 2012. The R Book. John Wiley & Sons.
- Crooks, K., Sanjayan, M., 2006. Connectivity Conservation: maintaining connection for nature, in: Connectivity Conservation. Cambridge University Press, New York, pp. 1–19.
- Crunchant, A.S., Borchers, D., Kühl, H., Piel, A., 2020. Listening and watching: Do camera traps or acoustic sensors more efficiently detect wild chimpanzees in an open habitat? Methods Ecol. Evol. 11, 542–552. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13362
- D'Elia, J., Brandt, J., Burnett, L.J., Haig, S.M., Hollenbeck, J., Kirkland, S., Marcot, B.G., Punzalan, A., West, C.J., Williams-Claussen, T., Wolstenholme, R., Young, R., 2019. Applying circuit theory and landscape linkage maps to reintroduction planning for California Condors. PLoS One 14, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0226491
- Davenport, T.R.B., Mpunga, N.E., Phillipps, G.P., Machaga, S.J., Luca, D.W. De, Kibure, O., Abeid, Y., 2010. The conservation status of the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii in ' Southern Tanganyika ' 2005 2009. Unpublished report.
- De Biasio, M., Arnold, T., Leitner, R., McGunnigle, G., Meester, R., 2010. UAV-based Environmental Monitoring using Multi-spectral Imaging 766811-766811–7. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.864470
- Defries, R., Hansen, A., Newton, A.C., Hansen, M.C., 2005. Increasing Isolation of Protected Areas in Tropical Forests over the past Twenty Years. Ecol. Appl. 15, 19–26.
- DeSalle, R., 2005. Genetics at the brink of extinction. Heredity (Edinb). 94, 386–387. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.hdy.6800641
- DeSalle, R., Amato, G., 2004. The expansion of conservation genetics. Nat. Rev. Genet. 5, 702–712. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1425
- Descamps, S., Béchet, A., Descombes, X., Arnaud, A., Zerubia, J., 2011. An automatic counter for aerial images of aggregations of large birds. Bird Study 58, 302–308. https://doi.org/10.1080/00063657.2011.588195
- Dickson, B.G., Albano, C.M., Anantharaman, R., Beier, P., Fargione, J., Graves, T.A., Gray, M.E., Hall, K.R., Lawler, J.J., Leonard, P.B., Littlefield, C.E., McClure, M.L., Novembre, J., Schloss, C.A., Schumaker, N.H., Shah, V.B., Theobald, D.M., 2018.
  Circuit-theory applications to connectivity science and conservation. Conserv. Biol.

33, 239-249. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13230

- Dimiceli, C., Carroll, M., Sohlberg, R., Kim, D.H., Kelly, M., Townshend, J.R.G., 2015. MOD44B MODIS/Terra Vegetation Continuous Fields Yearly L3 Global 250m SIN Grid V006 [Data set].
- Doran, D., 1997. Influence of seasonality on activity patterns, feeding behavior, ranging, and grouping patterns in Taï chimpanzees. Int. J. Primatol. 18, 183–206. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1026368518431
- Du, T., Schulz, A., Csail, M., Zhu, B., Bickel, B., Matusik, W., 2016. Computational Multicopter Design. ACM Trans. Graph. 35. https://doi.org/10.1145/2980179.2982427
- Dubayah, R., Blair, J.B., Goetz, S., Fatoyinbo, L., Hansen, M., Healey, S., Hofton, M., Hurtt, G., Kellner, J., Luthcke, S., Armston, J., Tang, H., Duncanson, L., Hancock, S., Jantz, P., Marselis, S., Patterson, P.L., Qi, W., Silva, C., 2020. The Global Ecosystem Dynamics Investigation: High-resolution laser ranging of the Earth's forests and topography. Sci. Remote Sens. 1, 100002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srs.2020.100002
- Duffy, J.P., Anderson, K., 2016. A 21st-century renaissance of kites as platforms for proximal sensing. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309133316641810
- Dulava, S., Bean, W.T., Richmond, O.M.W., 2015. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEWS AND CASE STUDIES: Applications of Unmanned Aircraft Systems (UAS) for Waterbird Surveys. Environ. Pract. 17, 201–210. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1466046615000186
- Elith, J., Graham, C.H., 2009. Do they? How do they? WHY do they differ? on finding reasons for differing performances of species distribution models. Ecography (Cop.). 32, 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2008.05505.x
- Elith, J.H., Graham, C.P., Anderson, R., Dudík, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., ... & Li, J., 2006. Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. Ecography (Cop.). 29, 129–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1987.tb13499.x
- Eriksson, J., Hohmann, G., Boesch, C., Vigilant, L., 2004. Rivers influence the population genetic structure of bonobos (Pan paniscus). Mol. Ecol. 13, 3425–3435. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02332.x
- Ersoy, E., Jorgensen, A., Warren, P.H., 2019. Identifying multispecies connectivity corridors and the spatial pattern of the landscape. Urban For. Urban Green. 40, 308– 322. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.08.001
- Estrada, A., Garber, P.A., Roos, C., Rylands, A.B., Fernandez-Duque, E., Fiore, A. Di, Nekaris, K.A.-I., Nijman, V., W., E., Heymann, Lambert, J.E., Rovero, F., Barelli, C., Setchell, J.M., Mittermeier, T.R.G.R.A., Luis Verde Arregoitia Miguel de Guinea, Gouveia, S., Dobrovolski, R., Shanee, S., Shanee, N., Boyle, S.A., Agustin Fuentes Katherine C. MacKinnon, K.R.A.A.L.S.M., Wich, S.A., Sussman, R.W., Pan, R., Kone, I., Li, B., 2017. Impending extinction crisis of the world's primates: why primates matter. Sci. Adv. 3, e1600946. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600946
- Evanno, G., Regnaut, S., Goudet, J., 2005. Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: A simulation study. Mol. Ecol. 14, 2611–2620. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02553.x

- Excoffier, L., Lischer, H.E.L., 2010. Arlequin suite ver 3.5: A new series of programs to perform population genetics analyses under Linux and Windows. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 10, 564–567. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2010.02847.x
- Excoffier, L., Smouse, P.E., Quattro, J.M., 1992. Analysis of Molecular Variance Inferred From Metric Distances Among DNA Haplotypes: Application to Human Mitochondrial DNA Restriction Data. Genetics 131, 479–491. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps198283
- Fabrizio, M., Di Febbraro, M., D'Amico, M., Frate, L., Roscioni, F., Loy, A., 2019. Habitat suitability vs landscape connectivity determining roadkill risk at a regional scale: a case study on European badger (Meles meles). Eur. J. Wildl. Res. 65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-018-1241-7
- Fitzgerald, M., Coulson, R., Lawing, A.M., Matsuzawa, T., Koops, K., 2018. Modeling habitat suitability for chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes verus) in the Greater Nimba Landscape, Guinea, West Africa. Primates 59, 361–375. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-018-0657-8
- Foerster, S., Zhong, Y., Pintea, L., Murray, C.M., Wilson, M.L., Mjungu, D.C., Pusey, A.E., 2016. Feeding habitat quality and behavioral trade-offs in chimpanzees: A case for species distribution models. Behav. Ecol. 27, 1004–1016. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/arw004
- Francis, R.M., 2017. pophelper: an R package and web app to analyse and visualize population structure. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 17, 27–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12509

Frankel, O.H., Soulé, M.E., 1981. Conservation and evolution. Cambridge: UniversityPress.

- Frankham, R., 2015. Genetic rescue of small inbred populations: meta-analysis reveals large and consistent benefits of gene flow. Mol. Ecol. 24, 2610–2618. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13139
- Frankham, R., 2005. Genetics and extinction. Biol. Conserv. 126, 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.05.002
- Frankham, R., Ballou, J.D., Briscoe, D.A., 2011. *Introduction to conservation genetics, 2nd edn*. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Frankham, R., Ballou, J.D., Briscoe, D.A., 2004. A Primer of Conservation Genetics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605305000487
- Frankham, R., Ballou, J.D., Briscoe, D.A., McInnes, K.H., 2002. Introduction to Conservation Genetics, Introduction to Conservation Genetics. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511808999
- Fraser, D.J., Bernatchez, L., 2001. Adaptive evolutionary conservation: Towards a unified concept for defining conservation units. Mol. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.2001.t01-1-01411.x

Freeman, B., Roehrdanz, P.R., Peterson, A.T., 2019. Modeling endangered mammal

species distributions and forest connectivity across the humid Upper Guinea lowland rainforest of West Africa. Biodivers. Conserv. 28, 671–685. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-018-01684-6

- Fretwell, P.T., LaRue, M.A., Morin, P., Kooyman, G.L., Wienecke, B., Ratcliffe, N., Fox, A.J., Fleming, A.H., Porter, C., Trathan, P.N., 2012. An emperor penguin population estimate: The first global, synoptic survey of a species from space. PLoS One 7. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033751
- Gang, H.E., Yang, H., Pan, R., Sun, Y., Zheng, P., Wang, J., Jin, X., Zhang, J., Baoguo, L.I., Guo, S., 2020. Using unmanned aerial vehicles with thermal-image acquisition cameras for animal surveys: a case study on the Sichuan snub-nosed monkey in the Qinling Mountains. Integr. Zool. 15, 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/1749-4877.12410
- Gilpin, M.E., Soulé, M.E., 1986. Minimal viable populations: processes of species extinction, in: Conservation Biology: The Science of Scarcity and Diversity. pp. 19–34.
- Gini, R., Passoni, D., Pinto, L., Sona, G., 2014. Use of unmanned aerial systems for multispectral survey and tree classification: A test in a park area of northern Italy. Eur. J. Remote Sens. 47, 251–269. https://doi.org/10.5721/EuJRS20144716
- Gloyne, C.C., Clevenger, A.P., 2001. Cougar Puma concolor use of wildlife crossing structures on the Trans-Canada highway in Banff National Park, Alberta. Wildlife Biol. 7, 117–124. https://doi.org/10.2981/wlb.2001.009
- Goldberg, T., Ruvolo, M., 1997a. Molecular phylogenetics and historical biogeography of east African chimpanzees. Biol. J. Linn. Soc. 61, 301–324. https://doi.org/10.1006/bijl.1996.0132
- Goldberg, T., Ruvolo, M., 1997b. The geographic apportionment of mitochondrial genetic diversity in east African chimpanzees, Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii. Mol. Biol. Evol. 14, 976--984.
- Gonzalez, L.F., Montes, G.A., Puig, E., Johnson, S., Mengersen, K., Gaston, K.J., 2016. Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) and artificial intelligence revolutionizing wildlife monitoring and conservation. Sensors (Switzerland) 16. https://doi.org/10.3390/s16010097
- Goodall, J., 1968. The Behaviour of Free-living Chimpanzees in the Gombe Stream Reserve. Anim. Behav. Monogr. 1, 161–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0066-1856(68)80003-2
- Gooday, O.J., Key, N., Goldstien, S., Zawar-Reza, P., 2018. An assessment of thermalimage acquisition with an Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) for direct counts of coastal marine mammals ashore. J. Unmanned Veh. Syst.
- Goossens, B., Bruford, M.W., 2009. Non-invasive genetic analysis in conservation, in: Population Genetics for Animal Conservation. pp. 167–201.
- Gottelli, D., Sillero-zubiri, C., Applebaum, G.D., Roy, M.S., Girman, D.J., GARCIA-MORENO, J., Ostrander, E.A., Wayne, R.K., 1994. Molecular genetics of the most endangered canid: the Ethiopian wolf Canis simensis. Mol. Ecol. 3, 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.1994.tb00070.x

- Gray, M., Roy, J., Vigilant, L., Fawcett, K., Basabose, A., Cranfield, M., Uwingeli, P., Mburanumwe, I., Kagoda, E., Robbins, M.M., 2013. Genetic census reveals increased but uneven growth of a critically endangered mountain gorilla population. Biol. Conserv. 158, 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.09.018
- Greene, K., Bell, D., Kioko, J., Kiffner, C., 2017. Performance of ground-based and aerial survey methods for monitoring wildlife assemblages in a conservation area of northern Tanzania. Eur. J. Wildl. Res. 63, 77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-017-1133-2

Greenwood, F., 2015. How to make maps with drones. Drones Aer. Obs. 35-47.

- Haddad, N.M., Brudvig, L.A., Clobert, J., Davies, K.F., Gonzalez, A., Holt, R.D., Lovejoy, T.E., Sexton, J.O., Austin, M.P., Collins, C.D., Cook, W.M., Damschen, E.I., Ewers, R.M., Foster, B.L., Jenkins, C.N., King, A.J., Laurance, W.F., Levey, D.J., Margules, C.R., Melbourne, B.A., Nicholls, A.O., Orrock, J.L., Song, D.X., Townshend, J.R., 2015. Habitat fragmentation and its lasting impact on Earth's ecosystems. Sci. Adv. 1, e1500052. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1500052
- Hansen, M.C., DeFries, R.S., Townshend, J.R.G., Sohlberg, R., Dimiceli, C., Carroll, M., 2002. Towards an operational MODIS continuous field of percent tree cover algorithm: Examples using AVHRR and MODIS data. Remote Sens. Environ. 83, 303– 319. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00079-2
- Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P. V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S.A., Tyukavina, A., Thau, D., Stehman, S. V., Goetz, S.J., Loveland, T.R., Kommareddy, A., Egorov, A., Chini, L., Justice, C.O., Townshend, J.R.G., 2013. High-resolution global maps of 21stcentury forest cover change. Science. 342, 850–853. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1244693
- Hansen, M.C., Roy, D.P., Lindquist, E., Adusei, B., Justice, C.O., Altstatt, A., 2008. A method for integrating MODIS and Landsat data for systematic monitoring of forest cover and change in the Congo Basin. Remote Sens. Environ. 112, 2495–2513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.11.012
- Hansen, M.C., Stehman, S. V., Potapov, P. V., 2010. Quantification of global gross forest cover loss. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, 8650–8655. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0912668107
- Harris, N.L., Brown, S., Hagen, S.C., Saatchi, S.S., Petrova, S., Salas, W., Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P. V., Lotsch, A., 2012. Baseline map of carbon emissions from deforestation in tropical regions. Science. 336, 1573–1576. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1217962
- Hasegawa, T., 1990. Sex differences in ranging patterns, in: The Chimpanzees of the Mahale Mountains: Sexual and Life History Strategies. pp. 99–114.
- Heinicke, S., Mundry, R., Boesch, C., Amarasekaran, B., Barrie, A., Brncic, T., Brugière, D., Campbell, G., Carvalho, J., Danquah, E., Dowd, D., Eshuis, H., Fleury-Brugière, M.C., Gamys, J., Ganas, J., Gatti, S., Ginn, L., Goedmakers, A., Granier, N., Herbinger, I., Hillers, A., Jones, S., Junker, J., Kouakou, C.Y., Lapeyre, V., Leinert, V., Marrocoli, S., Molokwu-Odozi, M., N'Goran, P.K., Normand, E., Pacheco, L., Regnaut, S., Sop, T., Ton, E., Schijndel, J. van, Vendras, E., Vergnes, V., Welsh, A., Wessling, E.G., Kühl,

H.S., 2019. Characteristics of positive deviants in western Chimpanzee populations. Front. Ecol. Evol. 7, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00016

- Hendricks, S., Navarro, A.Y., Wang, T., Wilder, A., Ryder, O.A., Shier, D.M., 2020. Patterns of genetic partitioning and gene flow in the endangered San Bernardino kangaroo rat (Dipodomys merriami parvus) and implications for conservation management. Conserv. Genet. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-020-01289-z
- Hernandez-Aguilar, R.A., 2009. Chimpanzee nest distribution and site reuse in a dry habitat: implications for early hominin ranging. J. Hum. Evol. 57, 350–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2009.03.007
- Hernandez-Aguilar, R.A., 2006. Ecology & Nesting Patterns of Chimpanzees (Pan Troglodytes) in Issa, Ugalla, Western Tanzania. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Southern California.
- Hicks, T.C., 2010. A chimpanzee Mega-Culture? Exploring behavioral continuity in Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii across northern DR Congo. PhD Thesis, University of Amsterdam.
- Hicks, T.C., Tranquilli, S., Kuehl, H., Campbell, G., Swinkels, J., Darby, L., Boesch, C., Hart, J., Menken, S.B.J., 2014. Absence of evidence is not evidence of absence: Discovery of a large, continuous population of Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii in the Central Uele region of northern DRC. Biol. Conserv. 171, 107–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.01.002
- Hockings, K.J., Anderson, J.R., Matsuzawa, T., 2006. Road crossing in chimpanzees: A risky business. Curr. Biol. 16, 668–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.08.019
- Hodgson, A., Peel, D., Kelly, N., 2017. Unmanned aerial vehicles for surveying marine fauna: Assessing detection probability. Ecol. Appl. 27, 1253–1267. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1519
- Hodgson, A.J., Kelly, N., Peel, D., 2013. Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs) for surveying Marine Fauna: A dugong case study. PLoS One 8, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079556
- Hodgson, J.C., Mott, R., Baylis, S.M., Pham, T.T., Wotherspoon, S., Kilpatrick, A.D., Segaran, R.R., Reid, I., Terauds, A., Koh, L.P., 2018. Drones count wildlife more accurately and precisely than humans. Methods Ecol Evol 1, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12974
- Humle, T., Maisels, F., Oates, J.F., Plumptre, A., Williamson, E.A., 2016. Pan troglodytes (errata version published in 2018). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T15933A129038584. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2016-2.RLTS.T15933A17964454.en
- Hurt, C., Kuhajda, B., Harman, A., Ellis, N., Nalan, M., 2017. Genetic diversity and population structure in the Barrens Topminnow (Fundulus julisia): implications for conservation and management of a critically endangered species. Conserv. Genet. 18, 1347–1358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-017-0984-0
- Inoue, E., Tashiro, Y., Ogawa, H., Inoue-Murayama, M., Nishida, T., Takenaka, O., 2011.

Gene flow and genetic diversity of chimpanzees in Tanzanian habitats. Primate Conserv. 26, 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1896/052.026.0105

- IUCN, 2020. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2020-2.
- IUCN, UNEP-WCMC, 2018. The World Database on Protected Areas (WDPA). Cambridge, UK UNEP-WCMC.
- Jachmann, H., 2002. Comparison of aerial counts with ground counts for large African herbivores. J. Appl. Ecol. 39, 841–852. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2002.00752.x
- Jambiya, G., Milledge, S., Mtango, N., 2007. "Night time spinach" Conservation and livelihood implications of wild meat use in refugee situations in north-western Tanzania. Report published by TRAFFIC East/Southern Africa.
- Jantz, S., Pintea, L., Nackoney, J., Hansen, M., 2016. Landsat ETM+ and SRTM Data Provide Near Real-Time Monitoring of Chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes) Habitats in Africa. Remote Sens. 8, 427. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8050427
- Jombart, T., 2008. Adegenet: A R package for the multivariate analysis of genetic markers. Bioinformatics 24, 1403–1405. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btn129
- Jump, A.S., Marchant, R., Peñuelas, J., 2009. Environmental change and the option value of genetic diversity. Trends Plant Sci. 14, 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2008.10.002
- Junker, J., Blake, S., Boesch, C., Campbell, G., Toit, L. du, Duvall, C., Ekobo, A., Etoga, G., Galat-Luong, A., Gamys, J., Ganas-Swaray, J., Gatti, S., Ghiurghi, A., Granier, N., Hart, J., Head, J., Herbinger, I., Hicks, T.C., Huijbregts, B., Imong, I.S., Kuempel, N., Lahm, S., Lindsell, J., Maisels, F., McLennan, M., Martinez, L., Morgan, B., Morgan, D., Mulindahabi, F., Mundry, R., N'Goran, K.P., Normand, E., Ntongho, A., Okon, D.T., Petre, C.A., Plumptre, A.J., Rainey, H., Regnaut, S., Sanz, C., Stokes, E., Tondossama, A., Tranquilli, S., Sunderland-Groves, J., Walsh, P., Warren, Y., Williamson, E.A., Kuehl, H.S., 2012. Recent decline in suitable environmental conditions for African great apes. Divers. Distrib. 18, 1077–1091. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12005
- Kalan, A.K., Kulik, L., Arandjelovic, M., Boesch, C., Haas, F., Dieguez, P., Barratt, C.D., Abwe, E.E., Agbor, A., Angedakin, S., Aubert, F., Ayimisin, E.A., Bailey, E., Bessone, M., Brazzola, G., Buh, V.E., Chancellor, R., Cohen, H., Coupland, C., Curran, B., Danquah, E., Deschner, T., Dowd, D., Eno-Nku, M., Michael Fay, J., Goedmakers, A., Granjon, A.C., Head, J., Hedwig, D., Hermans, V., Jeffery, K.J., Jones, S., Junker, J., Kadam, P., Kambi, M., Kienast, I., Kujirakwinja, D., Langergraber, K.E., Lapuente, J., Larson, B., Lee, K.C., Leinert, V., Llana, M., Marrocoli, S., Meier, A.C., Morgan, B., Morgan, D., Neil, E., Nicholl, S., Normand, E., Ormsby, L.J., Pacheco, L., Piel, A., Preece, J., Robbins, M.M., Rundus, A., Sanz, C., Sommer, V., Stewart, F., Tagg, N., Tennie, C., Vergnes, V., Welsh, A., Wessling, E.G., Willie, J., Wittig, R.M., Yuh, Y.G., Zuberbühler, K., Kühl, H.S., 2020. Environmental variability supports chimpanzee behavioural diversity. Nat. Commun. 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18176-3
- Kalinowski, S.T., Taper, M.L., Marshall, T.C., 2007. Revising how the computer program CERVUS accommodates genotyping error increases success in paternity assignment.

Mol. Ecol. 16, 1099-1106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03089.x

- Kano, T., 1972. Distribution and adaptation of the chimpanzee on the eastern shore of Lake Tanganyika. Kyoto Univ. African Stud. 7, 37–129.
- Kano, T., 1971. Distribution of the primates on the eastern shore of Lake Tanganyika. Primates 12, 281–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01730416
- Kano, T., Ogawa, H., Asato, R., Kanamori, M., 1999. Distribution and density of wild chimpanzees on the northern bank of the Malagarasi river, Tanzania. Primate Res. 15, 153--162.
- Kays, R., Sheppard, J., Mclean, K., Welch, C., Paunescu, C., Wang, V., Kravit, G., Crofoot, M., 2018. Hot monkey, cold reality: surveying rainforest canopy mammals using drone-mounted thermal infrared sensors. Int. J. Remote Sens. 40, 407–419. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2018.1523580
- Keele, B.F., Jones, J.H., Terio, K.A., Estes, J.D., Rudicell, R.S., Wilson, M.L., Li, Y., Learn, G.H., Beasley, T.M., Schumacher-Stankey, J., Wroblewski, E.E., Mosser, A., Raphael, J., Kamenya, S., Lonsdorf, E. V., Travis, D.A., Mlengeya, T., Kinsel, M.J., Else, J.G., Silvestri, G., Goodall, J., Sharp, P.M., Shaw, G.M., Pusey, A.E., Hahn, B.H., 2009. Increased mortality and AIDS-like immunopathology in wild chimpanzees infected with SIVcpz. Nature 460, 515–519. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08200
- Keele, B.F., Van Heuverswyn, F., Li, Y., Bailes, E., Takehisa, J., Santiago, M.L., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Chen, Y., Wain, L. V., Liegeois, F., Loul, S., Ngole, E.M., Bienvenue, Y., Delaporte, E., Brookfield, J.F.Y., Sharp, P.M., Shaw, G.M., Peeters, M., Hahn, B.H., 2006. Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. Science. 313, 523–526. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1126531
- Keeley, A.T.H., Beier, P., Gagnon, J.W., 2016. Estimating landscape resistance from habitat suitability: effects of data source and nonlinearities. Landsc. Ecol. 31, 2151–2162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-016-0387-5
- Keeley, A.T.H., Beier, P., Keeley, B.W., Fagan, M.E., 2017. Habitat suitability is a poor proxy for landscape connectivity during dispersal and mating movements. Landsc. Urban Plan. 161, 90–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2017.01.007
- Keenan, K., Mcginnity, P., Cross, T.F., Crozier, W.W., Prodöhl, P.A., 2013. DiveRsity: An R package for the estimation and exploration of population genetics parameters and their associated errors. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 782–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12067
- Kidney, D., Rawson, B.M., Borchers, D.L., Stevenson, B.C., Marques, T.A., Thomas, L., 2016. An efficient acoustic density estimation method with human detectors applied to gibbons in Cambodia. PLoS One 11, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155066
- Kinnaird, M.F., Sanderson, E.W., O'Brien, T.G., Wibisono, H.T., Woolmer, G., 2003. Deforestation Trends in a Tropical Landscape and Implications for Endangered Large Mammals. Conserv. Biol. 17, 245–257. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2003.02040.x

- Kirkman, S.P., Yemane, D., Oosthuizen, W.H., Meÿer, M.A., Kotze, P.G.H., Skrypzeck, H., Vaz Velho, F., Underhill, L.G., 2013. Spatio-temporal shifts of the dynamic Cape fur seal population in Southern Africa, based on aerial censuses (1972-2009). Mar. Mammal Sci. 29, 497–524. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2012.00584.x
- Koen, E.L., Bowman, J., Sadowski, C., Walpole, A.A., 2014. Landscape connectivity for wildlife: Development and validation of multispecies linkage maps. Methods Ecol. Evol. 5, 626–633. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12197
- Koh, L.P., Wich, S.A., 2012a. Dawn of drone ecology: low-cost autonomous aerial vehicles for conservation. Trop. Conserv. Sci. 5, 121–132. https://doi.org/WOS:000310846600002
- Koh, L.P., Wich, S.A., 2012b. Dawn of drone ecology : low-cost autonomous aerial vehicles for conservation. Trop. Conserv. Sci. 5, 121–132. https://doi.org/WOS:000310846600002
- Koski, W.R., Allen, T., Ireland, D., Buck, G., Smith, P.R., Macrender, A.M., Halick, M.A., Rushing, C., Sliwa, D.J., McDonald, T.L., 2009. Evaluation of an unmanned airborne system for monitoring marine mammals. Aquat. Mamm. 35, 347–357. https://doi.org/10.1578/AM.35.3.2009.347
- Koski, W.R., Gamage, G., Davis, A.R., Mathews, T., LeBlanc, B., Ferguson, S.H., 2015. Evaluation of UAS for photographic re-identification of bowhead whales, Balaena mysticetus. J. Unmanned Veh. Syst. 3, 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1139/juvs-2014-0014
- Kouakou, C.Y., Boesch, C., Kuehl, H., 2009. Estimating chimpanzee population size with nest counts: Validating methods in Tai National Park. Am. J. Primatol. 71, 447–457. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.20673
- Kramer-Schadt, S., Niedballa, J., Pilgrim, J.D., Schröder, B., Lindenborn, J., Reinfelder, V., Stillfried, M., Heckmann, I., Scharf, A.K., Augeri, D.M., Cheyne, S.M., Hearn, A.J., Ross, J., Macdonald, D.W., Mathai, J., Eaton, J., Marshall, A.J., Semiadi, G., Rustam, R., Bernard, H., Alfred, R., Samejima, H., Duckworth, J.W., Breitenmoser-Wuersten, C., Belant, J.L., Hofer, H., Wilting, A., 2013. The importance of correcting for sampling bias in MaxEnt species distribution models. Divers. Distrib. 19, 1366–1379. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12096
- Kühl, H., Maisels, F., Ancrenaz, M., Williamson, E.A., 2009. Best Practice Guidelines for Surveys and Monitoring of Great Ape Populations. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN SSC Primate Specialist Group (PSG). 32 pp.
- Kühl, H.S., Boesch, C., Kulik, L., Haas, F., Arandjelovic, M., Dieguez, P., Bocksberger, G., McElreath, M.B., Agbor, A., Angedakin, S., Ayimisin, E.A., Bailey, E., Barubiyo, D., Bessone, M., Brazzola, G., Chancellor, R., Cohen, H., Coupland, C., Danquah, E., Deschner, T., Dowd, D., Dunn, A., Egbe, V.E., Eshuis, H., Goedmakers, A., Granjon, A.C., Head, J., Hedwig, D., Hermans, V., Imong, I., Jeffery, K.J., Jones, S., Junker, J., Kadam, P., Kambere, M., Kambi, M., Kienast, I., Kujirakwinja, D., Langergraber, K.E., Lapuente, J., Larson, B., Lee, K., Leinert, V., Llana, M., Maretti, G., Marrocoli, S., Martin, R., Mbi, T.J., Meier, A.C., Morgan, B., Morgan, D., Mulindahabi, F., Murai, M., Neil, E., Niyigaba, P., Ormsby, L.J., Orume, R., Pacheco, L., Piel, A., Preece, J., Regnaut, S., Rundus, A., Sanz, C., Van Schijndel, J., Sommer, V., Stewart, F., Tagg, N.,

Vendras, E., Vergnes, V., Welsh, A., Wessling, E.G., Willie, J., Wittig, R.M., Yuh, Y.G., Yurkiw, K., Zuberbühler, K., Kalan, A.K., 2019. Human impact erodes chimpanzee behavioral diversity. Science. 363, 1453–1455. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau4532

- Kühl, H.S., Sop, T., Williamson, E.A., Mundry, R., Brugière, D., Campbell, G., Cohen, H., Danquah, E., Ginn, L., Herbinger, I., Jones, S., Junker, J., Kormos, R., Kouakou, C.Y., N'Goran, P.K., Normand, E., Shutt-Phillips, K., Tickle, A., Vendras, E., Welsh, A., Wessling, E.G., Boesch, C., 2017. The Critically Endangered western chimpanzee declines by 80%. Am. J. Primatol. 79. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22681
- Kullander, S.O., Roberts, T.R., 2011. Out of Lake Tanganyika: Endemic Lake fishes inhabit rapids of the Lukuga River. Ichthyol. Explor. Freshwaters 22, 355–376.
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Tamura, K., 2016. MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 7.0 for Bigger Datasets. Mol. Biol. Evol. 33, 1870–1874. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msw054
- Laliberté, J., St-Laurent, M.H., 2020. Validation of functional connectivity modeling: The Achilles' heel of landscape connectivity mapping. Landsc. Urban Plan. 202, 103878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2020.103878
- Lamba, A., Cassey, P., Segaran, R.R., Koh, L.P., 2019. Deep learning for environmental conservation. Curr. Biol. 29, R977–R982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.016
- Landguth, E.L., Cushman, S.A., Schwartz, M.K., McKelvey, K.S., Murphy, M., Luikart, G., 2010. Quantifying the lag time to detect barriers in landscape genetics. Mol. Ecol. 19, 4179–4191. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04808.x
- Langergraber, K.E., Boesch, C., Inoue, E., Inoue-Murayama, M., Mitani, J.C., Nishida, T., Pusey, A., Reynolds, V., Schubert, G., Wrangham, R.W., Wroblewski, E., Vigilant, L., 2011. Genetic and "cultural" similarity in wild chimpanzees. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 278, 408–416. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1112
- Lasch, C., Pintea, L., Traylor-Holzer, K., Kamenya, S., 2011. Tanzania chimpanzee conservation action planning workshop report. Unpublished report.
- Laurance, W.F., Goosem, M., Laurance, S.G.W., 2009. Impacts of roads and linear clearings on tropical forests. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 659–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.06.009
- Lawrence, P.J., Chase, T.N., 2007. Representing a new MODIS consistent land surface in the Community Land Model (CLM 3.0). J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 112. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JG000168
- Leigh, J.W., Bryant, D., 2015. POPART: Full-feature software for haplotype network construction. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6, 1110–1116. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12410
- Lemopoulos, A., Prokkola, J.M., Uusi-Heikkilä, S., Vasemägi, A., Huusko, A., Hyvärinen, P., Koljonen, M.L., Koskiniemi, J., Vainikka, A., 2019. Comparing RADseq and microsatellites for estimating genetic diversity and relatedness — Implications for brown trout conservation. Ecol. Evol. 9, 2106–2120. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4905

- Lewis, S.L., Maslin, M.A., 2015. Defining the Anthropocene. Nature 519, 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14258
- Lewontin, R.C., Hubby, J.L., 1966. A molecular approach to the study of genic heterozygosity in natural populations. II. Amount of variation and degree of heterozygosity in natural populations of Drosophila pseudoobscura. Genetics 54, 595–609.
- Linchant, J., Lhoest, S., Quevauvillers, S., Semeki, J., Lejeune, P., Vermeulen, C., 2015. WIMUAS: Developing a tool to review wildlife data from various UAS flight plans. Int. Arch. Photogramm. Remote Sens. Spat. Inf. Sci. - ISPRS Arch. 40, 379–384. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprsarchives-XL-3-W3-379-2015
- Liu, W., Worobey, M., Li, Y., Keele, B.F., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Guo, Y., Goepfert, P.A., Santiago, M.L., Ndjango, J.B.N., Neel, C., Clifford, S.L., Sanz, C., Kamenya, S., Wilson, M.L., Pusey, A.E., Gross-Camp, N., Boesch, C., Smith, V., Zamma, K., Huffman, M.A., Mitani, J.C., Watts, D.P., Peeters, M., Shaw, G.M., Switzer, W.M., Sharp, P.M., Hahn, B.H., 2008. Molecular ecology and natural history of Simian foamy virus infection in wild-living chimpanzees. PLoS Pathog. 4. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000097
- Liu, Z., Ren, B., Wei, F., Long, Y., Hao, Y., Li, M., 2007. Phylogeography and population structure of the Yunnan snub-nosed monkey (Rhinopithecus bieti) inferred from mitochondrial control region DNA sequence analysis. Mol. Ecol. 16, 3334–3349. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03383.x
- LLC, L.W.M., 2020. Buying Satellite Imagery: Pricing Information for High Resolution Satellite Imagery. Available online http//www.landinfo.com/satellite-imagerypricing.html (accessed 13 Oct. 2020).
- Löffler, E., Margules, C., 1980. Wombats detected from space. Remote Sens. Environ. 9, 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(80)90046-2
- López-Bao, J. V., Rodríguez, A., Palomares, F., 2008. Behavioural response of a trophic specialist, the Iberian lynx, to supplementary food: Patterns of food use and implications for conservation. Biol. Conserv. 141, 1857–1867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.05.002
- Macmillan, N.A., Creelman, C.D., 2005. *Detection theory: A user's guide*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc., Mahwah, New Jersey. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Magnussen, Ø., Hovland, G., Ottestad, M., 2014. Multicopter UAV design optimization. MESA 2014 - 10th IEEE/ASME Int. Conf. Mechatron. Embed. Syst. Appl. Conf. Proc. https://doi.org/10.1109/MESA.2014.6935598
- Maiorano, L., Chiaverini, L., Falco, M., Ciucci, P., 2019. Combining multi-state species distribution models, mortality estimates, and landscape connectivity to model potential species distribution for endangered species in human dominated landscapes. Biol. Conserv. 237, 19–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.06.014
- Martin, S.L., Van Houtan, K.S., Jones, T.T., Aguon, C.F., Gutierrez, J.T., Tibbatts, R.B., Wusstig, S.B., Bass, J.D., 2016. Five Decades of Marine Megafauna Surveys from Micronesia. Front. Mar. Sci. 2, 116. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2015.00116

- Marvin, D.C., Koh, L.P., Lynam, A.J., Wich, S., Davies, A.B., Krishnamurthy, R., Stokes, E., Starkey, R., Asner, G.P., 2016. Integrating technologies for scalable ecology and conservation. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 7, 262–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2016.07.002
- Massawe, E, T., 1992. Assessment of the status of Chimpanzee Populations in Western Tanzania. Afr. Study Monogr.
- Mateo-Sánchez, M.C., Balkenhol, N., Cushman, S., Pérez, T., Domínguez, A., Saura, S., 2015. A comparative framework to infer landscape effects on population genetic structure: are habitat suitability models effective in explaining gene flow? Landsc. Ecol. 30, 1405–1420. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-015-0194-4
- McCall, M., 1985. Environmental and agricultural impacts of Tanzania's villagization programme, in: Population and Development Projects in Africa. Cambridge University Press, pp. 123–140. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511898402
- McCarthy, M.S., Lester, J.D., Howe, E.J., Arandjelovic, M., Stanford, C.B., Vigilant, L., 2015. Genetic censusing identifies an unexpectedly sizeable population of an endangered large mammal in a fragmented forest landscape. BMC Ecol. 15, 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12898-015-0052-x
- McCarthy, M.S., Lester, J.D., Langergraber, K.E., Stanford, C.B., Vigilant, L., 2018. Genetic analysis suggests dispersal among chimpanzees in a fragmented forest landscape in Uganda. Am. J. Primatol. e22902. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22902
- McClure, M.L., Hansen, A.J., Inman, R.M., 2016. Connecting models to movements: testing connectivity model predictions against empirical migration and dispersal data. Landsc. Ecol. 31, 1419–1432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-016-0347-0
- McLennan, M.R., Asiimwe, C., 2016. Cars kill chimpanzees: case report of a wild chimpanzee killed on a road at Bulindi, Uganda. Primates 57, 377–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-016-0528-0
- McLennan, M.R., Hyeroba, D., Asiimwe, C., Reynolds, V., Wallis, J., 2012. Chimpanzees in mantraps: lethal crop protection and conservation in Uganda. Oryx 46, 598–603. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605312000592
- Mcrae, B.H., Dickson, B.G., Keitt, T.H., Shah, V.B., 2008. Using Circuit Theory to Model Connectivity in Ecology, Evolution, and Conservation. Ecology 89, 2712–2724. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1890/07-1861.1
- Meirmans, P.G., Hedrick, P.W., 2011. Assessing population structure: FST and related measures. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 11, 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2010.02927.x
- Mitchell, M.W., Locatelli, S., Ghobrial, L., Pokempner, A.A., Clee, P.R.S., Abwe, E.E., Nicholas, A., Nkembi, L., Anthony, N.M., Morgan, B.J., Fotso, R., Peeters, M., Hahn, B.H., Gonder, M.K., 2015. The population genetics of wild chimpanzees in Cameroon and Nigeria suggests a positive role for selection in the evolution of chimpanzee subspecies. BMC Evol. Biol. 15, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-014-0276-y
- Moore, D.L., Vigilant, L., 2014. A population estimate of chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes

schweinfurthii) in the Ugalla region using standard and spatially explicit genetic capture-recapture methods. Am. J. Primatol. 76, 335–346. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22237

- Moore, J., 1992. "Savanna chimpanzees," in: Nishida, T., McGrew, P., Marler, P., Pickford, M., de Waal, F. (Eds.), Topics in Primatology, Vol.1 Human Origins. University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, pp. 99–118.
- Morin, P.A., Moore, J.J., Chakraborty, R., Jin, L., Goodall, J., Woodruff, D.S., 1994. Kin selection, social structure, gene flow, and the evolution of chimpanzees. Science. 265, 1193–1201. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7915048
- Moritz, C., 1994. Defining ESUs for conservation. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. 9, 373–375.
- Moyer, D., Plumptre, A.J., Pintea, L., Hernandez-Aguilar, A., Moore, J., Stewart, F. a., Davenport, T.R.B., Piel, A.K., Kamenya, S., Mugabe, H., Mpunga, N., Mwangoka, M., 2006. Surveys of Chimpanzees and other Biodiversity in Western Tanzania, Report to the US Fish and Wildlife Service. The Jane Goodall Institute, Wildlife Conservation Society, UCSD.
- Mui, A.B., Caverhill, B., Johnson, B., Fortin, M.J., He, Y., 2017. Using multiple metrics to estimate seasonal landscape connectivity for Blanding's turtles (Emydoidea blandingii) in a fragmented landscape. Landsc. Ecol. 32, 531–546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-016-0456-9
- Mulero-Pázmány, M., Stolper, R., Van Essen, L.D., Negro, J.J., Sassen, T., 2014. Remotely piloted aircraft systems as a rhinoceros anti-poaching tool in Africa. PLoS One 9, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083873
- Mullis, K., Faloona, F., Scharf, S., Saiki, R., Horn, G., Erlich, H., 1986. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. 1986. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 51, 263–273.
- Nakamura, M., Corp, N., Fujimoto, M., Fujita, S., Hanamura, S., Hayaki, H., Hosaka, K., Huffman, M.A., Inaba, A., Inoue, E., Itoh, N., Kutsukake, N., Kiyono-Fuse, M., Kooriyama, T., Marchant, L.F., Matsumoto-Oda, A., Matsusaka, T., McGrew, W.C., Mitani, J.C., Nishie, H., Norikoshi, K., Sakamaki, T., Shimada, M., Turner, L.A., Wakibara, J. V., Zamma, K., 2013. Ranging behavior of Mahale chimpanzees: a 16 year study. Primates 54, 171–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-012-0337-z
- Nakamura, M., Hosaka, K., Itoh, N., Zamma, K., 2015. *Mahale chimpanzees: 50 years of research*. Cambridge University Press.
- NASA, 2020. Landsar science: History. Available online from https//landsat.gsfc.nasa.gov/about/history/ (Accessed 13 Oct. 2020).
- Nichols, J.D., Williams, B.K., 2006. Monitoring for conservation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 21, 668–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.08.007
- Nishida, T., 2011. *Chimpanzees of the Lakeshore: Natural History and Culture at Mahale*. Cambridge University Press.
- Nishida, T., 1989. A note on the chimpanzee ecology of the Ugalla Area, Tanzania.

Primates 30, 129-138. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02381221

- Nishida, T., Wrangham, R.W., Goodall, J., Uehara, S., 1983. Local Differences in Plantfeeding Habits of Chimpanzees between the Mahale Mountains. J. Hum. Evol. 12, 467–480.
- Ogawa, H., 1997. The Discovery of Chimpanzees in the Lwazi River Area, Tanzania: a New Southern Distribution Limit. Pan Africa News 4, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.5134/143352
- Ogawa, H., Idani, G., Moore, J., Pintea, L., Hernandez-Aguilar, A., 2007. Sleeping Parties and nest distribution of chimpanzees in the Savanna woodland, Ugalla, Tanzania. Int. J. Primatol. 28, 1397–1412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10764-007-9210-0
- Ogawa, H., Moore, J., Kamenya, S., 2006a. Chimpanzees in the Ntakata and Kakungu Areas, Tanzania. Primate Conserv. 21, 97–101. https://doi.org/10.1896/0898-6207.21.1.97
- Ogawa, H., Sakamaki, T., Idani, G., 2006b. The Influence of Congolese Refugees on Chimpanzees in the Lilanshimba Area, Tanzania. Pan Africa News 13, 21–22. https://doi.org/10.1159/000336262
- Ogawa, H., Yoshikawa, M., Idani, G., 2013. The Population and Habitat Preferences of Chimpanzees in Non-Protected Areas of Tanzania. Pan Africa News 20, 1–5.
- Ogawa, H., Yoshikawa, M., Mbalamwezi, M., 2011. A Chimpanzee bed found at Tubila , 20 km from Lilanshimba habitat. Pan Africa News 18, 5–6.
- Okello, J.B.A., Wittemyer, G., Rasmussen, H.B., Arctander, P., Nyakaana, S., Douglas-Hamilton, I., Siegismund, H.R., 2008. Effective population size dynamics reveal impacts of historic climatic events and recent anthropogenic pressure in African elephants. Mol. Ecol. 17, 3788–3799. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03871.x
- Oliveira, R., Godinho, R., Randi, E., Alves, P.C., 2008. Hybridization versus conservation: Are domestic cats threatening the genetic integrity of wildcats (Felis silvestris silvestris) in Iberian Peninsula? Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 363, 2953–2961. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0052
- Palminteri, S., Dinerstein, E., Pintea, L., Joshi, A., Fernando, S., Dwinurcahya, A., Wich, S., Stadler, C., 2019. *Deforestation Along Roads : Monitoring Threats to Ape Habitat Introduction*, State of the Apes: Infrastructure development and Ape conservation.
- Patterson, C., Koski, W., Pace, P., Mcluckie, B., Bird, D.M., 2016. Evaluation of an unmanned aircraft system for detecting surrogate caribou targets in Labrador. J. Unmanned Veh. Syst. 4, 53–69.
- Peakall, R., Smouse, P.E., 2012. GenALEx 6.5: Genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research-an update. Bioinformatics 28, 2537–2539. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bts460
- Pearse, A.T., Gerard, P.D., Dinsmore, S.J., Kaminski, R.M., Reinecke, K.J., 2008. Estimation and correction of visibility bias in aerial surveys of wintering ducks. J. Wildl. Manage. 72, 808–813. https://doi.org/10.2193/2007-274

- Piel, A., Strampelli, P., Greathead, E., Hernandez-aguilar, R., Moore, J., Stewart, F.A., 2017. The diet of open-habitat chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) in the Issa valley, western Tanzania. J. Hum. Evol. 112, 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2017.08.016
- Piel, A.K., Cohen, N., Kamenya, S., Ndimuligo, S.A., Pintea, L., Stewart, F.A., 2015a. Population status of chimpanzees in the Masito-Ugalla Ecosystem, Tanzania. Am. J. Primatol. 77, 1027–1035. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22438
- Piel, A.K., Lenoel, A., Johnson, C., Stewart, F.A., 2015b. Deterring poaching in western Tanzania: The presence of wildlife researchers. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 3, 188–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2014.11.014
- Piel, A.K., Stewart, F. a., 2014. Census and conservation status of chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii) across the Greater Mahale Ecosystem. Report submitted to the The Nature Conservancy, USA. 74 p.
- Piel, A.K., Stewart, F. a., Pintea, L., Li, Y., Ramirez, M. a., Loy, D.E., Crystal, P. a., Learn, G.H., Knapp, L. a., Sharp, P.M., Hahn, B.H., 2013. The Malagarasi River Does Not Form an Absolute Barrier to Chimpanzee Movement in Western Tanzania. PLoS One 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058965
- Piel, A.K., Stewart, F.A., 2015. Monitoring of priority areas for chimpanzees across the Greater Mahale Ecosystem: Ntakata, Kalobwe, and Wansisi Forests. Unpublished report.
- Pilot, M., Greco, C., Vonholdt, B.M., Jędrzejewska, B., Randi, E., Jędrzejewski, W., Sidorovich, V.E., Ostrander, E.A., Wayne, R.K., 2014. Genome-wide signatures of population bottlenecks and diversifying selection in European wolves. Heredity (Edinb). 112, 428–442. https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.2013.122
- Pimm, S.L., Jenkins, C.N., Abell, R., Brooks, T.M., Gittleman, J.L., Joppa, L.N., Raven, P.H., Roberts, C.M., Sexton, J.O., 2014. The biodiversity of species and their rates of extinction, distribution, and protection. Science. 344. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1246752
- Pintea, L., 2007. Applying Remote Sensing and Gis for Chimpanzee Habitat change detection ,behaviour and conservation. Ph.D. thesis, University of Minnesota.
- Pintea, L., Plumptre, A.J., 2006. Prediction of suitable habitat for chimpanzees using remote sensing and GIS, in: Surveys of Chimpanzees and Other Biodiversity in Western Tanzania.
- Pintea, L., Pusey, A.E., M.L.Wilson, Gilby, I.C., Collins, D.A., Kamenya, S., Goodall, J., 2011. Long-term ecological changes affecting the chimpanzees of Gombe National Park, Tanzania, in: Long Term Changes in Africa's Rift Valley: Impacts on Biodiversity and Ecosystems. Nova Science Publishers, Inc., pp. 227--247.
- Plumptre, A.J., 2000. Monitoring mammal populations with line transect techniques in African forests. J. Appl. Ecol. 37, 356–368. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2000.00499.x
- Plumptre, A.J., Cox, D., 2006. Counting primates for conservation: Primate surveys in

Uganda. Primates 47, 65-73. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-005-0146-8

- Plumptre, A.J., Rose, R., Nangendo, G., Williamson, E.A., Didier, K., Hart, J., Mulindahabi, F., Hicks, C., Griffin, B., Ogawa, H., Nixon, S., Pintea, L., Vosper, A., McLennan, M., Amsini, F., McNeilage, A., Makana, J.R., Kanamori, M., Hernandez, A., Piel, A.K., Stewart, F. a., Moore, J., Zamma, K., Nakamura, M., Kamenya, S., Idani, G., Sakamaki, T., Yoshikawa, M., Greer, D., Tranquilli, S., Beyers, R., Hashimoto, C., Furuichi, T., Bennett, E., 2010. Eastern Chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii): Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan 2010–2020. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN. 52pp.
- Pollock, K.H., Kendall, W.L., 1987. Visibility bias in aerial surveys: a review of estimation procedures. J. Wildl. Manage. 51, 502--510.
- Potapov, P., Hansen, M.C., Kommareddy, I., Kommareddy, A., Turubanova, S., Pickens, A., Adusei, B., Tyukavina, A., Ying, Q., 2020. Landsat analysis ready data for global land cover and land cover change mapping. Remote Sens. 12. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12030426
- Pritchard, J.K., Stephens, M., Donnelly, P., 2000. Inference of Population Structure Using Multilocus Genotype Data. Genetics 155, 945–959. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-008-9788-0
- Puechmaille, S.J., 2016. The program structure does not reliably recover the correct population structure when sampling is uneven: Subsampling and new estimators alleviate the problem. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 16, 608–627. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12512
- Pusey, A.E., Pintea, L., Wilson, M.L., Kamenya, S., Goodall, J., 2007. The contribution of long-term research at Gombe National Park to chimpanzee conservation. Conserv. Biol. 21, 623–634. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00704.x
- Rayfield, B., Pelletier, D., Dumitru, M., Cardille, J.A., Gonzalez, A., 2016. Multipurpose habitat networks for short-range and long-range connectivity: A new method combining graph and circuit connectivity. Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 222–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12470
- Redmond, I., Goodall, J., 2008. *Primates of the world: the amazing diversity of our closest relatives*. New Holland.
- Rhymer, J.M., Simberloff, D., 1996. Extinction by hybridization and introgression. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 27, 83–109. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.27.1.83
- Roever, C.L., van Aarde, R.J., Leggett, K., 2013. Functional connectivity within conservation networks: Delineating corridors for African elephants. Biol. Conserv. 157, 128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.06.025
- Rose, R.A., Byler, D., Eastman, J.R., Fleishman, E., Geller, G., Goetz, S., Guild, L.,
  Hamilton, H., Hansen, M., Headley, R., Hewson, J., Horning, N., Kaplin, B.A.,
  Laporte, N., Leidner, A., Leimgruber, P., Morisette, J., Musinsky, J., Pintea, L.,
  Prados, A., Radeloff, V.C., Rowen, M., Saatchi, S., Schill, S., Tabor, K., Turner, W.,
  Vodacek, A., Vogelmann, J., Wegmann, M., Wilkie, D., Wilson, C., 2015. Ten ways
  remote sensing can contribute to conservation. Conserv. Biol. 29, 350–359.
https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12397

- Rousset, F., 2008. GENEPOP'007: A complete re-implementation of the GENEPOP software for Windows and Linux. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 8, 103–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2007.01931.x
- Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., 2008. Surveys using camera traps: Are we looking to a brighter future? Anim. Conserv. 11, 185–186. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2008.00180.x
- Rudicell, R.S., Jones, J.H., Wroblewski, E.E., Learn, G.H., Li, Y., Robertson, J.D.,
  Greengrass, E., Grossmann, F., Kamenya, S., Pintea, L., Mjungu, D.C., Lonsdorf, E.
  V., Mosser, A., Lehman, C., Collins, D.A., Keele, B.F., Goodall, J., Hahn, B.H., Pusey,
  A.E., Wilson, M.L., 2010. Impact of simian immunodeficiency virus infection on
  chimpanzee population dynamics. PLoS Pathog. 6, e1001116.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1001116
- Rudicell, R.S., Piel, A.K., Stewart, F., Moore, D.L., Learn, G.H., Li, Y., Takehisa, J., Pintea, L., Shaw, G.M., Moore, J., Sharp, P.M., Hahn, B.H., 2011. High prevalence of simian immunodeficiency virus infection in a community of savanna chimpanzees. J. Virol. 85, 9918–9928. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.05475-11
- Rudnick, D. a, Ryan, S.J., Beier, P., Cushman, S. a, Dieffenbach, F., Epps, C.W., Gerber,
  L.R., Hartter, J., Jenness, J.S., Kintsch, J., Merenlender, A.M., Perkl, R.M., Preziosi, D.
  V, Trombulak, S.C., 2012. The Role of Landscape Connectivity in Planning and
  Implementing Conservation and Restoration Priorities. Issues Ecol.
- Santiago, M.L., Lukasik, M., Kamenya, S., Li, Y., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Bailes, E., Muller, M.N., Emery, M., Goldenberg, D.A., Lwanga, J.S., Ayouba, A., Nerrienet, E., McClure, H.M., Heeney, J.L., Watts, D.P., Pusey, A.E., Collins, D.A., Wrangham, R.W., Goodall, J., Brookfield, J.F.Y., Sharp, P.M., Shaw, G.M., Hahn, B.H., 2003. Foci of Endemic Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Infection in Wild-Living Eastern Chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes schweinfurthii). J. Virol. 77, 7545–7562. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.77.13.7545-7562.2003
- Sasse, D.B., 2003. Job-related mortality of wildlife workers in the United States, 1937-2000. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 31, 1000–1003.
- Schwartz, M.K., Luikart, G., Waples, R.S., 2007. Genetic monitoring as a promising tool for conservation and management. Trends Ecol. Evol. 22, 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.08.009
- Selby, W., Corke, P., Rus, D., 2011. Autonomous Aerial Navigation and Tracking of Marine Animals, in: Australasian Conference on Robotics and Automation. pp. 7–9.
- Sexton, J.O., Song, X.-P., Feng, M., Noojipady, P., Anand, A., Huang, C., Kim, D.-H., Collins, K.M., Channan, S., Dimiceli, C., Townshend, J.R., 2013. Global, 30-m resolution continuous fields of tree cover: Landsat-based rescaling of MODIS Vegetation Continuous Fields with lidar-based estimates of error. Int. J. Digit. Earth 130321031236007. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538947.2013.786146
- Seymour, A.C., Dale, J., Hammill, M., Halpin, P.N., Johnston, D.W., 2017. Automated detection and enumeration of marine wildlife using unmanned aircraft systems (

UAS ) and thermal imagery. Nat. Publ. Gr. 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45127

- Shoch, D., Bradley, A., Dickson, R., Rifkin, B., 2019. CCB & VCS PROJECT DESCRIPTION : Ntakata Mountains REDD Project.
- Silveira, L., Jácomo, a. T. a, Diniz-Filho, J. a F., 2003. Camera trap, line transect census and track surveys: A comparative evaluation. Biol. Conserv. 114, 351–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(03)00063-6
- Solberg, K.H., Bellemain, E., Drageset, O.M., Taberlet, P., Swenson, J.E., 2006. An evaluation of field and non-invasive genetic methods to estimate brown bear (Ursus arctos) population size. Biol. Conserv. 128, 158–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.09.025
- Spaan, D., Burke, C., McAree, O., Aureli, F., Rangel-Rivera, C.E., Hutschenreiter, A., Longmore, S.N., McWhirter, P.R., Wich, S.A., 2019. Thermal infrared imaging from drones offers a major advance for spider monkey surveys. Drones 3, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/drones3020034
- Spehar, S.N., Mathewson, P.D., Nuzuar, Wich, S.A., Marshall, A.J., Kühl, H., Nardiyono, Meijaard, E., 2010. Estimating orangutan densities using the standing crop and marked nest count methods: Lessons learned for conservation. Biotropica 42, 748– 757. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2010.00651.x
- Stevenson-Holt, C.D., Watts, K., Bellamy, C.C., Nevin, O.T., Ramsey, A.D., 2014. Defining landscape resistance values in least-cost connectivity models for the invasive grey squirrel: A comparison of approaches using expert-opinion and habitat suitability modelling. PLoS One 9, e112119. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112119
- Stewart, F.A., 2011. The evolution of shelter: ecology and ethology of chimpanzee nest building. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Cambridge.
- Stewart, F.A., Piel, A.K., McGrew, W.C., 2011. Living archaeology: Artefacts of specific nest site fidelity in wild chimpanzees. J. Hum. Evol. 61, 388–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhevol.2011.05.005
- Stoffel, M.A., Humble, E., Paijmans, A.J., Acevedo-Whitehouse, K., Chilvers, B.L., Dickerson, B., Galimberti, F., Gemmell, N.J., Goldsworthy, S.D., Nichols, H.J., Krüger, O., Negro, S., Osborne, A., Pastor, T., Robertson, B.C., Sanvito, S., Schultz, J.K., Shafer, A.B.A., Wolf, J.B.W., Hoffman, J.I., 2018. Demographic histories and genetic diversity across pinnipeds are shaped by human exploitation, ecology and life-history. Nat. Commun. 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06695-z
- Stokes, E.J., Strindberg, S., Bakabana, P.C., Elkan, P.W., Iyenguet, F.C., Madzoké, B., Malanda, G.A.F., Mowawa, B.S., Moukoumbou, C., Ouakabadio, F.K., Rainey, H.J., 2010. Monitoring Great Ape and Elephant Abundance at Large Spatial Scales: Measuring Effectiveness of a Conservation Landscape. PLoS One 5, e10294. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010294
- Stoner, C., Caro, T., Mduma, S., Mlingwa, C., Sabuni, G., Borner, M., 2007. Assessment of effectiveness of protection strategies in Tanzania based on a decade of survey data for large herbivores. Conserv. Biol. 21, 635–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00705.x

- Strindberg, S., Maisels, F., Williamson, E.A., Blake, S., Stokes, E.J., Aba'a, R., Abitsi, G., Agbor, A., Ambahe, R.D., Bakabana, P.C., Bechem, M., Berlemont, A., Bokoto de Semboli, B., Boundja, P.R., Bout, N., Breuer, T., Campbell, G., De Wachter, P., Ella Akou, M., Esono Mba, F., Feistner, A.T.C., Fosso, B., Fotso, R., Greer, D., Inkamba-Nkulu, C., Iyenguet, C.F., Jeffery, K.J., Kokangoye, M., Kühl, H.S., Latour, S., Madzoke, B., Makoumbou, C., Malanda, G.-A.F., Malonga, R., Mbolo, V., Morgan, D.B., Motsaba, P., Moukala, G., Mowawa, B.S., Murai, M., Ndzai, C., Nishihara, T., Nzooh, Z., Pintea, L., Pokempner, A., Rainey, H.J., Rayden, T., Ruffler, H., Sanz, C.M., Todd, A., Vanleeuwe, H., Vosper, A., Warren, Y., Wilkie, D.S., 2018. Guns, germs, and trees determine density and distribution of gorillas and chimpanzees in Western Equatorial Africa. Sci. Adv. 4, eaar2964. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aar2964
- Sugiura, R., Noguchi, N., Ishii, K., 2005. Remote-sensing technology for vegetation monitoring using an unmanned helicopter. Biosyst. Eng. 90, 369–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2004.12.011
- TAWIRI, 2018. Tanzania Chimpanzee Conservation Action Plan 2018-2023.
- Taylor, P., Fahrig, L., With, K., 2006. Landscape connectivity: A return to the basics, in: Connectivity Conservation. Cambridge University Press, pp. 29--43.
- Taylor, P.D., Fahrig, L., Henein, K., Merriam, G., 1993. Connectivity is a vital element of landscape structure. Oikos 571--573. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2010.0642
- Team, A., 2020. Application for Extracting and Exploring Analysis Ready Samples (AppEEARS).
- Thuiller, W., Georges, D., Engler, R., Breiner, F., 2016. biomod2: Ensemble Platform for Species Distribution Modeling. R package version 3.3-7.
- Toth, C., Jóźków, G., 2016. Remote sensing platforms and sensors: A survey. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens. 115, 22–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2015.10.004
- Trainor, A.M., Walters, J.R., Morris, W.F., Sexton, J., Moody, A., 2013. Empirical estimation of dispersal resistance surfaces: A case study with red-cockaded woodpeckers. Landsc. Ecol. 28, 755–767. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-013-9861-5
- Tranquilli, S., Abedi-Lartey, M., Amsini, F., Arranz, L., Asamoah, A., Babafemi, O., Barakabuye, N., Campbell, G., Chancellor, R., Davenport, T.R., Dunn, A., Dupain, J., Ellis, C., Etoga, G., Furuichi, T., Gatti, S., Ghiurghi, A., Greengrass, E., Hashimoto, C., Hart, J., Herbinger, I., Hicks, T.C., Holbech, L.H., Huijbregts, B., Imong, I., Kumpel, N., Maisels, F., Marshall, P., Nixon, S., Normand, E., Nziguyimpa, L., Nzooh-Dogmo, Z., Okon, D.T., Plumptre, A., Rundus, A., Sunderland-Groves, J., Todd, A., Warren, Y., Mundry, R., Boesch, C., Kuehl, H., 2012. Lack of conservation effort rapidly increases african great ape extinction risk. Conserv. Lett. 5, 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2011.00211.x
- van Andel, A.C., Wich, S.A., Boesch, C., Koh, L.P., Robbins, M.M., Kelly, J., Kuehl, H.S., 2015. Locating chimpanzee nests and identifying fruiting trees with an unmanned aerial vehicle. Am. J. Primatol. 77, 1122–1134. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22446

van Casteren, A., Sellers, W.I., Thorpe, S.K.S., Coward, S., Crompton, R.H., Myatt, J.P.,

Ennos, A.R., 2012. Nest-building orangutans demonstrate engineering know-how to produce safe, comfortable beds. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 6873–6877. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1200902109

- van Leeuwen, K.L., Hill, R.A., Korstjens, A.H., 2020. Classifying Chimpanzee (Pan troglodytes) Landscapes Across Large-Scale Environmental Gradients in Africa. Int. J. Primatol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10764-020-00164-5
- Van Oosterhout, C., Hutchinson, W.F., Wills, D.P.M., Shipley, P., 2004. MICRO-CHECKER: Software for identifying and correcting genotyping errors in microsatellite data. Mol. Ecol. Notes 4, 535–538. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2004.00684.x
- van Schaik, C.P., Wich, S.A., Utami, S.S., Odom, K., 2005. A simple alternative to line transects of nests for estimating orangutan densities. Primates 46, 249–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-005-0134-z
- Vanthomme, H.P.A., Nzamba, B.S., Alonso, A., Todd, A.F., 2019. Empirical selection between least-cost and current-flow designs for establishing wildlife corridors in Gabon. Conserv. Biol. 33, 329–338. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13194
- Vermeulen, C., Lejeune, P., Lisein, J., Sawadogo, P., Bouché, P., 2013. Unmanned Aerial Survey of Elephants. PLoS One 8, e54700. https://doi.org/10.1371/Citation
- Vigilant, L., Guschanski, K., 2009. Using genetics to understand the dynamics of wild primate populations. Primates 50, 105–120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10329-008-0124-z
- Waits, L.P., Luikart, G., Taberlet, P., 2001. Estimating the probability of identity among genotypes in natural populations: Cautions and guidelines. Mol. Ecol. 10, 249–256. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.2001.01185.x
- Walker, K.K., Rudicell, R.S., Li, Y., Hahn, B.H., Wroblewski, E., Pusey, A.E., 2016. Chimpanzees breed with genetically dissimilar mates. R. Soc. Open Sci. 4. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.160422
- Wallace, L., Lucieer, A., Watson, C., Turner, D., 2012. Development of a UAV-LiDAR system with application to forest inventory. Remote Sens. 4, 1519–1543. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs4061519
- Walsh, P.D., Abernethy, K.A., Bermejo, M., Beyers, R., De Wachter, P., Akou, M.E., Huijbregts, B., Mambounga, D.I., Toham, A.K., Kilbourn, A.M., Lahm, S.A., Latour, S., Maisels, F., Mbina, C., Mihindou, Y., Ndong Obiang, S., Effa, E.N., Starkey, M.P., Telfer, P., Thibault, M., Tutin, C.E.G., White, L.J.T., Wilkie, D.S., 2003. Catastrophic ape decline in western equatorial Africa. Nature 422, 611–614. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01566
- Wang, D., Shao, Q., Yue, H., 2019. Surveying wild animals from satellites, manned aircraft and unmanned aerial systems (UASs): A review. Remote Sens. 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11111308
- Wang, J., 2017. The computer program structure for assigning individuals to populations: easy to use but easier to misuse. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 17, 981–990. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12650

- Wang, J., 2011. Coancestry: A program for simulating, estimating and analysing relatedness and inbreeding coefficients. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 11, 141–145. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2010.02885.x
- Wang, J., 2007. Triadic IBD coefficients and applications to estimating pairwise relatedness. Genet. Res. 89, 135–153. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0016672307008798
- Wang, W., Qiao, Y., Li, S., Pan, W., Yao, M., 2017. Low genetic diversity and strong population structure shaped by anthropogenic habitat fragmentation in a critically endangered primate, Trachypithecus leucocephalus. Heredity (Edinb). 118, 542–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.2017.2
- Whitaker, B.E., 2002. Refugees in western Tanzania: The distribution of burdens and benefits among local hosts. J. Refug. Stud. 15, 339–358. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/15.4.339
- Whitaker, B.E., 1999. Changing opportunities: refugees and host communities in western Tanzania. New Issues Refug. Res. 18.
- Wich, S., 2015. Drones and conservation, in: K. Kakaes (Ed.), Drones and Aerial Observation: New Technologies for Property Rights, Human Rights, and Global Development. A Primer. New America. pp. 63–71.
- Wich, S.A., Dellatore, D., Houghton, M., Ardi, R., Koh, L.P., 2015. A preliminary assessment of using conservation drones for Sumatran orang-utan (Pongo abelii) distribution and density. J. Unmanned Veh. Syst. 4, 45–52.
- Wich, S.A., Garcia-Ulloa, J., Kühl, H.S., Humle, T., Lee, J.S.H., Koh, L.P., 2014. Will oil palm's homecoming spell doom for Africa's great apes? Curr. Biol. 24, 1659–1663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.05.077
- Wich, S.A., Koh, L.P., 2018. *Conservation drones: mapping and monitoring biodiversity*. Oxford University Press.
- Wich, S.A., Marshall, A., 2016. *An introduction to primate conservation*. Oxford University Press.
- Wich, S.A., Singleton, I., Nowak, M.G., Utami Atmoko, S.S., Nisam, G., Arif, S.M., Putra, R.H., Ardi, R., Fredriksson, G., Usher, G., Gaveau, D.L. a, Ku hl, H.S., 2016. Landcover changes predict steep declines for the Sumatran orangutan (Pongo abelii). Sci. Adv. 2, e1500789–e1500789. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1500789
- Willmott, C.J., 1982. Some Comments on the Evaluation of Model Performance. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 63, 1309–1313. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0477(1982)063<1309:SCOTEO>2.0.CO;2
- Woll, C., Prakash, A., Sutton, T., 2011. A case-study of in-stream juvenile salmon habitat classification using decision-based fusion of multispectral aerial images. Appl. Remote Sens. 2, 37–46.
- Wrangham, R.W., 1977. Feeding behaviour of chimpanzees in Gombe national park, Tanzania, in: Primate Ecology: Studies of Feeding and Ranging Behaviour in Lemurs, Monkeys and Apes. Academic Press, pp. 504--538.

- Wright, S., 1943. Isolation by distance. Genetics 28, 114. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS.2006.90
- Yang, Z., Wang, T., Skidmore, A.K., De Leeuw, J., Said, M.Y., Freer, J., 2014. Spotting East African mammals in open savannah from space. PLoS One 9, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115989
- Yoshikawa, M., Ogawa, H., Sakamaki, T., Idani, G., 2008. Population density of chimpanzees in Tanzania. Pan Africa News 15, 17–20.
- Young, A., Clarke, G., 2000. Conclusions and future directions: what do we know about the genetic and demographic effects of habitat fragmentation and where do we go from here?, in: Genetics, Demography and Viability of Fragmented Populations.
- Zamma, K., Inoue, E., 2004. On the Chimpanzees of Kakungu , Karobwa and Ntakata. Pan Africa News 10–12.
- Zeller, K.A., Rabinowitz, A., Salom-Perez, R., Quigley, H., 2013. The Jaguar corridor initiative: A range-wide conservation strategy. Mol. Popul. Genet. Evol. Biol. Biol. Conserv. Neotrop. Carniv. 629–657.
- Zhang, H., Wang, C., Turvey, S.T., Sun, Z., Tan, Z., Yang, Q., Long, W., Wu, X., Yang, D., 2020. Thermal infrared imaging from drones can detect individuals and nocturnal behavior of the world's rarest primate. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 23, e01101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2020.e01101
- Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Elphick, C.S., 2010. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. Methods Ecol. Evol. 1, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2009.00001.x